&2 New Forest

DISTRICT COUNCIL

NOTICE OF MEETING

Meeting: CABINET
Date and Time: WEDNESDAY, 3 APRIL 2024 AT 10.00 AM
Place: COUNCIL CHAMBER - APPLETREE COURT, BEAULIEU

ROAD, LYNDHURST, SO43 7PA

Enquiries to: democratic@nfdc.gov.uk
Tel: 023 8028 5071 - Karen Wardle

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION:
Members of the public may watch this meeting live on the Council’s website.

Members of the public may speak in accordance with the Council's public
participation scheme:

(@) onitems within the Cabinet’s terms of reference which are not on the public
agenda; and/or

(b) onindividual items on the public agenda, when the Chairman calls that item.
Speeches may not exceed three minutes.

Anyone wishing to speak should contact the name and number shown above no later
than 12.00 noon on Wednesday, 27 March 2024.

Kate Ryan
Chief Executive

Appletree Court, Lyndhurst, Hampshire. SO43 7PA
www.newforest.gov.uk

This agenda can be viewed online (https://democracy.newforest.qov.uk).

It can also be made available on audio tape, in Braille and large print.

AGENDA

Apologies

1. MINUTES

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 21 February 2024 as a correct
record.

2, DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To note any declarations of interest made by members in connection with an


https://democracy.newforest.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?GL=1&bcr=1
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdemocracy.newforest.gov.uk%2F&data=05%7C01%7C%7Cda8bae757d184b194a9e08dabcb628f4%7C09969afd0c3043739fd3ce5bbbf19141%7C0%7C0%7C638029787794355893%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=pyITIEABv8zOwjB4qtZ8V3vP2XsLS7LRjl2qb%2F8qQYI%3D&reserved=0

agenda item. The nature of the interest must also be specified.

Members are asked to discuss any possible interests with Democratic Services
prior to the meeting.

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
To receive any public participation in accordance with the Council’s public
participation scheme.

UPDATED CORPORATE PLAN 2024-2028 (Pages 3 - 38)

ALLOCATION OF COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) TO LOCAL
INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS (Pages 39 - 48)

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT: PLANNING FOR CLIMATE
CHANGE (Pages 49 - 180)

SOLENT FREEPORT: SECURING A LEGACY FOR THE NEW FOREST
(Pages 181 - 190)

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER (Pages 191 - 208)

To: Councillors Councillors
Jill Cleary (Chairman) Jeremy Heron
Steve Davies (Vice-Chairman) Dan Poole

Geoffrey Blunden Derek Tipp



Agenda ltem 4

CABINET - 3 APRIL 2024 PORTFOLIO: LEADERS / ALL

UPDATED CORPORATE PLAN 2024-28
1. RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1 That Cabinet recommend to Council the approval of the Corporate Plan 2024-2028
in Appendix 1, updated following public consultation; and

1.2 That Cabinet consider any matters arising from the Resources and Transformation
Overview and Scrutiny Panel.

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

2.1 Our draft Corporate Plan was presented to Cabinet on the 6th December 2023. The
draft plan was approved for public consultation which ran from the 6th December
2023 to the 26th January 2024.

2.2 Suggestions, and comments were received over this period and carefully considered
for inclusion in an updated Corporate Plan. This revised Corporate Plan and
associated KPIs (Key Performance Indicators) are now presented for approval.

3. INTRODUCTION & PURPOSE

3.1 Following the 2023 elections, Cabinet considered its strategic plan for the period of
the administration, resulting in the production of a draft Corporate Plan for 2024 to
2028.

3.2 The Corporate Plan is the single most important strategy that shapes the way the
Council works and defines its ambitions. In doing so it brings together strategic and
service objectives, helping the organisation to work towards the same vision, values
and priorities.

3.3 It will be underpinned by a suitable and proportionate performance management
framework that will detail the plan’s priorities and monitor its delivery. This will
include the agreed Key Performance Indicators (KPIs).

3.4 This report presents our revised post-consultation Corporate Plan for approval.

4. DEVELOPMENT APPROACH

4.1 The Corporate Plan reflects the ambitions of the new political administration.

4.2 The plan has been informed by the administration's election manifesto, feedback
from the residents survey, elected members and staff engagement.

4.3 Delivery of the plan over the next four years will be led by the administration, and
supported by actions to address the administration’s commitments and the issues



5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

6.1

6.2

6.3

residents feel are important. Priorities and actions will be clearly communicated to
staff to further support the delivery of the plan.

CORPORATE PLAN 2024-2028

The Corporate Plan focuses on the challenges ahead and it is these that have
shaped the vision and priorities within the plan.

The vision of the plan is to secure a better future by supporting opportunities for the
people and communities we serve, protecting our unique and special place, and
securing a vibrant and prosperous New Forest. This has been organised into the
thematic areas of People, Place and Prosperity.

People Helping people in the greatest need and creating balanced, resilient, and
healthy communities who feel safe and supported with easy access to
services.

Place Delivering growth, opportunity and services that shape our place now
and for future generations, within a unique environmental context, to
ensure we remain a special place to live, work and visit.

Prosperity Promoting a strong local economy that delivers its aspirations through
effective partnerships, attracting investment, and increasing skills and
employment opportunities.

Each theme has a set of priorities with actions and performance measures being
monitored and refreshed annually to ensure delivery of the plan.

Our new set of agreed KPIs are added to the plan. These are measures that align
to the commitments in the Corporate Plan and will form the basis of our quarterly
monitoring. These KPIs will cascade through to services and front-line teams
through our performance management framework.

CONSULTATION

In December 2023, Cabinet approved the draft Corporate Plan for public
consultation. The consultation ran for just over seven weeks from the 6" December
2023 to the 26" January 2024. Feedback was invited over this period from the
public, elected members, staff, businesses and our key partners, using our available
communication channels.

Our consultation was open to all via a feedback form on our consultation page.
Paper copies of the draft plan and feedback forms were made available in our
information Offices.

There were 162 individual consultation responses and respondents were asked to
identify their relationship with the district. Multiple entries were allowed. For
example, several respondents described themselves as a resident of the New



Forest district as well as representing a business, partner, organisation, or
stakeholder in the New Forest district.

- A resident of the New Forest district 149
- A non-resident of the New Forest district 2
- A Councillor for New Forest District Council 4
- A member of New Forest District Council staff 3
- A business, partner, organisation, or stakeholder 13
in the New Forest district
Other 3
Totals 174

*Multiples allowed

6.4 Feedback was sought around the vision and priorities themes with the results as
follows.

75% of respondents agreed with our Vision for the New Forest.

MW Strongly agree M agree M Neither agree nor disagree M disagree M Strongly disagree

Do you agree with this vision for the New Forest
District Council?

»
100% 0% “.‘\ 100%
g

35.2% 40.1% 16.0% 3.7% 4.9%

68% of respondents agreed with our Priority themes

M Strongly agree M Agree M Neither agree nor disagree M Disagree M Strongly disagree

We are focused on the right priorities _-

, A o
100% / 0% | 100%

21.6% 46.3% 16.7% 9.3% 6.2%

6.5 All consultation feedback was considered and used to form the revised Corporate
Plan. Alongside the consultation, work has continued to develop the design, now

incorporated into the updated final draft of the Corporate Plan 2024-2028 being
presented in appendix one.



7.1

7.2

8.1

9.1

10.

10.1

11.

111

12.

12.1

GOVERNANCE AND DELIVERING THE PLAN

The Corporate Plan sits alongside the Council’s financial plans to ensure the
resources are available and appropriately directed to deliver the plan. Its delivery
will be supported by a proportionate performance management framework that will
ensure priorities and necessary actions filter through to portfolio resource planning
and service plans.

Primarily the plan will be communicated and reported upon electronically, as has
been the case with the current plan. This will help keep cost to a minimum as well
as making the plan and its delivery more accessible to those interested in specific
priorities and activities. Dedicated webpages will be developed to support this.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

There are no new resource implications arising from this report. Our Corporate Plan will
shape our commitments and guide the delivery of key services. Our Transformation
Programme, Future New Forest, will, working with the established governance agree
resourcing the programme directly.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

A clear focus of the plan is continued financial responsibility. Direct costs arising
from the production and publicity of the plan are kept to a minimum.

CRIME AND DISORDER & DATA PROTECTION IMPLICATIONS

There are no Crime and Disorder or Data Protection implications arising directly from
this report.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

The Corporate Plan places a great emphasis on our unique District. These commitments
are prominently noted in the introductions from the Leader and Chief Executive — that we
tackle environmental challenges and seek to be environmentally sustainable. It makes
reference to key work programmes within our Place priority so that we consider the social,
environmental, and economic impact of what we do and how we do it. The Corporate Plan
therefore seeks to preserve our unique place.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

Underpinning our delivery is a focus to ensure balance and equity. While we aim to
modernise services, make these digital where possible, we will consider digital inclusion
and accessibility more generally. We want our services to be within reach of those who
need them thus tackling the inequalities in our communities. Additionally, we shall



champion equality in our workplace so that we always operate within an inclusive working
environment.

13. PORTFOLIO HOLDER COMMENTS

13.1 | am very grateful to my fellow Cabinet members, our staff, leadership team, partners and
residents for their contributions towards the development of our new Corporate Plan. The
plan focuses on the challenges we face and sets out our ambitions to respond to these
challenges over the next four years, structured around the themes of People, Place and
Prosperity.

13.2 Consultation feedback has been carefully considered in developing this final draft. An
updated set of measures will ensure we stay on track to deliver the commitments within
the plan.

13.3 | am confident this plan will help us secure a better future for the people we serve, protect
our unique and special place and support a vibrant and prosperous New Forest.

For Further Information Please Contact: Background Papers

Rebecca Drummond Appendix 1 — NFDC Corporate Plan
Assistant Director

Transformation

Tel: 023 8028 5080
E Mail: rebecca.drummond@nfdc.gov.uk

Saqib Yasin

Performance and Insight Manager
Performance

Tel: 023 8028 5495

E Mail: sagib.yasin@nfdc.gov.uk



mailto:rebecca.drummond@nfdc.gov.uk
mailto:saqib.yasin@nfdc.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1

New Forest

DISTRICT COUNCIL

- Corporate plan
2024 to 2028

For people, place, prosperity



QO®@® o heople, place, prosperity

Contents

03

Introduction

06 07

Vision Values

Corporate plan 2024 to 2028

15
Place

Introduction
Priorities
Action plan

09 21
People

Introduction
Priorities

Prosperity

Introduction
Priorities

Action plan

Action plan



QO®@® o heople, place, prosperity Corporate plan 2024 to 2028

Introduction

This corporate plan is the overarching document that sets our delivering value and improving outcomes for our communities
vision, values, priorities, and our commitments. It describes and our unique place.

how our services will work together towards our collective The Council is accountable to our residents and to ensure we
ambitions over the next four years. get this plan right we have drawn on the results of a resident
New Forest District Council works together as one team with insight survey and taken on board contributions from members,
one purpose, serving our residents in the best way that we can, staff and partners.



QO®@® o heople, place, prosperity

Introduction from
Clir Jill Cleary,

Leader of the Council

As Leader I am ambitious for our district
and am delighted to present to you the
New Forest District Council corporate
plan for 2024 to 2028. Thank you

to everyone who has supported the
development of this important document
through taking the time to respond

to our consultation. This insight has
informed our vision and priorities and we
are already working hard to take these
forward with a plan which is a reflection
of our collective aspirations.

The New Forest is a beautiful place
that has a unique offer for residents,
businesses and our many visitors. As a
well-established community leader, the
council has long recognised the strong
heritage and a world-class environment
we operate within, and work to protect
and enhance. Tackling climate and
environmental challenges is key to

Corporate plan 2024 to 2028

ensure that the special nature of the
New Forest can be enjoyed by future
generations.

We also want to support the prosperity
of our residents. We know there are
investment opportunities to come, and

it is important to me that our residents
now and in the future can benefit from
these opportunities. The cost of living
crisis has exacerbated some of the
inequalities within our communities.

We have a plan that focuses on our
people as well as our place and we will
support our communities to feel safe and
supported while being able to take every
opportunity that comes the district’s way.

Together we will navigate the challenges
and seize the opportunities that lie
ahead, ensuring our district remains a
wonderful place to live, work and thrive.

4



QO®@® o heople, place, prosperity

Introduction from
Kate Ryan,

Chief Executive

As chief executive my role is to ensure
the successful implementation of this
plan, working closely with our dedicated
staff and council members to drive the
strategic priorities forward.

The next four years is a critical time for
us to advance the most important issues
concerning our residents. Our focus is on
creating thriving and safe communities
and a strong economy, providing homes,
and supporting the most vulnerable,
responding to the climate and nature
emergency, and delivering excellent
services that are future proof.

Our corporate plan priorities are designed
to tackle these challenges head-on. I
am confident that together with our

Corporate plan 2024 to 2028

residents, business partners, and other
stakeholders, we can achieve our
goals by prioritising people, place, and
prosperity.

At the heart of delivering our priorities is
our staff. We aim to be an employer of
choice and I firmly believe that having
the best staff, who are well-supported,

is key to delivering the best outcomes
for our residents. Building on this, and to
support the delivery of the commitments
within this plan, our transformation
programme will invest in our staff,
develop the skills and infrastructure we
need and modernise our services at pace
to be both financially and environmentally
sustainable for the future.



i

QO®@® o heople, place, prosperity

Our vision

To secure a better future by supporting
opportunities for the people and
communities we serve, protecting our
unique and special place, and securing
a vibrant and prosperous New Forest.

esidents at our Fordingbridge community hub

6




QO®@® o people, place, prosperity

Our values

Our values underpin the
council’s vision and priorities
by shaping our behaviours
and the way we work.

Corporate plan 2024 to 2028

Learning

We learn from what we and others do well and where we need to
improve, we support staff development and organisational growth

Empathy

We will show kindness, actively look to understand people’s different
needs, and ensure our services are responsive.

Ambition

We will be ambitious for our people and our place, embracing innovation
and best practice.

Fairness

We will act fairly, honestly, and openly in all that we do.



QO®@® o heople, place, prosperity Corporate plan 2024 to 2028

Our priority themes

People Prosperity

Underpinned by our Future New Forest transformation programme

Investing in our people and services to meet customer needs, protecting the council’s financial
position, and embedding sustainability through our Future New Forest transformation programme.

Putting our customers at the heart of what we do

Being an employer of choice

Being financially responsible

Designing modern and innovative services



QO®@® o people, place, prosperity Corporate plan 2024 to 2028

Peo

Helping people in the greatest need and creating
balanced, resilient, and healthy communities who
feel safe and supported with easy access to services.

ple.

Image courtesy of New Forest National Park Authority



QO®@® o heople, place, prosperity Corporate plan 2024 to 2028

People priorit

Helping those in our Empowering our residents Meeting housing needs
community with the to live healthy, connected
greatest need and fulfilling lives

gl 48
RETHE -_ ’
| s i
|
" ; —— 1

One of our 5 food larders Comedy night in partnership with Culture in Common One of our housing developments,
Platinum House, Ringwood 10



67

QO®@® o heople, place, prosperity

@ People priorities

Our vision for our people in the district
is one where they feel safe, supported,
and can live healthy independent lives.
We will continue to support our most
vulnerable residents knowing that this
will be most effective when we work with
our partners, including the voluntary
sector and towns and parish councils.

Many of our residents are feeling the
effects of financial hardship and we
recognise that households are finding
it increasingly difficult with the cost

of living, which can disproportionately
affect those with the greatest needs. We
will continue to work with our partners
to develop community hubs, tackle
food poverty, provide warm spaces
and provide advice and information

to support residents within our
communities.

Living in fair and affordable communities
is crucial for our people, and we are
dedicated to enhancing the quality, and

safety compliance of council owned and
privately rented housing and to ensure it
remains accessible for those with lower
incomes. Good quality and safe housing
fosters strong family and community
ties and helps eliminate the inequality
associated with poor housing and
associated poor health outcomes.

Our focus and efforts will persist in
providing affordable housing to our
residents, while simultaneously meeting
compliance with housing and new
consumer standards. In its capacity

as a responsible landlord the council

will address any necessary repairs and
maintenance requirements as soon

as possible and meet new regulatory
requirements. We will also maintain
open communication with our tenants to
better understand their concerns and act
upon them.

The council is the largest provider of
social rented properties in the district,
and so we have a wider responsibility to
ensure housing is delivered that meets
the needs of our community. This will

Corporate plan 2024 to 2028

involve working with landowners and
developers and wider partners to bring
forward sites suitable for housing and to
address associated infrastructure needs.

There are already established community
groups in place, and we will nurture
them to ensure that people can

receive support from those within their
communities, who understand local
issues and can help resolve them, and
which supports a collaborative response
to tackling homelessness. It is important
to us that our residents feel safe, and we
will continue to identify and respond to
emerging issues and concerns to build
confidence that the New Forest is a safe
place to live.

Our vision for the district will preserve
our community’s strong sense of place
through a vibrant arts and culture offer
which will see a new cultural strategy
being developed bringing opportunities
for learning, entertainment, leisure,
personal growth, and improved
communication with our residents.

11



0c

QO®@® o heople, place, prosperity Corporate plan 2024 to 2028

Our people priorities

Priority 1: Helping those in our community with the greatest need

We will:
Provide more quality, temporary accommodation for single people and families and work with our partners to tackle homelessness.

Ensure our strategies, policies and working practices support necessary adaptations and other support that enables people to stay in
their homes and to live independently.

Support community engagement, working with partners and our town and parish councils to help resolve local issues, including those
associated with the cost of living, homelessness and community, health, safety and resilience.

It will be measured by: Delivery will be supported through:
Percentage of homelessness duty cases successfully prevented. Homelessness strategy

Number of households in external emergency accommodation. Private sector housing strategy
Number of families with children under 16 in external emergency shared Community strategy

accommodation over 6 weeks.

Number of Appletree careline services provided to customers.

12



| X4

QO®@® o heople, place, prosperity Corporate plan 2024 to 2028

Our people priorities

Priority 2: Empowering our residents to live healthy, connected and fulfilling lives

We will:

Protect and improve the health and wellbeing of our communities, working with partners to deliver increased physical activity and
good mental health and wellbeing.

We will collaborate with partners to deliver a vibrant arts and culture offer to provide opportunities for learning, entertainment, leisure,
personal growth and improved communication.

Work closely with our other public bodies to promote safety, tackle the perception of crime within our towns and parishes, and expand
our CCTV coverage to include rural areas.

Support our communities in increasing their resilience to respond to, withstand and recover from adverse situations.

Conduct emergency preparedness exercises and ensure robust business continuity arrangements are in place to support community
resilience in responding to incidents.

Work with our communities to understand their needs and empower them to influence the services and outcomes of their area.

It will be measured by: Delivery will be supported through:
Percentage of resident satisfaction on crime and safety perception measures. Health and wellbeing strategy

Investment in and rollout of CCTV coverage. Community safety strategic partnership plan
Number of education and awareness sessions in relation to serious crime. Community strategy

Number of positive interventions in response to Public Spaces Protection Orders (1 Anti-social behaviour strategy

and 2).

Cultural strategy

Number of events and cultural activities supported by New Forest District Council. Tenant engagement strategy

13



¢c

QO®@® o heople, place, prosperity Corporate plan 2024 to 2028

Our people priorities

Priority 3: Meeting housing needs

We will:

Provide increased numbers of affordable homes by 2026 and explore innovative models with landowners, partners and developers to
enable sustainable and affordable homes for the future.

Work with developers and landowners to bring forward opportunities for wider housing provision to meet the needs of our
communities, including first homes, shared ownership and other tenures.

Ensure all residents in the district can benefit from energy efficiency measures and support landlords to meet efficiency standards in
the private rented sector.

Improve the energy efficiency of over 3,200 council houses by 2030.

Work with our housing tenants to understand their needs and provide high quality service standards in line with the government’s new
Social Housing Charter and regulatory regime.

It will be measured by: Delivery will be supported through:
Number of affordable social housing homes delivered by NFDC and its partners. Housing strategy

Number of affordable council homes delivered against the 2026 target. Private sector housing strategy
Percentage score for overall tenant satisfaction with the Council as a landlord, as Greener housing strategy

determined in the Tenant Satisfaction Measures (TSMs). Tenant engagement strategy

Number of council homes achieving Energy Performance Certification band C. Statutory development plans prepared by

Percentage scores for the 5 safety and compliance management Tenant Satisfaction the local planning authorities
Measures (TSMs).

14



QO®@® o pcople, place, prosperity Corporate plan 2024 to 2028

Place.

Delivering growth, opportunity and services that shape our place now and
for future generations, within a unique environmental context, to ensure we
remain a special place to live, work and visit.
15



QO®@® o heople, place, prosperity Corporate plan 2024 to 2028

Place priorities

Shaping our place now Protecting our climate, Caring for our facilities,

and for future generations coast, and natural world neighbourhoods and open
spaces in a modern and
responsive way

Our Ladycross housing development, Hythe Aerial view of Hurst Spit Out on location carrying out essential work
16



G¢Z

QO®@® o heople, place, prosperity

@ Place priorities

We recognise that we serve a special
natural environment. Having an
internationally recognised National Park
that covers so much of our district,
alongside many other protected
designations, has many advantages in
terms of preserving the character and
beauty of this place.

This protected nature of so much of

our district also presents challenges;

not least in terms of finding the

right locations for new homes and
infrastructure. We recognise that
successful places strike the right balance
between growth and conservation.

We consider the social, environmental,
and economic impact of what we do
and how we do it, shaping our place to

deliver the homes, jobs, infrastructure,
skills and investment that are needed
now and in the future. We will champion
the need for carbon reduction, climate
adaption, and nature recovery to

build our capacity and community
resilience in all we do. And there remain
opportunities for us to look more widely
at our district and the potential it has.
Our coastline and its recreation and
tourism potential present an opportunity
to do more, whilst also recognising the
need to work with partners to provide for
the coasts long-term management and
protection.

Being responsible for the care and
operational upkeep of our facilities,
neighbourhoods and open spaces
remains one of our main responsibilities,
and the focus of our frontline services
that are so visible to our residents

Corporate plan 2024 to 2028

and visitors on a daily basis. We are
committed to implementing our new
wheeled bin waste collection service, to
meet the aim of recycling more.

We will continue to deliver a green and
clean environment that supports vibrant
high streets and village centres, and

we will challenge ourselves to do things
differently by reviewing what we do

and how we resource our work. We will
increasingly use data and technology to
ensure that our approaches, processes,
and use of resources modernise the way
we work and do.

We are ambitious and innovative for
our residents, communities and the
environments we serve to continue our
work for a distinctive, prosperous and
thriving place.

17



9¢

QO®@® o heople, place, prosperity Corporate plan 2024 to 2028

Our place priorities

Priority 1: Shaping our place now and for future generations

We will:

Update our strategic planning framework to manage change in the future, including an updated local plan that responds to the
Freeport proposition and delivers the homes and infrastructure our district needs.

Ensure that development considers the social, environmental, and economic factors to provide sustainable outcomes that address the
current and future needs of our communities.

Review our planning processes to ensure they provide greater certainty for customers and deliver timely and effective decision making
that makes the best use of resources.

Encourage transport authorities and bodies, Hampshire County Council to provide necessary transport infrastructure including
upgrades to the A326, in a way which delivers economic prosperity, connectivity and considers the enhancement of biodiversity and
sustainable access from the National Park to the coast.

Continue to explore the opportunities for alternative recreational offers, such as a new country park or at less sensitive parts of our
coastline, to help alleviate recreational pressure on particularly environmentally sensitive sites within the National Park and along parts
of the Solent coastline.

It will be measured by: Delivery will be supported through:

Percentage of major planning applications determined in time. Statutory development plans prepared by

Percentage of minor planning applications determined in time. the local planning authorities

Percentage of other planning applications determined in time. New Forest National Park partnership plan

Percentage of successful planning appeals. New Forest place strategy

The total outstanding net dwelling supply as set out in our development plan.

18



LC

QO®@® o heople, place, prosperity Corporate plan 2024 to 2028

Our place priorities

Priority 2: Protecting our climate, coast, and natural world

We will:

Build greater climate resilience through preparedness activity developed in our climate and nature emergency action plan and seek out
opportunities to provide for carbon reduction, climate adaption, and nature recovery with the latter expected to be informed through
the development of a Hampshire wide Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LNRS) which is being led by Hampshire County Council.

Further develop our strategic thinking on fleet management and carbon reduction across our corporate property estate.

Work with partners such as the Environment Agency to deliver Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management (FCERM) strategies which
will set action plans for protecting our coastline.

Work with our partners at the National Park and other key stakeholders to support the protection and enhancement of natural
landscapes, habitats and biodiversity to ensure the future sustainability of the Forest.

It will be measured by: Delivery will be supported through:

Amount of non-recycled waste produced by households. Statutory development plans prepared by the local planning
Households using our chargeable garden waste service as a authorities

percentage of total properties in NFDC available to receive New Forest National Park partnership plan

the service. New Forest place strategy / economic strategy

Emissions from the council’s vehicle fleet. Climate change and biodiversity supplementary planning documents

Percentage of household waste sent for recycling. Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management (FCERM) strategies
Clean air strategy
Taxi licensing policy

19



8¢

QO®@® o heople, place, prosperity Corporate plan 2024 to 2028

Our place priorities

Priority 3: Caring for our facilities, neighbourhoods and open spaces in a modern and responsive way

We will:

Introduce our district wide wheeled bin collection service and further implement our waste strategy to increase recycling rates and
reduce the amount of residual waste.

Deliver a new operational depot at Hardley and consider opportunities to enhance our other depot sites to facilitate carbon reduction
across our operations.

Keep our ways of working and the services and facilities we provide under review, focussing on best practice and place-based
outcomes to deliver in a modern and responsive way.

Work with our key stakeholders and partners to develop policies, strategies and approaches that enable us to robustly tackle issues
that affect the quality of place such as fly tipping and environmental crime.

Develop a district wide parking strategy that looks to support new technologies, respond to the climate agenda, identify development
opportunities and potentially generate more sustainable income levels to support the council’s wider aspirations and service delivery.

It will be measured by: Delivery will be supported through:
Number of fly-tipping incidents per 1,000 people Hampshire joint municipal waste strategy
Percentage customer satisfaction with the appearance of their local area. New Forest waste strategy 2022-2027
Equivalent number of 0.5 litre bottles filled at water-filling stations - waste averted. Environmental enforcement policy

Parking strategy

20



QO®@® o people, place, prosperity Corporate plan 2024 to 2028

Prosperity.

Promoting a strong local economy that delivers its
inclusive aspirations through effective partnerships,
attracting investment, and increasing skills and

employment opportunities.
21



QO®@® o heople, place, prosperity Corporate plan 2024 to 2028

Prosperity priorities

Championing skills and
access to job opportunities

Maximising the benefits of Supporting our high-quality

inclusive economic growth business base and

and investment economic centres to thrive
and grow

View overlooking Solent Freeport Platinum Jubilee Business Park, Ringwood One of our grounds maintenance apprentices
22



1€

QO®@® o heople, place, prosperity

@ Prosperity priorities

An important part of our plan over

the next four years is to support our
high-quality business base and economic
centres to thrive and grow, to realise the
growth and investment opportunity which
is afforded to us by our Freeport status
in an inclusive way, and to ensure that
our residents have the tools and skills to
access the jobs which become available.

Data tells us that demographics and
trends are changing, we have an older
than average population, that is aging as
a cohort, and this has a notable impact
upon our overall economic performance
as a district. We also acknowledge the
indivisible link between access to a place
to live and employment as part of a
joined-up approach to helping make the
New Forest as prosperous a place as it
can be.

For the young and those of working age
we want to ensure that the New Forest

is a place of employment opportunity.
Our ambition, by attracting economic
growth and investment, is to create a
more prosperous future for our residents
and businesses that will make a positive
difference to people’s lives, and to ensure

growth can be genuinely inclusive. We
cannot do this by ourselves. We need
our existing resident and business
communities to tell us what greater
prosperity looks like to them. Then, to
continue to deliver outcomes we will
need to place partnership working with
the public, private and third sector across
the region and beyond at the heart

of growing prosperity across the New
Forest.

The Solent Freeport is a key part of

that, bringing a once in a generation
opportunity to cement the Solent’s place
as a trading hub of global importance,
and the New Forest area has a big role
to play. Development sites within the
New Forest will contribute to some 40%
of jobs to be created by the Freeport
and more than 70% of developable

land. There are expected to be job
opportunities in renewables, shipping
and wider marine sectors which are at
the heart of the Freeport’s aspirations.
By positively promoting the Freeport we
hope to encourage people to gain the
skills they need to access these emerging
job opportunities. It will also require us
to prepare now, so that our future labour
force is well placed to provide the skills
that our businesses want.

Corporate plan 2024 to 2028

This will mean working with regional
partners to encourage our schools and
further education establishments to
ensure that teaching plans for future
skills and employment need.

While planning for the future, we already
have a very important Small and Medium
Enterprise (SME) sector including our
world class tourism offer, our rural
economy and marine sectors. Supporting
those smaller businesses to flourish is

an equally important part of our plan.
Our natural environment also presents
opportunities to develop green skills,

as well as being a key proponent of our
tourism offer.

Much prosperity in the New Forest is
linked to our town and village centres,
which have always evolved over time
and will continue to do so. This may
present opportunities to rethink the
offer of some of these centres to be
more self-sustaining, viable and vibrant,
particularly in parts of the district that
have not been able to keep pace with
changing trends, shopping behaviours, or
the economic climate. We will put plans
and strategies in place that ensure that
this is an area of focus for us.

23



ce

QO®@® o heople, place, prosperity Corporate plan 2024 to 2028

Our prosperity priorities

Priority 1: Maximising the benefits of inclusive economic growth and investment

We will:

Promote the Freeport aspiration to further develop the Solent as a globally recognised hub for trade and undertake an enabling role for
investment in our Freeport tax sites.

Ensure that investment in our district enhances rather than diminishes our special natural environment and that the benefits are
locally evident and felt across all parts of our district.

Work with the public, private and third sector across the region and beyond to deliver inclusive growth and investment that drives
prosperity across the New Forest.

It will be measured by: Delivery will be supported through:
Squared metres of industrial/employment land developed. Solent Freeport proposition
Level (£) of retained business rates (at source). Statutory development plans prepared by the

local planning authorities

New Forest place strategy / economic strategy

24



ce

QO®@® o heople, place, prosperity Corporate plan 2024 to 2028

Our prosperity priorities

Priority 2: Supporting our high-quality business base and economic centres to thrive and grow

We will:

Work with local people and stakeholders to develop visions and proposals for their high streets and town centres and consider where
targeted regeneration approaches may be necessary.

Establish partnerships to support our local areas to bring in new investment including grant funding.

Support our SME base to thrive, working with the New Forest Enterprise Centre and other business membership organisations and
other partners, focusing across our tourism, rural and marine economy.

Explore the opportunities for our Arts and Culture offer and community events to help boost the vibrancy of our high streets and town
centres.

It will be measured by: Delivery will be supported through:

Perceptions of our high streets and town centres. UK Shared Prosperity Fund and Rural

Vacancies of retail premises within town/local centres. England Prosperity Fund Programme
New Forest place strategy

Town centre partnerships

25



QO®@® o heople, place, prosperity Corporate plan 2024 to 2028

Our prosperity priorities

Priority 3: Championing skills and access to job opportunities

We will:
Undertake skills assessments and mapping to inform the development of an employment and skills strategy.
Work with partners to best support our residents to access employment opportunities regardless of the barriers they face.

Encourage employment and skills training to address emerging opportunities and local need aligned to the Solent Freeport proposals,
the green agenda, as well as established New Forest sectors such as the marine, tourism and rural economies.

Recognise that in our role, we cannot directly influence the measures in this priority however we will continue to exert our influence to
improve skills and employment outcomes for our residents.

It will be measured by: Delivery will be supported through:
Employment rate percentage of working age adults (aged 16-64). Employment and skills strategy

Proportion (in percentage terms) of employee jobs with hourly pay below the living wage.

26



GE

QO®@® o heople, place, prosperity

Future New Forest

Transforming tomorrow, together

Corporate plan 2024 to 2028

Investing in our people and
services to meet customer
needs, protecting the council’s
financial position, and embedding
sustainability through our Future
New Forest transformation
programme.

Underpinning the delivery of
our priorities is the council’s
transformation programme;
Future New Forest. This ambitious
programme will influence how we
operate, enable us to support our
strategic objectives and to make
choices for the future. The programme
will focus efforts on our customers
and easy to use digital-first delivery
of services, efficient working practices
and processes, our people and
capabilities, the use of our assets
and accommodation and ensuring
a sustainable financial position.
The Council has developed equality
objectives that are embedded in this
plan and will maintain an overarching
commitment to environmental
sustainability in all that we do.

27



o€

Deliver customer and digital strategies that meet our
customers’ needs.

Develop and provide services using data and insight to
ensure that we understand our customers and meet the
needs of our diverse communities.

Implement a customer relationship management system
that keeps customers informed on progress and instils
confidence in service delivery.

Increase the number of services available online, whilst
focusing face to face and telephone contact for those who
need it most.

It will be measured by:
Percentage resident satisfaction in perception measures.

Staff survey average satisfaction score of 3.5 or higher
(out of 5) for the question what would be your overall
rating of the NFDC ICT service.

Resident survey average satisfaction score of 3.5 or
higher (out of 5) for the question How do you rate the
quality of digital services at the council.

Delivery supported through:

Customer strategy

Putting our customers at the heart, we will: Being an employer of choice, we will:

Deliver a people strategy that outlines how we attract, retain, and
grow talent.

Encourage diversity and champion equality within our workplace,
developing and supporting an inclusive working environment where all
staff are respected with zero tolerance of bullying and harassment.

Invest in skills development, training, and career progression
opportunities to ensure a skilled and resilient workforce and leadership
team for the future.

Commit to paying at least the national living wage to our staff.

Promote employee wellbeing and prioritise work-life balance by
adopting flexible and family-friendly working practices.

It will be measured by:

Percentage of vacancies filled first time.

Percentage staff turnover.

Average number of days sickness absence per employee.

Number of council apprenticeships.

Delivery supported through:
People strategy
Pay policy



LE

Being financially responsible, we will:

Maintain a balanced budget and deliver value for money to our
residents through service reviews, procurement and contract
management, and transformation efficiencies.

Maintain an up-to-date medium term financial plan and financial
strategy to address the council’s financial challenges beyond the
short-term

Be commercially focused in our approach to investment strategies
and income opportunities guided by strategic priorities.

Maximise the use of our assets and accommodation to support
efficient and effective delivery of our future service provision.

It will be measured by:

Percentage variance to Council budget +/- (General fund budget
variations).

Percentage variance to Housing Revenue budget +/- (HRA budget
variations).

Percentage of Council Tax collected in year.

Percentage of Non-domestic Rates collected in year.

Delivery supported through:
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP)
Transformation strategy

Asset & accommodation strategy

Procurement strategy

Designing modern and innovative services, we will:

Standardise and apply common design patterns and
platforms across the council to release capacity and deliver
efficiency benefits.

Proactively use data and insight to inform decision-making
and report performance through a robust performance
management framework and culture.

Maximise the use of new technology, automate manual
processes and keep our software up to date with technology
releases.

Maintain robust and resilient ICT infrastructure to protect the
integrity of data and our digital systems

It will be measured by:

70% of benefits realised at project closure across all ICT
projects in the annual work programme.

Percentage of ICT incidents resolved within SLA.

70% of ICT projects to be delivered on time and on budget in
the annual work programme

Percentage unscheduled downtime for critical systems

Delivery supported through:
Digital strategy

ICT security and information governance policy

29



Corporate plan
2024 to 2028

OO@® rorpeople, place, prosperity



Agenda Iltem 5

CABINET -3 APRIL 2024 PORTFOLIO: PLANNING AND ECONOMY

ALLOCATION OF COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) TO
LOCAL INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS

1. RECOMMENDATION

1.1 Itis recommended that Cabinet:

e Approve a supplementary budget of £81,100, and subsequently approve the list
of projects at Appendix 1 of this report totalling £1,081.104.84; and

e Authorises the Portfolio Holder for Planning and Economy, in conjunction with the
Chair of the Executive Advisory Task and Finish Group, to make such
amendments as they deem appropriate to the approved project lists within 10% of
the total budget. Any such amendments will be reported to Cabinet via the
financial monitoring reports.

2. INTRODUCTION

2.1 This report seeks approval for the funding of a programme of local infrastructure
projects for the financial year 2024/25, in accordance with the Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Expenditure Framework as approved by the Council in
October 2023.

3. BACKGROUND

3.1 New development needs to be supported by physical, social and green infrastructure.
Developer contributions are collected to make new developments acceptable in
planning terms, providing mitigation that serves to minimises the impacts on the local
community and infrastructure.

3.2 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) provides funding to help deliver this
infrastructure and has been collected by this Council since 2015

3.3 In October 2023, Cabinet followed by a meeting of full Council approved a CIL
Expenditure Framework (hereafter ‘the Expenditure Framework’). This identified that
CIL monies would in future be apportioned into three funds: recreational habitat
mitigation, strategic infrastructure and local infrastructure.

3.4 At the same meeting of Cabinet, it was agreed to allocate £1 million of CIL funds
towards local infrastructure projects, to be funded in the 2024/25 financial year. Bids
have subsequently been submitted from across the New Forest area, with the bidding
window closing on 8 December 2023. The Council received 61 bids for amounts
ranging from £1,000 to £611,000, and the total value of all bids received was in excess
of £4m.

4. ANALYSING BIDS RECEIVED

4.1 The format of reviewing the bids took two forms, a desktop review by officers followed
by a Task and Finish Group meeting with cross party elected members.

39



Officer review

4.2 The 61 bids were reviewed by officers, using the three-stage process as set out in the
Expenditure Framework

¢ Validation — to make sure that the basic eligibility criteria has been met.

¢ Initial Screening — including considering whether alternative funding is available
and checking information provided (see paragraph 4.5 of Expenditure
Framework)

e Prioritisation — appraising the bids against the criteria as set out in paragraph 4.6
of the Expenditure Framework

4.3 The purpose of this three-stage process was to ensure that all submitted bids included
the key information required, met the basic criteria and were therefore eligible for
consideration for CIL funding. The criteria for each stage is set out in Appendix 2.

4.4 The summary of bids at the validation stage was as follows:

Bids Received £ sought from CIL

Total bids received for CIL 61 £4,433,742.97
funding by 8 Dec 2023
Bids deferred and not taken 14 £674,864.00

forward to screening

Validated bids — taken forward to 47 £3,768,878.97
screening stage

4.5 The list of all projects submitted, and passed validation, were published on the
Council’'s website and relevant ward councillors informed.

4.6 The primary reasons for the 14 bids not being taken forward to screening were due to
either a lack of a clear delivery timeframe for the project or information how the project
related to the priorities in the New Forest Local Plan Part 1: Planning Strategy (namely
supporting housing growth by additional infrastructure and supporting sustainable
development).

4.7 Atthe screening stage, 6 bids seeking £1.4m of funding was not taken forward for
validation. One bid withdrew from the bid process as it found alternative funding due to
a need implement in late 2023 and the other 5 were removed for reasons including:

e Proposed inclusion in the projects to be delivered as part of the Council’s
Recreational Mitigation Programme

o Largely delivered through the United Kingdom Shared Prosperity Funding
(UKSPF)

e Further discussions required on the best funding course for the scheme e.g.
S106, recreational habitat mitigation or strategic CIL funding.

4.8 For the prioritisation stage, the remaining 41 projects were scored out of 10 in each
category as set out in the Expenditure Framework, where a score of 0 does not in any
way meet the requirement and 10 was scored as fully meeting. The exception to this

40


https://newforest.gov.uk/article/3423/CIL-bids-and-expenditure
https://www.newforest.gov.uk/article/1938/Recreational-Mitigation-Strategy

4.9

4.10

411

412

413

51

5.2

53

was the first criteria in relation to the Local Plan which was scored out of 20 in
recognition of the particular importance of this strategy to the Council. The maximum
score available was 180.

If the project was within the New Forest National Park then the views of officers of the
National Park Authority were sought and taken into account by officers when scoring.

Member Task and Finish Group

Following this a cross-party Task and Finish group, chaired by ClIr Keith Craze, was
held in February 2024. The terms of reference were agreed with Members, who were
also provided with all necessary information on the bids including:

e The project summary

Location

Total cost of project and CIL requested

Officer scoring of bids against prioritisation criteria

Officer recommendation

Following the conclusion of the Task and Finish group sessions, the 26 top scoring
projects were identified to be taken forward for inclusion in the 2024/25 capital
programme with an anticipated allocation of £1,081,104.84. In combination with the
match funding identified in the bids, this will enable delivery of projects totalling
£5,288,610.34.

Whilst the geographical location of the projects were not directly taken in to account for
scoring purposes, the resulting projects do provide a good mix of projects across the
New Forest. However officers and the Task and Finish group are aware that there are
no direct proposals for local CIL funded infrastructure projects in Lymington included in
this 2024/25 list.

Only 4 projects were submitted for projects in Lymington. Whilst not included in the
2024/25 programme, officers will be working with those bidders to either secure
funding from other sources and/or firm up a project programme ready for a further
round of funding. Like many areas across the New Forest, officers are also working
with colleagues at Hampshire County Council to develop sustainable transportation
projects in Lymington utilising developer contribution monies, as well as continuing to
implement recreational mitigation projects within the area.

NEXT STEPS

Subject to this paper being signed off, all parties who bid for monies will be notified in
writing immediately after the decision. Those whose bid was not successful on this
occasion (15 in total) will be offered a chance to speak to officers to discuss and
explore whether the reasons for not proceeding at this time can be addressed.

Successful bidders will be asked to sign a grant award letter and officers will work with
them to agree the programme for delivery and to agree future communication
protocols and publicity for the project

Monies will only be released to the successful bidders on submission of paid invoices

and satisfactory completion of works, unless other arrangements are specifically
agreed with the Council beforehand.

41



6.1

6.2

RISKS

There are a number of risks in relation to the spending of CIL. The risks identified
closely align with Strategic Risk No.1 — Supporting Communities of the Strategic Risk

Register 2020-2024.

The key risks are set out below:

report
(Infrastructure
Funding Statement)
would result in non-
compliance with the
CIL Regulations
2010 (as amended)
and may mean that
Members and the
public are not
aware of CIL
income and
expenditure
activities.

Risk Description Likelihood | Impact Risk Mitigation Measures
Failure to allocate Unlikely (2) | Major (3) | Medium | Adopted Community
expenditure such (6) Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
that if we do not in 2014 to secure
secure investment investment on
in infrastructure infrastructure via
(schools, health, planning process (e.g.
broadband, S106). Production of
transport etc.), then Infrastructure Delivery
development is Plan as part of the Local
stifled and/or Planning processes,
unsustainable. with an associated
Infrastructure Delivery
Strategy ensures that
infrastructure across the
Council is addressed.
Cabinet decision Moderate Moderate | Medium | Officers have carried out
called in 3) 3) (9) a robust assessment in
accordance with the
adopted Expenditure
Framework and the
scores can be justified. If
amendments are
required to the proposed
list, scores can be
scrutinised and
amended.
Failure to produce | Highly Moderate | Low (2) | The Implementation and
a Regulation 121A | Unlikely (1) | (2) Monitoring Team Leader

produces the required
report which is checked
and verified by Senior
Management.
Reminders are set to
ensure the report is
published by the
statutory date. The
format of the Regulation
IFS is laid out in the CIL
Regulations, so there is
no risk in relation to the
way the information is
presented

42




7.1

7.2

7.3

Failure to monitor
expenditure such
that CIL
expenditure is not
effective.

Unlikely (2)

Major (3)

Medium

(6)

The software which
supports CIL collection
will be used to support
CIL expenditure. In
addition, the Council’'s
Capital Change Board
(CCB) will receive
details of all allocated
and proposed CIL
expenditure and this
together with the
software will be used for
effective monitoring.

Grant of CIL is not
permitted under the
Subsidy Control Act
2023

Unlikely (2)

Low (1)

Low (2)

Officers will continue to
work with colleagues in
the Council’s legal
services to ensure that
all subsidies are in
accordance with the Act
to ensure that no unfair
advantage has been
given to a business.

Projects allocated
do not proceed

Unlikely (2)

Low (1)

Low (2)

CIL funds will only be
passed to successful
bidders on receipt of a
valid receipt of spend
and notification of
satisfactory completion.

The recommendation to
Cabinet allows for
decisions to be made
subsequently to
reallocate monies during
the year.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

CIL is collected and allocated in accordance with the CIL Regulations 2010 (as
amended). The monies proposed to be allocated are all held by the Council and
therefore there will be no direct cost to the Council.

The October 2023 Cabinet decision authorised the release of £1m for Local
Infrastructure to be signed off by the Portfolio Holder for Planning and Economy. The
proposed allocation is slightly over the £1m permitted by Cabinet but all projects are
considered to merit funding for the 2024/25 financial year. To provide the necessary
financial authorisation for these projects, further Cabinet approval is now required.

At the time of bids for local infrastructure being submitted, a similar round of funding
bids were sought and approved under the Community Grants programme. Some bids
submitted through this CIL process also sought funds under through the Community
Grants programme. The Task and Finish Group were made aware of these instances
during the meetings. Any proposed award under CIL funds has taken account of any

43




other grants awarded. For future rounds of funding, the Council may consider whether
to allow bids from separate funding sources within the Council.

7.4 Whenever the Council provides a subsidy, regardless of the form it takes (e.g. grant
funds including CIL, loans, land at an undervalue etc) to another organisation, it needs
to ensure such subsidies are permitted under the Subsidy Control Act 2022. The
council’s Legal Services have reviewed the proposed awards and confirmed they do
not require further action from the council in respect of the subsidy control regime and
it will not be in breach should the decision to award the grants be made.

8. CRIME & DISORDER IMPLICATIONS, EQUALITY & DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

8.1 None

9. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1 The projects proposed will deliver environmental benefits as well as health and well-

being and climate change benefits through enabling greater use of existing open
space, the creation of new of sustainable walking routes, enhanced cultural facilities
and facilitating sustainable travel for young people.

10. DATA PROTECTION IMPLICATIONS

10.1 None

11. PORTFOLIO HOLDER COMMENTS

11.1 | am delighted to see a wide variety of important projects being funded across the

New Forest, which will be of great benefit to the community. | would like to thank the
members of the Task and Finish Group for taking such care in identifying the final
projects to go forward from the original 64 bids received.

For further information contact: Background Papers:

Dean Brunton e CIL Expenditure Framework

Planning Implementation and Monitoring e Communications Strategy

Team Leader e CIL guide for Town and Parishes

023 8028 5454
Dean.brunton@nfdc.gov.uk

Tim Guymer

Acting Assistant Director for Place
Development

023 8028 5987
Tim.guymer@nfdc.gov.uk

44


mailto:Dean.brunton@nfdc.gov.uk
mailto:Tim.guymer@nfdc.gov.uk
https://democracy.newforest.gov.uk/documents/s26963/Appendix%20A%20-%20CIL%20Expenditure%20Framework.pdf
https://democracy.newforest.gov.uk/documents/s26964/Appendix%20B%20-%20Communications%20Strategy.pdf
https://democracy.newforest.gov.uk/documents/s26965/Appendix%20C%20-%20CIL%20guide%20for%20Town%20and%20Parishes.pdf

Appendix 1 — Officer proposed schemes for CIL allocation following Task and Finish

Group

Reference

Location

Applicant

Scheme

Proposed
CIL
allocation

Hampshire Avon Valley Path -
23/FORD/003 | Fordingbridge County IFordingbridge 84 Footpath | £22,100.00
Council Improvements
23/DIBD/001 Dibden, Noadswood Cycle shelter £22,180.00
Purlieu Schookl
Orchard Infant
23/DIBD/002 Sc_:hool, Orchant Infant Provision of secure bike £5.900.00
Dibden School and scooter parking
Purlieu
23/RING/001 Poulner Junior | Poulner Junior | Improving bike and scooter £3.000.00
School School storage and accessibility
Boldre Boldre Parish
23/BOLD/001 Recreation ) Play Area: Phase 2 £10,046.00
Council
Ground
23/SWAY/002 | Jubilee Fields, | Sway Parish | o piay Area Upgrade | £20,000.00
Sway Council
Marchwood C
Marchwood C
23/MARC/001 | ©Of E Infant of E Infant Grounds development | ¢4 435 g
School project
School
grounds
Various Hale Parish
23/HALE/001 locations in : Speed limit reminders £2,400.00
Council
Hale
Various Hythe &
23/HYTH/002 locations in Didben Parish Speed Indicator device £6,290.00
Hythe Parish Council
Entrances to
23/MART/001 village at Martin Pa_rlsh Traffic Calming in Martin £2,275.00
south and Council
north end
23/SOPL/002 |  Various | SoPleyParish | Speed Indicator Device | ) 455 o
Concil mounting poles
23MILT/001 | New Milton | _New Milton. Ballard Lake £20,000.00
Town Council Enhancements
23/FORD/002 | Fordingbridge | FOrdingbridge | Fordingbridge recreation | p54 5445 o
Parish council ground circular pathway
Flaxfields End
23/FORD/007 | Play Park, | ~Vvon Valley Avon Valley Shed £32,345.04
) . Shed Community Building
Fordingbridge,
23/FAWL/001 | ©Gang Warlly, | Fawley Parish New Allotments £28,346.00
Fawley Council

45




Applicant Proposed
Reference Location Scheme CIL
allocation
Green in the
23/FORD/009 centre of P\g;%d(g:&enncn Bus shelter refurbishment £8,000.00
Woodgreen.
23/LYND/OOL Coles M(_aad L_yndhurst _ Play equipment, fgncmg £25.000.00
Recreation Parish Council and compost toilet
NHS
23/ASHU/001 |  Ashurst Hampshire | Ashurst Child and Family | 075 409 g
and Isle of Centre
Wight ICB
Hordle
Explorers
Hl\él:glfee réE Hordle NEST Nursery Outdoor
23/HORD/001 . Explorers . 4 £27,500.00
(VA) Primary N Learning Environment
ursery
School,
Hordle Lane,
Hordle,
23/ TOTT/009 Testwood Testwood FIFA compllar_lt artificial £100,000.00
School School grass pitch
Recreation , ,
23/[FAWL/002 |  Centre, Fawley Parish | Changing Places Gang | ¢4 655 o
Council Warily
Fawley
Hampshire . N
23/EORD/006 Bur_gate,_ nr County Breamore disused rail line: £125,000.00
Fordingbridge d Phase 1
Council
Whitemoor - .
Paultons Pavillion rebuild & net
23/COPY/002 Lan%,:]OBl Cricket Club refurbishment £80,000.00
Mill End, Western
Damerham, Downland CE .
23/FORD/004 Fordingbridge VA Primary Community Garden £14,000.00
SP6 3HU School
Lepe Country
Park, Hampshire
23/EXBU/OOL | . XPUTY; County Recreational Play £100,000.00
Southampton Coundil Enhancement
S045 1AD
CODA, -
23/CHRI/001 CODA Enhanced Cultural Facility | £142,250.00
Walkford
Total £1,081,104.84

46




Appendix 2 — Scoring Criteria

Validation Criteria

Each bid has been given its own unique reference in the form of 23/TOWN/000 (where the
town is a four letter abbreviation of the town or parish).

In order for a project to be considered for CIL funding, the following eligibility criteria needed
to be met:

the application form has been completed satisfactorily.

all supporting documentation, identified in the application form, has been provided;
the organisation has the legal right to carry out the proposed project;
the project is clearly defined as 'Infrastructure' as per the CIL Regulations;

the project is listed in the Council's Infrastructure Delivery Plan / Infrastructure
Funding Statement or is for infrastructure that supports growth of the area; and

support of the relevant town / parish council has been obtained and, if it is a
transport related project, also from Hampshire County Council.

Initial officer screening

Once the application forms requesting CIL funding had been validated, initial officer
assessment of the projects took place.

The bids were reviewed at high level to ensure that they met the initial screening criteria set
out in the Expenditure Framework, namely:

The screening process was as follows: -

e Could this infrastructure bid be provided in a reasonable timescale using other
internal and external funding streams? This could be through the Council
submitting bids to external fund, or supporting other such bids. (e.g. LEP
Government funding or other external funders) Alternatively are there other
internal fundings sources (e.g. s106 or Community Grants?) — if so, can it be
delivered using this without complete or any reliance on CIL funds;

Any incomplete bids are considered, and effort made to get the bid fully complete
and capable of then being assessed against the priority criteria;

Where appropriate, information are checked or sought to verify the information
within the bid; and

Where potential CIL infrastructure needs have been identified in relation to major
development sites/projects, these are given consideration in future programmes.

Before any scoring took place, an assessment was made of the extent to which town and
parish council’s own CIL monies were committed.. If town and parish councils had
unspent/unallocated CIL then the bid was not considered further by officers.

47



Priority Assessment

For the second stage of the assessment, the projects were assessed against the following
criteria, as set out in the Expenditure Framework:

Does it positively score against provisions /objectives of the Local Plan 2016-
2036 Part 1: Planning Strategy and the Infrastructure Delivery Plan?

Does it represent key infrastructure (essential)?
Does it offer value for money ?

Are there Clear community benefits?

Is there community support?

Is it deliverable?

Is it affordable?

Can it be delivered in good time?

Supports housing and employment growth.
Positively supports climate change activities.

Have a package of measures been proposed and submitted which allow for
ongoing maintenance of the infrastructure such that its longevity can be assured.

Does the provision of this infrastructure address a current inadequacy in
infrastructure terms?

Will the infrastructure be capable of being used by the wider community?

How does the proposal affect green infrastructure principles?
How does the project address green/sustainability principles/infrastructure?

Is the project reportable under The Subsidy Control Act 2023 (an act which
updated the State Aid requirements)

How does the project affect security and safety in the community?

Projects were scored out of 10 in each category, where a score of 0 is does not in any way
meet the requirement and 10 is scored as fully meeting. The exception to this is the first
criteria in relation to the Local Plan which will be scored out of 20.

If a project is within the National Park then the views of officers of the National Park Authority
have been sought and taken into account by New Forest District Council officers when
scoring.

48



Agenda Iltem 6

CABINET -3 APRIL 2024 PORTFOLIO: PLANNING AND ECONOMY AND
ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT: PLANNING FOR
CLIMATE CHANGE

1. RECOMMENDATIONS
1.1 That the Cabinet agrees:
i.  The draft responses to representations (attached at Annex 1 to this report);

ii.  That the revised Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) “Planning for Climate
Change” (attached at Annex 2 to this report) is formally adopted and published on the
Council’'s website;

iii. That the revised SPD is taken into account as a material consideration in the
determination of all relevant applications that are submitted after the date of
adoption; and

iv.  That any final editorial changes to the document prior to publication be agreed by the
Strategic Director of Place, Operations and Sustainability in consultation with the
Portfolio Holder for Planning and Economy.

2. PURPOSE AND OBJECTIVES

2.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval to adopt the supplementary planning
document (SPD) Planning for Climate Change, following public consultation and
consequential changes to the document.

2.2 The SPD will be used in the determination of planning applications for the construction
of new homes, commercial and community buildings. The SPD provides guidance on
the interpretation and implementation of policies in the adopted Local Plan 2016-2036
Part 1: Planning Strategy. In particular, parts of Policies STR1: Achieving sustainable
development and ENV3: Design quality and local distinctiveness. Taken together
these policies require that new development is future-proofed for climate change and
incorporates design measures that improve resource efficiency, climate change
resilience and reduce environmental impacts.

2.3 The key objectives of this SPD are to encourage the development industry to take all
reasonable steps to minimise expected carbon emissions when designing and
constructing new buildings, and to make new development more sustainable and
climate change adapted. A ‘future homes now’ commitment not to install gas or oil-fired
boilers in new development is a priority objective.

2.4 More detailed climate change policies and standards will continue to be developed
through the Local Plan Review, and/or as national policy evolves.
3. NATIONAL AND CORPORATE CONTEXT

3.1 On 11 October 2021 New Forest District Council declared a Climate and Nature
Emergency. The Climate and Nature Emergency declaration reflects the Climate

49



3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

4.1

Change Act 2008 (as amended 2019), which commits the UK government by law to
reducing greenhouse gas emissions by at least 100% of 1990 levels by 2050. In 2021
the UK committed a ‘world leading’ 78% reduction target by 2035, set out in the
Climate Change Committee’s Sixth Carbon Budget.

The Planning for Climate Change SPD sits in the context of the National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF2023). Pursuant to the Climate Change Act, this sets out that
the overarching environmental objectives of the planning system include ‘using natural
resources prudently, minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to
climate change, including moving to a low carbon economy’.

This SPD is part of the wider set of actions previously agreed by the Council to deliver
on the Declaration, outlined in a Climate and Nature Emergency Action Plan?. It also
responds to both the Community Matters Corporate Plan 2020-2024% commitment to
‘ensuring sustainability is at the centre of our decisions to preserve resources and the
environment for future generations’, and the emerging draft Corporate Plan 2024-
2028* and its priority of ‘protecting our climate, coast and natural world’.

The SPD focuses on new development. Taking new homes as an example, a
representative 3-bed terraced house built in the last decade consumes 124 KWh of
energy per square meter per annum, of which 95 KWh as gas, and emits about 2
tonnes of CO2 per annum from gas consumption alone (mostly for water and space
heating)®. Best practice energy efficient homes consume around 15 KWh/m?/year for
heating, do not use gas (or oil) boilers, and are carbon neutral in operation if their
electricity is provided from renewable or nuclear sources.

To put a dwelling figure in context, of the New Forest district carbon dioxide emissions
that are within the scope of influence of local authorities, 25% of these emissions in
2020 arose from natural gas use - 20% from domestic heating and 5% from
commercial and other uses®.

The SPD complements the Council's Greener Housing Strategy’ which addresses
decarbonising the Council’'s own affordable house building programme and affordable
housing stock and working with private owners and landlords to help decarbonise
existing homes. As part of the Greener Housing Strategy, it is intended that new
affordable housing schemes designed and built by the Council will be constructed to
the draft Future Homes standard?.

THE REVISED PLANNING FOR CLIMATE CHANGE SPD DOCUMENT

Consultation on the draft SPD took place between 23 May and 11" July 2023. There
were 32 respondents to the consultation which can be broadly categorised as follows:

1 NPPF paragraph 8

2 Climate change - New Forest District Council

3 Corporate_plan_17.11.21.pdf (newforest.gov.uk)

4 Corporate_Plan_2024 -2028_ Consultation_Draft Cabinet_1.pdf (newforest.gov.uk)

5 Energy consumption in new domestic buildings 2015 to 2017, BEIS 2019, and Greenhouse gas reporting:
conversion factors, BEIS 2021. Based on an EPC B-rated new build home with a gas boiler in 2017, sample
size 93,967 homes.

6 UK local authority and regional greenhouse gas emissions national statistics, 2020 data (ONS 2022)

7 Greener Housing Strategy, Item 11, Cabinet report 6 July 2022

8 The future Homes Standard sets out envisaged changes to the Building Regulations proposed to come into
effect in 2025, including 75-80% lower CO2 emissions than 2020 standards, and a proposed ban on the
installation of gas boilers in new homes.

50


https://www.newforest.gov.uk/article/3112/Climate-change
https://www.newforest.gov.uk/media/177/Corporate-Plan-2020-24/pdf/Corporate_plan_17.11.21.pdf?m=637727366208830000
https://www.newforest.gov.uk/media/3751/Corporate-Plan-2024-2028-consultation-draft/pdf/Corporate_Plan_2024_-2028_Consultation_Draft_Cabinet_1.pdf?m=1701863609077
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/energy-consumption-in-new-domestic-buildings-2015-to-2017-england-and-wales
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-gas-reporting-conversion-factors-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-gas-reporting-conversion-factors-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-greenhouse-gas-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2020
https://democracy.newforest.gov.uk/documents/g7505/Public%20reports%20pack%2006th-Jul-2022%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

e 14 residents/individuals

8 developers/planning agents/landowners

3 town/parish councils

3 national organisations (government agencies)
3 local organisations

1 utility company.

There were several respondents who felt that the SPD does not go far enough and
more stringent standards should be rigorously imposed. Some respondents from the
development industry consider that the SPD will be overly bureaucratic and an
additional burden on those trying to bring forward development.

Whilst the SPD will provide the context for the provision of further information from
developers to enable consideration of whether development will comply with policies
STR1 and ENV3, members should note that it is not possible to introduce new
requirements or development standards without progressing those policies through a
local plan review. The SPD seeks to strike a balance between highlighting and
promoting best practice and ensuring that additional burdens or costs that could make
development unviable are not made requirements as a result of the content of the
SPD.

A summary of all the representations received, with proposed responses to the matters
raised is set out at Annex 1 of this report. The response to representations has
informed the changes to the SPD prior to its recommended adoption.

The revised SPD document is attached at Annex 2. The main changes to the
document are as follows.

Part A

o Focus on new buildings rather than retrofit — clarification that the focus of
the SPD is on new buildings and masterplanning new development, rather
than retrofitting existing buildings. The document now signposts the Council's
Greener Housing Strategy and Historic England’s advice on retrofitting
historic buildings in its Climate Change Strategy.

o Explaining choices in balancing competing considerations - The
document also now highlights that where there is potential conflict between
the need to respect local distinctiveness or heritage issues in design terms,
and the need to address climate change through design, the developer’s
preferred approach and its justification should be articulated in the design and
access statement and the climate change statement.

o References - A reference to the Cranborne Chase AONB Management Plan
has been added.

Part B

o Scope of SPD — clarification that the guidance on what needs to be
submitted with a planning application refers to new buildings and that it is not
applicable to applications for changes of use, retrofitting existing buildings or
householder applications. Clarification has been added that SUDS are
applicable to minor as well as major development.

o Influence of SPD - Text has been added to make it clear that it is unlikely
that planning applications will be refused if the development fails to meet the

51



5.1

52

6.1

best practice standards set out in the SPD. It is important to note that
additional standards or policy requirements cannot be added through an SPD
which can only provide guidance on the implementation of adopted local plan
policies STR1 and ENV3. The information provided will allow the developer to
articulate their case as to how their development meets these policies.

o Aiding applicants - Responding to representations that the SPD will require
an overly bureaucratic burden on applicants which could delay development
from coming forward, the SPD has been amended to include a proforma to
assist with providing relevant information in a consistent format. This will
hopefully provide further clarity for applicants and reduce the prospect of
insufficient information being provided in support of the application.

Part C

o Net Zero Carbon Toolkit - This section is derived from the Net Zero Carbon
Toolkit, updated for NFDC circumstance. There have therefore been limited
changes to this section. However, text has been added to include a reference
to the potential use of modern methods of construction to reduce embodied
carbon on buildings. Text has also been added to reference smart controls
and energy storage which enable energy to be consumed, retained and
released according to specific energy demands.

o Referencing - References have been added to nature-based solutions in the
‘Supporting ecology and biodiversity’ section. The guidance in Natural
England's report ‘Carbon Storage and Sequestration by Habitat 2021’ is
signposted, as are the Partnership for South Hampshire’s ‘Green
Infrastructure Strategy’ and ‘Green Infrastructure Implementation Plan’. Whilst
these documents all contain information relevant to climate change mitigation
and adaption, it is considered appropriate to sign post the information rather
than repeat or try to summarise it in the Climate Change SPD.

NEXT STEPS

After any final editing, the SPD will be published on the Council’s website as both a
downloadable document and also reformatted as a web-version, alongside the
adoption and consultation statements. Training for planning officers and elected
members will be provided.

Most new planning policy documents are applied to the determination of all
applications from the point of adoption. However, in this case it is intended that the
best practice highlighted within the SPD should inform an iterative design process and
will be a particularly important aspect of pre-application discussion and advice. There
would also be the need to seek further information for current applications. The
specific circumstances applying to this SPD mean that it is recommended that it be
applied as a material consideration to all applications submitted after the adoption of
the SPD.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
There are no direct financial implications for the Council. However, development
viability may be affected as the achievement of more energy efficient and

environmentally sustainable buildings may impact on development costs whilst supply
chains and processes transition to higher standards and expectations. Equally

52



7.1

8.1

9.1

10.

10.1

10.2

development with lower energy running costs and improved environmental credentials
is likely to be more attractive to occupiers and may command a price premium.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

The Supplementary Planning Document sets out proposals which aim to ensure that
new development:

Reduces its impact on the environment by reducing greenhouse gas emissions that
contribute to climate change; and

Is resilient to the projected future effects of climate change on the environment.

CRIME & DISORDER, EQUALITY & DIVERSITY AND DATA PROTECTION
IMPLICATIONS

There are none.
PLACE & SUSTAINABILITY OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY PANEL COMMENTS

The Panel endorsed all the recommendations in the report. Members discussed how
the SPD would support the current Local Plan and would act as a springboard for the
development of the new Local Plan and in addressing climate matters. The Panel
made comments on securing renewable energy sources by way of using solar panels
in Council car parks and the issues of installation of heat pumps in existing
developments, which are outside the scope of this document as it relates to new
development.

PORTFOLIO HOLDER’S COMMENTS

Portfolio Holder for Environment and Sustainability: The adoption of this
supplementary planning document is a crucial step in addressing the climate and
nature emergency in our district, recognising that new development needs to play its
part in a sustainable and resilient future by reducing its carbon emissions.

Portfolio Holder for Planning and Economy: This document is important to
encourage new development to be more sustainably designed and resilient to weather
extremes in the future. This Council remains committed to working with the
development industry to promote best practice in this area, whilst continuing to deliver
the commitments set out in the adopted Local Plan.

For further information contact:

James Smith Background Papers:
Senior Policy Planner Officer, Policy and
Strategy None.

023 8028 5475
James.smith@nfdc.gov.uk

53



This page is intentionally left blank



GS

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

CLIMATE CHANGE SPD CONSULTATION SUMMARY & PROPOSED RESPONSES

Respondents
Respondent and reference number Respondent and reference number
01 VOID 23 VOID
02 VOID 24 M Smith
03 VOID 25 T Phillips
04 VOID 26 A Lawton
05 A Ford 27 Bargate Homes
06 VOID 28 Barratt David Wilson Homes
07 Wings Wildlife Heritage 29 Historic England
08 P Thomas 30 Stoford Developments
09 R Palmer 31 Persimmon Homes
10 Chapman Lilley Planning 32 McCarthy Stone
11 S Tonkin 33 New Milton Town Council
12 B Lord 34 New Forest Friends of the Earth
13 A Witt 35 Ringwood Town Council
14 A Elliott 36 VOID duplicates 20 Bloor Homes (Southern)
15 L Tonkin 37 Hordle Parish Council
16 VOID 38 National Highways
17 Southern Water 39 Fiddlesticks Farm
18 D Orme 40 Coal Authority
19 New Forest East Constituency Labour Party 41 L Everitt
20 Bloor Homes (Southern) 42 P Stickley
21 R Kent 43 Natural England
22 M Humber 44 Cranborne Chase AONB

VOID responses were either online responses started but left incomplete, duplicated responses or responses invalidated as they lacked a

respondent name or address.

Page 1 of 71




9G

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

Summary of responses

CC SPD Purpose and objectives

Q1. What are your views on the main aims of the CC SPD as summarised in paragraph 2-3? (Section A provides general context, including on
the role of the planning system).

Views on the main objectives ranged from ‘insufficiently ambitious’ (most individual respondents) to ‘laudable but unduly onerous’, including
viability implications (some development interests).

Amongst some development interests a common theme was that carbon, energy efficiency and other climate related matters should be left to
National Building Regulations and any forthcoming national planning standards, rather than creating more burdens at planning application
stage, especially as their planned evolution could render much of the draft SPD out-of-date. Encouragingly some developer responses were
more supportive and described positive and forward-looking approaches they were already working on or delivering, whilst noting the need for
some flexibility — which the draft SPD ‘best endeavours’ approach enables.

NE commented that the SPD could be much stronger in recognising and requiring the role of the natural environment in tackling climate change

From Representations NFDC Response

05 A Ford Lacks protection for green belt land and wildflower meadows or habitats from | These matters are covered by existing
development. national and local plan policies and are

outside of the scope of the SPD

09 R Palmer "Zero carbon ready" cannot be used as a get out clause to not undertake Comment noted — whilst it is considered
necessary steps to decarbonise new developments. There should be a target | appropriate to require a climate change
date after which all new developments should be zero carbon to give clear statement, it would not be within the bounds
direction and an aim for the council. of current government guidance or the

adopted local plan policy to require zero
carbon development.

10 Chapman The aims and objectives of the draft SPD are laudable but onerous and place | The SPD encourages developers to make
Lilley Planning | yet more burdens upon applicants - at a time when financial constraints have | best endeavours towards achieving
consistently increased across the sector. The requirements, both in terms of challenging best practice standards
resource and the financial implications of these extra reports (someone's got | independently identified in the Net Zero

to pay for their completion / production!). Additional work will be required by Carbon Toolkit. In an SPD these cannot be
the planning consultant / architect to complete a Climate Change Statement, | set as mandatory targets.

but many schemes will not be in a position to give precise answers to the
guestions sought in the Statement.

Page 2 of 71




LS

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

From

Representations

NFDC Response

The NPPF Para 152 talks about ‘encourage and support' not regulate and
obfuscate or add additional burdens to business.

So, before adoption, the LPA must ask itself the following questions and be
satisfied with their own answers;

1. Para 4 page 6 - As explained, much of the information requested may not
be known at the early stages of application. The design and build stage often
comes after the cost and delays in getting a planning permission (if
forthcoming) in the first place.

2. Any such information submitted may need to change during the processing
of the application when the LPA requires design amendments - so floor areas
/ volumes / detailed design will change - will the CCS need to be updated?

3. As with any planning policy -the requirement's must (amongst others) be
clear, precise and enforceable. Who in the LPA will check the specifications
on the drawings have actually been implemented? If the answer to this is 'no-
one' or 'no capacity' or 'planners do not have the necessary skills to check'
then the requirements are somewhat meaningless.

4. As with all design standards and Building Regulation requirements, these
constantly change. It is highly likely that even during the processing of the
application, the requirements will change.

5. The LPA must make it clear as to the weighting placed upon this issue as a
material planning consideration - i.e. are you going to seriously approve a
planning application that in your opinion fails to meet one of the other Local
Plan polices but as the development is so 'sustainable' this overrides other
policy considerations? Officers should be given the opportunity to reach such
conclusions otherwise the weight of the SPD will diminish to a point where it
loses its credibility.

The proposed Climate Change Statement
brings information largely already sought at
planning applications stage (in other
documents on the Local Information
Requirements list) into one comprehensive
document. Regarding outline applications,
technical information is stated to be required
at detailed design stage, not at the outset if
that detail is not yet part of the application.

It is expected that developers will check
specifications on drawings have been
implemented as shown on the drawing, as
they will do for all aspects of the
development. The LPA will monitor a sample
of schemes being implemented and deal with
any complaints in the usual way.

Noted.

Each application will be determined on its
own merits.

Member and officer training will be
undertaken following adoption of the SPD
and then form part of regular training for
Planning Committee members.

Page 3 of 71




8G

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

From Representations NFDC Response

6. What Member training will you put in place to ensure the Planning The developer will need to ensure that a

Committee takes the SPD into account? scheme complies with Building Regulations.
It should not make any difference whether

7. Will there be liaison between the LPA and its own Building Control team to | this is achieved through LABC or an

assess different options put forward in the CCS? How will this work if the Approved Inspectors.

applicant doesn't know at the application stage (many don't) whether they will | Zero carbon and zero carbon ready buildings

use LABC or Approved Inspectors? do not necessarily have to conflict with
respecting local distinctiveness and will need

8. Have you thought how innovative design to meet the requirements of the to be delivered to meet national carbon

SPD might conflict with Policy STR1 on Local Distinctiveness? reduction (2035) and zero carbon (2050)
targets. Should the applicant consider that
there is conflict between innovative design
and local distinctiveness, the justification for
the proposal should be articulated in the
design and access statement.

11 S Tonkin Lacks a timescale for being capable of running without carbon emissions Comment noted — whilst it is considered
appropriate to require a climate change
statement, it would not be within the bounds
of current government guidance to set a
timescale to operate without carbon
emissions.

15 L Tonkin This is effectively guidance and recommended practice. If developers choose | Comment noted — whilst it is considered

not to take it into account, there is no statutory enforcement. In the same way
that the Local Plan stipulates 'a requirement for larger developments to have
at least 50% affordable and social housing' and yet NFDC repeatedly passes
developments with 25%.

appropriate to require a climate change
statement, it would not be within the bounds
of current government guidance or the
adopted local plan policy to require zero
carbon development.

19 New Forest
East

The proposals in this document come across as advisory and give a lot of
"get-outs" for the developers. Would it be possible to update the Local Plan

The Local Plan review will continue to
address climate change matters and would

Constituency Policies to ensure there are mandatory elements? be the appropriate process to update any
Labour Party local plan policies.

20 Bloor Bloor Homes supports the preparation of the Planning for Climate Change Comment noted.

Homes Supplementary Planning Document. The effects of climate change have the

Southern

Page 4 of 71




6G

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

From

Representations

NFDC Response

potential to have long lasting impacts on development, as well as potentially
contributing to GHG emissions.

We believe that the Council’s aims to reduce operational carbon in buildings,
reduce embodied carbon and ensure development is resilient to future
climate change broadly aligns with the Governments ambitions to improve
building standards over time. However, any specific requirements which go
beyond the current Local Plan and national guidance need to be supported by
an appropriate evidence base, including a viability assessment (see response
on costs under CCS2).

We would note that in terms of operational carbon emissions it is the
Government’s stated aim in the Future Homes Standard (FHS) consultation in
2019 that the 2025 FHS provides Net Zero Ready homes which are future
proofed and do not require retrofitting to operate Net Zero, ‘We have said that
from 2025, the Future Homes Standard will deliver homes that are zero-
carbon ready’. The 2025 FHS consultation is due this year and will provide
clarity on the overall carbon reduction required from new homes, as well as
guidance on how this might be achieved.

Currently the Building Regulations do not take account of embodied carbon,
however it is noted that a number of national guidance documents including
the RIBA 2030 challenge, LETI Design guidance and the Net Zero Buildings
Standard set out guidance on the measurement and reduction of embodied
carbon. Bloor Homes are exploring the impact of embodied carbon as part of
the first step in reducing this impact. At this stage we would be cautious about
setting specific embodied carbon targets until further information on the
feasibility, deliverability and viability of potential targets have been
considered. This would be best reserved for National Policy.

In terms of adaptation the UK Climate Projections (UKCP18) set out the likely
effects of climate change in the UK, these include increasing annual
temperatures, increasing winter rainfall and decreasing summer rainfall. In
respect of the climate projections the UK Climate Change Risk Assessment

Comments on the broad alignment between
SPD and national policy objectives
welcomed.

The best practice objectives identified in the
SPD are sourced from independent industry
experts. The SPD ‘best endeavours’
approach provides scope for applicants to
explain what they can and cannot achieve,
and to justify why other standards may
represent best endeavours for a given
development. A best endeavours approach
provides scope to take into account the wider
planning balance including any evidence that
achieving higher climate and energy
standards would impact unacceptably on
development returns.

It is noted that Building Regulations do not
address embodied carbon. The SPD does
not set specific embodied carbon targets but
requires that developers address the issue in
their climate change statement.

The SPD does not require developers to
meet the cost of mitigating carbon from
electric vehicle charging. However, on-site
renewable energy generation will be an
essential component of the transition to net
zero carbon emissions in line with national

policy.

Page 5 of 71




09

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

From

Representations

NFDC Response

identifies likely impacts as a results of climate change, these in turn help
support changes to policy and guidance to tackle the impacts of climate
change. As such key issues affecting the built environment around subjects of
flood risk, overheating, biodiversity, water efficiency have been incorporated
into key guidance to mitigate these effects. Post 2025 one of the greatest
demands for unregulated energy in new homes will be to charge an electric
vehicle. Bloor Homes considers it unreasonable to assume that they, as a
housebuilder, should effectively meet the cost of mitigating carbon from
charging an electric vehicle.

If it is the intention that best practice targets are to be included we believe
these should be aligned with the RIBA 2030 Climate Challenge targets, these
provide a more realistic set of targets in terms of cost and deliverability.

In this context we recommend that the Best Practice element of Policy CCS1
is updated to reflect this.

Specifications for new build fabric efficiency for residential development
should target the operational energy targets set out in RIBA 2030 Climate
Challenge, setting progressive targets from 2025 to 2030.

As part of the consultation the Government also states it is the aim of the
2025 FHS to provide zero carbon ready homes which are future proofed and
do not require retrofitting to operate Net Zero, ‘We have said that from 2025,
the Future Homes Standard will deliver homes that are zero-carbon ready.
We intend to set the performance standard of the Future Homes Standard at
a level which means that new homes will not be built with fossil fuel heating,
such as a natural gas boiler. These homes will be future-proofed with low
carbon heating and high levels of energy efficiency. No further energy
efficiency retrofit work will be necessary to enable them to become zero-
carbon as the electricity grid continues to decarbonise. Our work on a full
technical specification for the Future Homes Standard has been accelerated
and we will consult on this in 2023. We also intend to introduce the necessary
legislation in 2024, ahead of implementation in 2025’.

Comment noted, however, the Council
consider that the Net Zero Carbon Toolkit
which uses the LETI standard best practice
standards, is appropriate for use in the SPD.

Energy efficiency targets will not exceed
Building Regulations requirements, as set out
in the Written Ministerial Statement —
Planning — Local Energy Efficiency Standards
Update — 13/12/23.

The SPD does not require the best practice
objective (zero carbon in operation) and
allows for development to meet the
secondary objective (zero carbon ready).

Page 6 of 71




19

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

From

Representations

NFDC Response

While we believe the best practice objective (zero carbon in operation goes
beyond national guidance and goes too far, we believe the provision of the
secondary objective (zero carbon ready) is in alignment with national policy
and guidance.

21 R Kent

There would appear to be significant risk that this proposal ends up
duplicating the requirements of the Building Regulations. It would be more
efficient, logical and holistic if the requirements for addressing climate change
and building fabric, requirement for on-site renewables / embedded carbon
need to be set CENTRALLY and NATIONALLY and not subject to duplication
/ (mis)interpretation by local planning authorities.

As we all know the UK planning system is in enough of a mess with
inconsistency and incoherence between different planning authorities - the
last thing we need is yet more piecemeal bureaucracy whereby LPAs are
going to ask applicants to spell out what they will be required to do under the
Regs anyway. In my opinion planning should become more centralised (by
County, or even national) - most planning application simply need to adhere
to National policy with only a small proportion that are subject to local
idiosyncrasies, which could be covered by the necessary additional forms.
It will be the case with the majority of planning applications in needing to
adhere to the elements set out in this proposal. The key elements are
covered by Parts G and L of the Building Regs.

At a time when funding for local authorities is strained, let's waste time, effort
& money recreating the wheel. If a planning application is going to be built
out it will need to comply with the Building Regs particular to that application.
NFDC would bet better off investing resources in policing the implementation
of Building Regs rather than creating more hurdles at planning. Applicants
can promise the most highly performing insulation at planning, but then go on
to install the cheapest mineral fibre. | pass building sites all the time with
newbuilds with a bit of mineral wood loosely dropped into a 100mm cavity.
No one is policing this, no one is checking and when it's all sealed up no one
will know. Far better to require Building Control Officers / Approved

The Building Regulations and the Future
Homes/Buildings changes planned to them (if
they are implemented) have been widely
criticised as falling well short of what can
already be readily achieved by best practice
approaches.

The business-as-usual approach to
development based on BR compliance also
fails to address what can be achieved by
good design to utilise natural/passive heating
and colling/ventilation to best effect, as the
compliance assessment process takes the
development design (regardless of any
shortcomings) as a given.

Where there is thematic overlap with BR, the
SPD targets the initial design stage to
improve the prospects for achieving BR
compliance without recourse to sub-optimal
bolt-on fixes such as air conditioning.

The SPD will help to explain how to comply
with policies STR1 & ENV3 of the adopted
Local Plan.

Comment noted. The Council considers that
to fully address climate change
considerations it needs to implement building
regulations and approach the issue at the
planning/site design stage.

Page 7 of 71




¢9

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

From

Representations

NFDC Response

Inspectors to be far more vigilant in checking with severe penalties for non-
compliance with the Regs (Part L in particular).

22 M Humber

Net zero requires brave decisions. Moving green belt areas to National Park
boundaries. Building terraced Passive housing with triple glazing, using grey
water, all roofs to have solar panels and high levels of insulation. Windows
facing the sun. Occupants will have low costs for utilities. If not homes in the
future will have to be retro fitted which will be costly.

Comment noted. The SPD supports
implementation of adopted local plan policies
within the bounds of the policy and
government guidance.

26 Alex
Lawton

About right

Comment noted.

27 Bargate
Homes

Table 1 (page 15) of the SPD details the items expected to be covered by
Climate Change Statements which are set to become a validation
requirement. Indeed, paragraph 44 of the SPD states that some of the
requirements for these statements are challenging, given the scale and
urgency of the climate challenge. Bargate Homes agree with this sentiment
and are committed to taking meaningful steps to bring forward development
which rises to this challenge.

It is welcome that something of a ‘sequential approach’ to building design in
meeting Future Homes standard is set out by the SPD, where developers are
encouraged to go as far as may be possible in meeting this standard, whilst
still acknowledging that this may not be achievable in all instances for any
variety of reasons.

Support and recognition that the SPD has
some flexibility in approach is welcomed.

28 BDW
Homes

Raise concerns with the KPI targets for energy use and space heating,
respectively 35 and 15 kWh/m?/year, and recommend that the heating KPI be
removed and the EUI KPI be replaced with a range of values to allow for
flexibility in design and typology.

The space heating KPI is equivalent to PassivHaus standard (as the draft
SPD notes). Typologies such as bungalows and ‘room in roof’ dwellings
would struggle to achieve this due to their form factor. This standard would

The KPIs are stated to be best practice
values that developments should target
achieving. They are an integral part of the
independent Net Zero Carbon toolkit which is
an indivisible part of the SPD document.
They are not fixed targets that have to be
met, and it is acknowledged that they may
not always be achievable (see for example
SPD paras 44-55 ‘Best practice and best
endeavours’).

Page 8 of 71




€9

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

From Representations NFDC Response
require changes to the design of homes and layout of sites, there are supply | The intention of the SPD is that it will support
chain and skills challenges to its implementation, and viability implications. the need to change the design of homes and
layout of sites to achieve compliance with
adopted local plan policies STR1 & ENV3.
Passivhaus is not required to achieve net-zero carbon. A recent report by the
UK Green Building Council set out that achieving the equivalent of
PassivHaus standards would amount to £263/m2 of additional build cost, It is agreed that zero carbon in operation can
potentially creating a significant barrier to the entry of SME developers. be achieved in other ways, but higher values
for total energy use and space heating would
mean that the building would require more
energy (and cost) to run than a best practice
example.
30 Stoford We fully endorse the objectives of the draft Planning for Climate Change SPD | Support welcomed

Developments
Ltd

and consider it provides the right level of detail for addressing climate change
in planning applications, to meet Local Plan requirements.

We support the requirement to provide a Climate Change Statement to
accompany a planning application containing information pertinent to climate
change mitigation and zero carbon, and climate change adaption.

31 Persimmon
Homes

The aims and objectives of the draft SPD are laudable and supported in
principle in terms of encouraging zero carbon ready construction, however,
they are unduly onerous and place yet more burdens upon applicants - at a
time when financial constraints have consistently increased across the sector.
The requirements, both in terms of resource and the financial implications of
these extra reports (Reports need to be outsourced and prepared by
specialist consultants who obviously require a fee for their completion /
production and have a lead in time for instruction and completion). Additional
work will be required by the planning consultant / architect to complete a
Climate Change Statement, but many schemes will be at an early feasibility
stage and therefore will not be in a position to give precise answers to the
guestions sought in the Statement. Such requirements are better achieved by
requiring development to meet the current Building Regulation standard in
force at the time of construction /completion.

The SPD encourages developers to make
best endeavours towards achieving
challenging best practice standards
independently identified in the Net Zero
Carbon Toolkit. In an SPD these cannot be
set as mandatory targets.

Page 9 of 71




9

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

From

Representations

NFDC Response

We would direct you back to government advice contained in the National
Planning Practice Framework (NPPF) Para 152 which talks about ‘encourage
and support' not regulate and obfuscate or add additional burdens to
business.

We would also recommend, that before adoption of the SPD, the LPA must
ask itself the following questions as to their own internal capacity and
expertise and be entirely satisfied with their ability to interpret and understand
the breadth and depth of the reports the SPD is requiring in order for this
additional cost to be meaningful;

(a) Para 4 page 6 - As explained, much of the information requested may not
be known at the early stages of application. The design and build stage often
comes after the cost and delays in getting a planning permission (if
forthcoming) in the first place.

(b) Any such information submitted may need to change during the
processing of the application when the LPA requires design amendments - so
floor areas / volumes / detailed design will change - will the CCS need to be
updated?

(c) As with any planning policy - the requirement's must (amongst others) be
clear, precise and enforceable. Who in the LPA will check the specifications
on the drawings have actually been implemented? If the answer to this is 'no-
one' or 'no capacity' or 'planners do not have the necessary skills to check'
then the requirements are somewhat meaningless.

(d) As with all design standards and Building Regulation requirements, these
constantly change. It is highly likely that even during the processing of the
application, the requirements will change — how will the LPA deal with this?
(e) The LPA must make it clear as to the weighting placed upon this issue as
a material planning consideration - i.e. are you going to seriously approve a
planning application that in your opinion fails to meet one of the other Local
Plan polices but as the development is so 'sustainable’ this overrides other
policy considerations? Officers should be given the opportunity to reach such
conclusions otherwise the weight of the SPD will diminish to a point where it
loses its credibility.

The proposed Climate Change Statement
brings information largely already sought at
planning applications stage (in other
documents on the Local Information
Requirements list) into one comprehensive
document. Regarding outline applications,
technical information is stated to be required
at detailed design stage, not at the outset if
that detail is not yet part of the application.

It is expected that developers will check
specifications on drawings have been
implemented as shown on the drawing, as
they will do for all aspects of the
development. The LPA will monitor a sample
of schemes being implemented and deal with
any complaints in the usual way.

Noted.

Each application will be determined on its
own merits.

Member and officer training will be
undertaken following adoption of the SPD
and then form part of regular training for
Planning Committee members.

The developer will need to ensure that a
scheme complies with Building Regulations.

Page 10 of 71




G9

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

From Representations

NFDC Response

contents of officer reports?

use LABC or Approved Inspectors?

(f) What Member training will you put in place to ensure the Planning
Committee takes the SPD into account and understands the figures and

(g) Will there be liaison between the LPA and its own Building Control team to
assess different options put forward in the CCS? How will this work if the
applicant doesn't know at the application stage (many don't) whether they will

(h) Have you thought how ‘innovative design’ to meet the requirements of the
SPD might conflict with Policy STR1 on Local Distinctiveness? Which will
take precedent? For example, a home designed to the latest eco home
specifications but is not a replica of the surrounding development?

It should not make any difference whether
this is achieved through LABC or an
Approved Inspectors.

Zero carbon and zero carbon ready buildings
do not necessarily have to conflict with
respecting local distinctiveness and will need
to be delivered to meet national carbon
reduction (2035) and zero carbon (2050)
targets. Should the applicant consider that
there is conflict between innovative design
and local distinctiveness, the justification for
the proposal should be articulated in the
design and access statement.

32 McCarthy Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the New Forest District Climate
Stone Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) consultation (‘draft SPD’),
June 2023. McCarthy Stone is the leading provider of specialist housing for

older people in the UK. Please find below our comments on the consultation.

Whilst it is acknowledged that para 2 of the draft SPD states that it sets ‘out
best practice approaches or standards that developers are encouraged to
target or to adopt, to take all practicable steps to decarbonise the running of
buildings; to meaningfully reduce embodied carbon in construction; and to
ensure development is climate change adapted’ and that ‘The aim is to
ensure that designs are climate change optimised before planning
applications are submitted’. It appears that the aim of the draft SPD is to
require developers to deliver ‘net zero’ development as it requires information
to be provided with a planning application to meet such standards and for
developers to identify why such targets are not being delivered.

The Council should note that the PPG on ‘Plan Making’ identifies the role of
supplementary planning documents. This identifies at paragraph: 008
Reference ID: 61-008-20190315 that ‘Supplementary planning documents
(SPDs) should build upon and provide more detailed advice or guidance on
policies in an adopted local plan. As they do not form part of the development

The Local Plan policies that the SPD
provides supplementary guidance on are
noted in the SPD document at appendix A.
As the Local Plan does not have a policy that
explicitly sets a zero-carbon requirement, it is
correct that the SPD cannot require it, and it
does not. The SPD encourages best
endeavours towards that objective with a
secondary objective of being ‘zero carbon
ready’ that reflects Policy STR1 which
requires that development be future proofed
for climate change, and also reflects
emerging national policy (such as the Future
Homes standard, consistent with NPPF para
152 guidance that ‘the planning system
support the transition to a low carbon future
in a changing climate’ and ‘should help to:
shape places in ways that contribute to
radical reductions in greenhouse gas
emissions’).

Page 11 of 71




99

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

From Representations NFDC Response
plan, they cannot introduce new planning policies into the development plan. | The intention of the SPD is that it will support
They are however a material consideration in decision-making. They should the implementation of adopted local plan
not add unnecessarily to the financial burdens on development’. policies STR1 & ENV3.
Given the Local Plan policies, any requirement or SPD should remain in line
with Government targets and the proposed changes to the building
regulations. There is considerable momentum from Government in preparing
enhanced sustainability standards and it is clear the energy efficiency
requirements for domestic and non-domestic buildings will increase sharply in
the coming years and aligning the Council’s requirement for carbon neutral
development with those of Government would be consistent with national
policy.
Recommendation: Comment noted. There is no need for the
[0 The SPD is either not taken forward as Net Zero Carbon development is SPD to repeat the requirements of Building
being dealt with via the Building Regulations or the draft SPD should be Regulations. It will, however, support the
substantially amended so that the guidance aligns with the timetable for the implementation of adopted local plan policies
changes to the building regulations. STR1 & ENV3 in relation to the design of

buildings and layout of the site.

Thank you for the opportunity for comment.

35 Ringwood Overall, this is an excellent SPD. Like the similar work in the Ringwood Support welcomed.

Town Council | Neighbourhood Plan, it is based on the LETI guidance, the Net Zero Carbon

Toolkit, the use of Building for a Healthy Life and using standards such as
BREEAM. It is strongly supported. The following comments are made with a
view to improving certain aspects and are not intended to be critical of the
overall aims of the SPD.

It is also worth noting that a significant proportion of carbon used in a
development is not in the buildings themselves. Concrete and tarmac have
very high footprints. It would be good to see an SPD addressing ‘abnormals’,
which would be within the scope of ENV3. High ‘abnormals’ costs in financial
viability assessments likely link with similarly high carbon costs. It is hoped
that future Strategic Site allocations will take this into account.

It could go further. The concept of ‘net zero ready’ to ‘future proof is flawed
for new builds. Why wait until tomorrow when the implementation can be

Comment on materials used for construction
of roads/pavements within a site are noted.
The SPD has taken an approach to
embodied carbon that is considered
appropriate in terms of adopted local plan
policies and government guidance.

The SPD can only supplement adopted local
plan policies. Changes to the Building
Regulations are likely to prevent the
installation of gas boilers from 2025.

Page 12 of 71




L9

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

From Representations NFDC Response
done today? However, we accept that this is the wording in the current Local
Plan. No new building should have gas-supplied boilers. If this SPD allows The SPD is a step toward zero carbon
that, it is flawed. consistent with current local plan policies.
Further steps such as setting fixed minimum
On the table on p15, we would like to see more Y’s. Heat pumps in minor standards would need to be introduced as
developments — why not? Smart energy systems in non-domestic building — part of a future local plan review.
why not? We are also unconvinced by categories on this table. “2c Option to | The Council considers that it has struck an
purchase PV pre-installation” — why? To get to zero operational energy, appropriate balance between asking
renewables are required. For most builds, these will be PV, although roof- developers to address climate considerations
based wind turbine options are becoming available. “Design to Building fora | in new development without unduly
Healthy Life” — why ‘Y’ for only developments of 50+ dwellings? Add in burdening smaller developments. Building
“Rainwater capture/reuse”? More Y’s and better categories please. for a Healthy Life is more relevant for larger
developments.
38 National We have reviewed this consultation and have no comments. Comment noted.
Highways

39 Fiddlesticks
Farm

Local authorities should consider climate change mitigation and adaptation
throughout the Local Plan and application process, and hence we support
NFDC'’s broad strategy and approach, based around the following

themes (Table 1):

. Minimising energy demand targeting net zero carbon in operation;
. On-site renewable energy generation;

. Reducing embodied carbon emissions;

. Sustainable travel;

. Avoiding overheating;

. Flood risk reduction and sustainable urban drainage;

. Drought resilience and using water efficiently.

NoO o~ WNPRE

We support NFDC in seeking to make progress against the above aims, and
we recognise that as a major housing site, development at Fiddlesticks Farm
should positively address each. As a landowner, our client attaches great
value to sustainability and creating a positive legacy, and these will be
prioritised when a development partner is selected. Many climate change

Support noted and welcomed.

Page 13 of 71




89

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

From

Representations

NFDC Response

mitigation and adaptation measures relate to the detailed design stage and so
we do not provide detailed commentary now.

We do not offer detailed commentary on validation requirements and the
wording of individual policies at this stage, other than to encourage NFDC to
maintain appropriate flexibility in its approach. In saying this we are mindful
that (i) this SPD affects all forms of development in the District; (ii) individual
developments are affected differently by financial, viability and other issues;
and (iii) climate change mitigation/adaptation is a rapidly evolving field, such
that the specific measures to deliver sustainability will evolve and improve
over time.

We look forward to receiving updates as this SPD progresses and to working
closely with NFDC on Local Plan matters.

40 The Coal
Authority

As New Forest District Council lies outside the defined coalfield, the Planning
team at the Coal Authority has no specific comments to make.

Comment noted.

42 P Stickley

Thank you for providing a link to your email inbox. | am impressed that you
undertake to seek public opinion about the way such policies are at least
drafted; | hope that this attitude is deeply entrenched in other LAs.

Comment noted.

43 Natural
England

Climate change is already having a profound impact on nature and society in
England and across the world. The projected scale and rate of climate
change, coupled with existing environmental pressures, has serious
implications for the natural environment and the services it provides to
society. In response, many local authorities across England are formally
declaring a climate change emergency and are now looking for practical
steps to address it. The faster that greenhouse gas emissions can be
reduced, the more the overall pressure on the natural environment will be
reduced. The land use planning and development process is a key sector in
driving down emissions and fighting the impacts of climate change.

Your developing SPD provides a prime opportunity to deliver local but
necessary measures in tackling this existential problem.

Natural England welcomes your Council’'s development of a Climate Change
SPD that promotes mitigation and adaptation to climate change through
various methods. We welcome that developers will be required to submit a

Comments noted.

Advice on nature-based mechanisms to
address climate change is welcomed. SPD
to be amended to include references to
nature-based solutions and signpost the
Natural England report Carbon Storage and
Sequestration by Habitat 2021 and the

Page 14 of 71




69

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

From

Representations

NFDC Response

Climate Change Statement (CCS) to demonstrate how they will implement
mitigation and adaptation measures such as the integration of low carbon
technologies and renewable energy generation, energy efficient design,
reduced carbon emissions from construction phase, sustainable travel and
the integration of green and blue infrastructure into development design such
as Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SuDS) and planting. We welcome
the incorporation of the Net Zero Carbon Toolkit (NZCT), updated for the
NFDC circumstances. However, overall, we feel the SPD can be much
stronger in recognising and requiring the role of the natural environment in
tackling climate change. Please see more detailed advice and
recommendations below, particularly on nature-based solutions.

The SPD provides a prime opportunity for the Council to set an ambitious
climate-specific target(s) for reducing greenhouse gas emissions that can be
monitored over the Plan period, in line with the national commitment to
achieving the national statutory target of net zero emissions by 2050.
Meaningful targets should be monitorable over the local plan period to
demonstrate the effectiveness of local policy in addressing climate change,
and to ensure appropriate remedial action can be taken as necessary.

Council’s informal BNG guidance and the
forthcoming Biodiversity SPD.

The setting of more detailed targets is
considered more appropriate as part of a
local plan review, which would also provide
the opportunity to set minimum standards
rather than to encourage better practice.

44 Cranbourne
Chase AONB

The adopted AONB Management Plan has climate change running through it
so it should, | suggest, be a reference document for those parts of NFD that
are in this AONB.

| read that many of the proposals relate to development and may, therefore,
come within the overview of Building Control.

Cross reference to the AONB Management
Plan added to the SPD.

Page 15 of 71




0L

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

Benefits and costs of Net Zero carbon development

Q2. Would you be prepared to pay more to rent or purchase a home or premises that had higher energy efficiency standards and that was
more climate change resilient, but was otherwise of a comparable standard to current new builds?

From Comment NFDC Response
05 A Ford A stronger plan is needed for existing homes Agreed, but beyond the scope of this SPD
which relates to new development.
09 R Palmer Higher energy efficiency standards and developments being prepared for a Comment noted.
zero carbon future (e.g. renewable energy, heat pumps, EV charging) will
help to reduce costs for people living there, even with higher rents/house
prices. It's important for NFDC to communicate this to prospective house
buyers on the benefits of switching to zero carbon technology. However, this
should not be an excuse to charge significantly more for properties than
needed so as to discourage people.
10 Chapman This will inevitably put up the price of a home and make the possibilities of Wider industry evidence cited in the SPD
Lilley Planning | first time buyers even less affordable than it is already. It will also put up indicated that cost differentials typically range

rents. What is the point in having a low carbon building if you can even afford
a mortgage to get into it? Are you inadvertently discriminating against lower
income families and preventing them from getting a home? Your equalities
statement should be updated to reflect this consideration. Have you assessed
the full additional costs of providing a fully zero carbon building on the
purchase price?

from 2-6% and are likely to reduce over time.
Construction costs are a part of the cost of a
home, land value is a major factor, so any
construction cost increase does automatically
translate into an equivalent dwelling cost
increase.

Household running costs form part of the
evaluation of what mortgage applicants can
afford to borrow and spend. The lowest cost
market housing choices are almost always in
the existing housing stock. The Council does
not agree that the implementation of adopted
local plan policies STR1 & ENV3 will
increase purchase prices as developers will
generally set prices at the maximum the
market will bear.

Page 16 of 71




T,

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

There is no policy requirement to implement
the best practice measures contained in the
SPD.

11 S Tonkin The long-term costs will be much greater if we don't get a handle on this very | Comment noted.
soon!

12 B Lord Page 15 - Table 1 - Line 4b Design to Building a Healthy Life. The building of | The principles contained in the Design to
10-49 homes should be seen as major development, therefore No should be Building a Healthy Life document and that
changed to Yes in the column. are given a green, amber or red assessment

could be difficult to achieve on developments
of between 10 and 49 dwellings as they
contain criteria that relate to developments
that would be typically larger than 50
dwellings.

13 A Witt Given the small additional cost of meeting the standards and the likely length | Comment noted.
of mortgage applicable to the dwelling the cost is minimal and should not be a
barrier to making a development sustainable.

15 L Tonkin Climate change is not a choice, it is something we all have to mitigate, now. Comment noted.

19 New Forest
East

We feel the increased cost of rent or purchase should be offset by lower
running costs and a higher resale value for the occupant/owner. Plus the

Comment noted.

Constituency added benefit of slowing down climate change.

Labour Party

20 Bloor Any specific requirements which go beyond the current Local Plan and Wider industry evidence cited in the SPD
Homes national guidance need to be supported by an appropriate evidence base, including from the Climate Change
Southern including a viability assessment. Committee indicated that cost differentials

In adopting the SPD the Council should give consideration to the applicability
of any new guidance to current applications. In particular the best practice
objectives set out in the SPD potentially add significant additional cost into
development which will not have been considered as part of the development
viability. Such additional cost may also undermine the viability testing that
underpins the Council’'s CIL Charging Schedule. Any additional requirements
should be restricted to new applications coming forward after the adoption of
the SPD and cannot be reasonably retrospectively applied.

typically range from 2-6% and are likely to
reduce over time, especially as low or zero
carbon operation becomes a starting point for
stock housing designs rather than being
treated as a retrospective fix to existing
designs that should be evolved.
Construction costs are a part of the cost of a
home, land value is a major factor, so any
construction cost increase does not
automatically translate into an equivalent
dwelling cost increase as developers will

Page 17 of 71




L

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

generally set prices at the maximum the
market will bear. However, lower running
costs would be reflected in a price premium
compared to those without climate change
measures.

There is no policy requirement to implement
the best practice measures contained in the
SPD.

The SPD will be applied to all outstanding
planning applications at the time it is adopted
as is the case with all new planning policy
documents.

22 M Humber

Passive housing would be cheaper to run and would be better than the
standards we have at present. This is a loaded question.

Comment noted.

26 Alex
Lawton

May pay more if the standards achieved were commensurately higher. The
costs of achieving higher than regulatory standards at the time of construction
are lower than retrofitting properties to higher standards which will become
necessary to cope with the climate crisis. The benefits in terms of ongoing
reduction in operating costs and increased comfort of properties will only
increase as the climate worsens.

Comment noted.

30 Stoford
Developments
Ltd

Our buildings are designed to minimise the embodied carbon in construction,
and to reduce the amount of energy required to run the facilities.

Comment noted.

31 Persimmon
Homes

The ‘upfront’ additional costs of implementing these proposals will need to be
added to the dwelling market price, which will in turn price many first-time
buyers and renters out of the market — surely that is not your intention?

As explained above, these requirements will inevitably put up the price of a
home and make the possibilities of first-time buyers even less affordable than
it is already. It will also put-up rents. What is the point in having a low carbon
building if you can’t even afford a mortgage to get into it? Are you
inadvertently discriminating against lower income families and preventing
them from getting a home? Your equalities statement should be updated to

Wider industry evidence cited in the SPD
indicated that cost differentials typically range
from 2-6% and are likely to reduce over time.
Construction costs are a part of the cost of a
home, land value is a major factor, so any
construction cost increase does automatically
translate into an equivalent dwelling cost
increase.

Household running costs form part of the
evaluation of what mortgage applicants can
afford to borrow and spend. The lowest cost

Page 18 of 71




€L

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

reflect this consideration. Have you assessed the full additional costs of
providing a fully zero carbon building on the purchase price?

market housing choices are almost always in
the existing housing stock. The Council does
not agree that the implementation of adopted
local plan policies STR1 & ENV3 will
increase purchase prices as developers will
generally set prices at the maximum the
market will bear.

There is no policy requirement to implement
the best practice measures contained in the
SPD.

32 McCarthy
Stone

Whilst the Council’'s commitment to meeting net zero carbon emissions and
climate change targets are commendable the council do not appear to have a
sound planning policy basis to require net zero with the relevant polices, as
detailed in paragraph 1 of the draft SPD being, STR1 that states ‘All new
development will be expected to make a positive social, economic and
environmental contribution to community and business life in the Plan Area
by: ... vi. Ensuring that new development is adaptable to the future needs of
occupiers and future-proofed for climate change and innovations in transport
and communications technology’ and policy ENV3 ‘New development will be
required to: ... v. Incorporate design measures that improve resource
efficiency and climate change resilience and reduce environmental impacts
wherever they are appropriate and capable of being effective...’
Consequently, the SPD should not be taken forward as this would be contrary
to Paragraph: 008 Reference ID: 61-008-20190315 of PPG. Requiring
developers to build to net zero and other carbon reduction requirements goes
beyond the adopted Local Plan policy and has a cost implication that would
add an unnecessary financial burden to development again contrary to
Paragraph: 008 Reference ID: 61-008-20190315 of the PPG.

There is no policy requirement to implement
the best practice measures contained in the
SPD. The SPD does not require
development to be net zero carbon. The
intention of the SPD is that it will support the
implementation of adopted local plan policies
STR1 & ENVS.

33 New Milton | Buyers should not be forced to pay more at a time when all costs are rising The SPD would have no effect on the

TC and salaries are not keeping up. existing housing stock, which makes up the
vast majority of homes for rent or sale.

35 Ringwood May pay more if the standards achieved were commensurately higher. Comment noted.

Town Council

We believe people in Ringwood will be prepared to pay more. As a relatively
affluent area, a modest increase in capital outlay for the return of lower

Page 19 of 71




v.

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

operating costs would be attractive to most. A minor omission relates to so-
called Green Mortgages, where the ability to more easily afford mortgage
repayments is recognised by building societies. They have presumably
carried out the cost-benefit analysis, so we won’t comment further. We note
that a 10%, say, increase in build cost corresponds to something like a 3% of
the sales price of the property, as implied in paragraph 32.

Page 20 of 71




G

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

Minimising energy demand targeting net zero carbon in operation (CCS1)

Q3. What are your views on the proposed best practice objective that new buildings should be zero carbon in operation wherever possible, and
at the very least future proofed to be zero carbon ready?

From Comment NFDC Response

05 A Ford Existing buildings need to be carbon neutral as well as new ones. Comment noted — although beyond the
scope of this SPD which relates to new
development.

08 P Thomas | The UK and other affluent countries need to lead the way in reducing CO2 Comment noted. Existing buildings are
production to allow for countries which will not have the funding necessary to beyond the scope of this SPD which relates
reduce their CO2 production. to new development.

The country also needs to set higher CO2 reduction standards to mitigate

existing buildings which will be more difficult to insulate e.g. traditionally

constructed and heritage buildings.
10 Chapman 1. The preamble to CCS1 (Para 45) explains 'developers need to ensure their | As the Future Homes and Future Buildings
Lilley Planning | designs are capable of meeting the Future Homes and Future Buildings Standards reflect Building Regulations, there

Standards.' As explained previously, at the initial planning application stage,
this level of detail is not always known - plus the LPA will inevitably ask for
amendment (rarely does it suggest the building be made larger!) so all these
calculations will quite possibly change during the application process. Once
approved, the application will go through the Building Regulations process and
internal details and specifications no doubt change again.

2. Para 48 - is it really necessary to continually update the CCS? This is yet
more bureaucracy and paperwork which relates to more burdens upon the
applicant?

3. As ever, who from the Council is going to actually check the internal
incredibly detailed specifications are in accord with the CCS? What are you
going to do if they are not?

4. If you haven't done so already, please speak with your Economic
Development Officer regarding the requirement at Para 49 to obtain a BRE
New Constriction 'excellent’ standard. | know for a fact that a LPA in Dorset
removed this onerous requirement from its own Local Plan, as the feedback

is no change to the situation that developers
will need to ensure their designs are capable
of meeting building regulations.

Some degree of updating may be necessary
depending on the changes to an application.

It is expected that developers will check
specifications on drawings have been
implemented as shown on the drawing, as
they will do for all aspects of the
development. The LPA will monitor a
sample of schemes being implemented and
deal with any complaints in the usual way.
This an existing requirement in the adopted
local plan and can only be changed when
the local plan is reviewed.

Page 21 of 71




9,

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

from the commercial property sector was that in effect, it would stifle new build
industrial / commercial property and therefore cause the District to lose jobs.
Have you factored this commercial building viability/ job creation / retention
into your equalities statement and the effect this will have on job creation and
retention?

5. Will the submission of a CCS be a validation requirement? If so, who will be
qualified to check they are adequate?

6. Who is going to check that the detailed internal design of the building allows
it to be 'future proofed'?

7. The requirement (Page 20) for 'Inclusion of 'smart' energy use and heating
control and monitoring systems' is surely just going to be an annotation on a
plan with no real meaning for the planner.

8. CCS 1b states at one point ".....If this commitment is made the heating
system details can be dealt with by a planning condition' | would respectfully
suggest this would be classed a ultra vires and exceeds what is necessary to
grant planning permission. It does not meet the 6 tests at Para 55 of the
NPPF. Again - who is going to check?

9. CCS 1c providing 'calculations of the space heating demand.' again
exceeds what is necessary to grant planning permission and unduly onerous
on the applicant. How will this calculation be checked in any event?

10. An additional requirement is revealed in CCS 1e 'future proofing statement'
is yet another piece of paperwork required for no obvious reason.

11. CCS 1f Option to purchase heat pump......'buyers purchasing off-plan
should be given the opportunity to purchase from the developer heat pump
system pre-installation at a discounted supplementary cost." All reference to
this should be deleted - it is not relevant to planning and cannot be enforced.

Yes, ultimately there will be a planning
judgement as to whether it is adequate, in a
similar way to say a Transport Assessment,
for example.

The developer would be expected to
address this in the Climate Change
Statement.

There is no requirement to provide this
although it is recommended.

If the developer does not wish to include a
low carbon energy efficient heating system it
cannot be compelled to do so, subject to
compliance with Building Regulations,
although it would need to state this in its
climate change statement. The reference to
the condition will be deleted.

The information is to assist with assessing
whether the development complies with
Polices STR1 and ENV3 of the adopted local
plan. Developers should be considering
such matters at design stage prior to
applying for planning permission.

This is being encouraged as best practice

and is not a requirement.

If the developer does not wish to include
renewable energy generation it cannot be

Page 22 of 71




Ll

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

12. CCS 2a and CCS2b - as explained above, it is not always known at the
planning application stage. Does the LPA routinely check (a) that any
renewable energy required by a planning condition is actually installed (b) is
working in accord with the approved specifications and (c) continues to work
for the lifetime of the development?

13. CCS2c - see comment 11 above - not relevant to planning and not
enforceable so should be removed.

14. CCSC3a and b - as explained above - the construction process may not
yet be known.

15. CCSbha - as explained earlier, ‘choice of building materials surfaces and
hard landscaping' if fully sustainable in accord with the SPD may conflict with
the desires to keep developments 'locally distinctive' - there needs to be
more guidance upon how this conflict might be overcome.

16. CCSbha - the Good Homes Alliance early stage overheating tool
requirement is the THIRD additional document being requested by the LPA

compelled to do so, although it would need
to state this in its climate change statement.

This is being encouraged as best practice
and is not a requirement.

This is being encouraged as best practice
and is not a requirement.

In this circumstance occurs the developer
can articulate its reasoning in its climate
change statement/design and access
statement.

Comment noted.

11 S Tonkin No timescales for when future-proofing options are to be implemented. The SPD cannot set policy which could only
Too many exemptions for eg heat-pump or solar PV pre-installation options, be achieved through a review of the local
SUDs, reducing embodied carbon. plan or national policy. It does seek to

encourage best practice.

12 B Lord There's no indication given as to who will complete the CCS. It must be The Council considers that the
completed by a competent, qualified consultant (like the Ecology Statements, | developer/applicant will need to complete
for example) and should not be left to the developer/householder to complete. | the climate change statement.

15 L Tonkin Recommended not compulsory, if developers choose to ignore it, then they The SPD cannot set policy which could only

will. All the technologies are there to make zero carbon houses now, they do
not have to be zero carbon ready - that is a get out clause.

be achieved through a review of the local
plan or national policy. It does seek to
encourage best practice.

19 New Forest
East
Constituency
Labour Party

The best practice is good, but this should be more appear more explicitly in
the Local Plan Policies to ensure Councillors and Planning officials have a
clear mandate for approving/rejecting planning applications.

The SPD cannot set policy which could only
be achieved through a review of the local
plan or national policy. It does seek to
encourage best practice.

Page 23 of 71




8L

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

20 Bloor
Homes
Southern

The current Building Regulations focus on achieving a set carbon reduction
over previous iterations, i.e. Part L 2021 looks to achieve a 31% carbon
reduction over Part L 2013, with the 2025 FHS looking to achieve a 75-80%
carbon reduction over Part L 2013. While it is noted minimising energy
demand is a route to reducing emissions no specific space heating or energy
intensity targets are set. A recent decision by an Inspector in respect of the
Examination of the Salt Cross Village Area Action Plan (AAP) concludes, that
in setting similar energy and carbon targets for development to those in Policy
CCS1, there are inconsistencies between the approach set out in Policy 2 and
the national policy position and that the requirements set out are not
reasonable and was judged a reason for amending this requirement in favour
of aligning with national policy.

The Governments Future Homes Standard Consultation in 2019, notes, ‘as we
move to ever higher levels of energy efficiency standards for new homes with
the 2021 Part L uplift and Future Homes Standard, it is less likely that local
authorities will need to set local energy efficiency standards in order to achieve
our shared net zero goal.’

Paragraph 32 includes an estimate of potential cost uplifts for delivering net
zero operational homes of 2%-6% above the current Part L 2021. This is
based on information prepared for Winchester City Council and notes that the
costs shown are correct as of Q2 in 2022, since then inflation has had a
significant impact on UK building costs and these are likely out of date. Costs
and viability can also vary significantly based on location and in the context of
site specific constraints. To be considered sound new policy requirements
should be supported by a viability assessment, before any requirements that
go beyond current policy and national guidance can be adopted the Council
needs to provide evidence to confirm these are viable.

Importantly it is also noted that these costs represent ‘those anticipated for a
moderately experienced project team’. The Government’s 2019 FHS
consultation and response set out the rationale for implementing a staged
approach to reducing emissions, largely in response to capacity and skills in
the market to deliver the required changes. In particular this notes the

There is no policy requirement to implement
the best practice measures contained in the
SPD. The SPD does not require
development to be net zero carbon. The
intention of the SPD is that it will support the
implementation of adopted local plan policies
STR1 & ENV3 and it is helpful if developers
consider these matters at design/planning
application stage.

Comment noted — changes to the Buidling
Regulations are currently the subject of
consultation.

The SPD cannot set policy which could only
be achieved through a review of the local
plan or national policy. It does seek to
encourage best practice and assist with
assessing whether the development
complies with Polices STR1 and ENV3 of
the adopted local plan. Net zero operational
homes will likely attract an increased sale
price due to lower running costs.

There is no policy requirement to implement
the best practice measures contained in the
SPD.

Page 24 of 71




6.

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

requirements to scale up and upskill the delivery of heat pumps. In setting a
requirements which go beyond the Building Regulations there are likely to be
significant increased costs initially associated with upskilling, changing supply
chains etc which are not considered in the Winchester viability assessment
before the sector becomes experienced in delivery.

Furthermore the total energy target of 35kWh/m2/yr includes both regulated
and unregulated energy. While Bloor Homes supports the delivery of low
carbon homes it is considered any targets should be restricted to regulated
energy only. As a housebuilder Bloor Homes only has the ability to influence
the regulated energy demand of homes through design and specification of
materials and systems and renewable energy technologies. The unregulated
energy consumption, (often referred to as ‘plug in load’) of homes is ultimately
the function of the residents use of the building, which cannot be influenced by
the developer and therefore the requirement on the developer to offset
emissions from residents unregulated energy use is not appropriate.

(See additional information for remainder of the response for CCS1)

Comment noted. Developers are not being
asked to control the future unregulated
energy consumption but to ensure that
sufficient generation capacity will be
provided to meet likely demand.

21 R Kent A national matter (building regulations), not a local one. The intention of the SPD is that it will support
the implementation of adopted local plan
policies STR1 & ENV3.

22 M Humber | Planning should be made easier and quicker to enable zero carbon houses. The SPD cannot set policy which could only
Passive Houses. Builders and developers should be educated in passive be achieved through a review of the local
housing aims and given directives to abide to. All properties to have Solar plan or national policy. It does seek to
panel. Use grey water, triple glazing, heat source pumps, terraced houses, encourage best practice.
bicycle sheds, cycle paths and safe walking routes for schools and shopping.

24 M Smith Should apply to small developments as well. The Council considers that it has struck an
appropriate balance between asking
developers to address climate
considerations in new development without
unduly burdening smaller developments.

26 Alex Does not go far enough, | think the proposed best practice objective are about | The SPD cannot set policy which could only

Lawton right. be achieved through a review of the local

However | am sceptical about the benefit of future proofing buildings to be
zero carbon ready. In practice this may give developers a way to avoid best
practice and leave homeowners with a bill to retrofit their property in future

plan or national policy. It does seek to
encourage best practice.

Page 25 of 71




08

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

The intention of ‘future proofing’ buildings is
to ensure that retrofitting is feasible and as
cheap as possible in the future.

27 Bargate
Homes

It is acknowledged by the SPD that, in some instances, air-source heat pumps
may not be available or viable for installation on any or all properties within a
new residential development. In such instances, CCS 1e makes an allowance
for a statement to be made setting out the works required to install a heat
pump system in the future, including any associated building fabric and other
upgrades necessary to ensure the occupier comfort in colder months. This is a
welcome and pragmatic approach for specific instances. The same applies for
CCsS1f, which allows the option for purchasers to buy a property with a heat-
pump pre-installation (in instances of financial unviability, for example).

The approach endorsed by CCS 1b and CCS 2a is for air source heat pumps
and PV solar arrays to be installed on all properties. One issue with this
approach is that major new development may not have the capacity for both
large PV arrays and heat pumps. We've consulted with Briary Energy
(independent energy assessors) who have advised that many local providers
confirm that this is the case on multiple developments already. With increased
and much-needed uptake on these technologies, this issue may continue to
occur, so it is welcome that allowances are made in the SPD for ‘best
practicable outcomes’, discussed further below.

Comment noted.

Comment noted.

30 Stoford
Developments
Ltd

All our buildings systems work to reduce energy, such as motion/sunlight-
controlled lighting, leak detection, air source heat pumps. Energy use is
monitored through intelligent sub-metering and building management systems
to provide live data, allowing occupiers to see where energy is being used.
These measures further contribute to minimising the use of energy.

Comment noted. Examples of best practice
are welcomed.

33 New Milton
TC

About right but design and build process changes to meet higher development
energy performance standards may discourage small developers.

The Council considers that it has struck an
appropriate balance between asking
developers to address climate
considerations in new development without
unduly burdening smaller developments
which are often promoted by small
developers.

Page 26 of 71




18

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

34 New Forest
Friends of the
Earth

“Secondary objectives: Where net zero carbon in operation cannot be
achieved currently, buildings should aim to be zero carbon ready”

NFFoE Comment: Too easy for developers to get out of any innovation for net
zero carbon design. Suggest replace “should” with “shall”.

“If a heat pump or other efficient low carbon heating system is demonstrably
not practicable, or net zero carbon readiness cannot reasonably be achieved,
the building should be future proofed: designed to reduce energy demand and
CO2 emissions as far as is currently practicable, and to minimise the cost and
disruption of retrofitting the building to run efficiently with a heat pump system
in the future”

NFFoE Comment: If the building can be retrofitted with a heat pump system in
the future why is fitting it at the time of building not practical ? (Heat pumps are
much easier to install at the onset than retrofitting).

“If heat pump installation is demonstrated by appropriate evidence to be
unfeasible on the grounds of financial viability, buyers purchasing off-plan
should be given the opportunity to purchase from the developer heat pump
system pre-installation at a discounted supplementary cost.”

NFFoE Comment: Too vague, easy for developers to get out of heat pump
installation. What is the criteria for heat pump installation to be unfeasible on
the grounds of financial viability? The minimum percentage for the discounted
supplementary cost for heat pump purchase by a buyer needs to be
quantified.

Outside flues (vertical through roofspace or horizontal walls) or chimneys are
not mentioned in the SPD for design of new housing. These should not be
allowed to be incorporated in new housing as it may encourage the retrofitting
of carbon intensive gas boilers or highly polluting wood burning stoves by the
buyer after purchasing. The flues are also very inefficient at reducing heat loss
in the winter.

The SPD cannot set policy which could only
be achieved through a review of the local
plan or national policy. It does seek to
encourage best practice.

The installation of heat pumps cannot
currently be required through Building
Regulations and any requirement through
planning policy would have to be achieved
through a review of the local plan or national
policy. The intention of ‘future proofing’
buildings is to ensure that retrofitting is
feasible and as cheap as possible in the
future.

The presumption against chimneys as part
of the design of new development may result
in design that is not in accordance with local
character in some instances.

This issue will be addressed through the
Building Regulations. The current Future
Homes and Buildings Standards consultation

Page 27 of 71




¢8

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

The avoidance of a gas or oil-fired boiler should be mandatory. If a heat-pump
is not convenient due to the siting of the development then electric storage
heating (using the dwellings PV and energy storage to minimize the cost)
should be required.

on proposed changes to the Building
Regulations states, ‘we do not expect fossil
fuel heating, such as gas, hybrid heat pumps
and hydrogen-ready boilers, will meet these
standards.’

35 Ringwood
Town Council

These are excellent features of this SPD, but could go a bit further. Where a
building cannot be made zero carbon in operation on site, consideration
should be given to off-site alternative options. For example, fitting solar panels
or heat pump technology to a community building. As a last resort, it could be
a Grampian-type condition. ‘Future proofing’ need not apply.

Also, it is our opinion that there should be no new building that cannot be
adequately served by a heat pump system, given a ‘fabric first’ approach to
energy efficiency. Even for a retrofit, there are not that many, and these tend
to have protection issues, such as being a listed building, rather than a
technical issue. Again, we suggest mitigation over permission.

We would like to see more in the SPD about commercial developments and
BREEAM Excellent certification beyond just water consumption for
developments of 250-999 m2 GIA required by IMPL2.

The need for off-site options is likely to be
relatively rare and the preference will be for
on-site solutions. Whilst developers could
propose an off-site option, the Council does
not wish to specifically encourage this
option.

The SPD cannot require heat pump
systems, although the current Future Homes
and Buildings Standards consultation on
proposed changes to the Building
Regulations would mean that fossil fuel
systems would not comply with Building
Regulations.

The SPD includes commercial development
as can be seen in Table 1, albeit there are a
couple of exceptions which apply to just
residential development.

39 Fiddlesticks
Farm

The scale of the Fiddlesticks Farm site, with up to around 140 dwellings and
major open space, will enable economies of scale on materials, construction
and land use, with greater potential to attain higher standards than the
equivalent distributed over smaller sites.

Comment noted.

41 L Everitt What level of electricity use should be expected in a dwelling? This Best practice ‘energy use intensity’
information is already available via SAP tests but not necessarily clear to new | benchmarks are provided (35KWh per
residents. square meter per annum, calculated using

gross internal area).

43 Natural It is acknowledged that the main purpose of the SPD is to provide guidance to | Existing development is out of scope for this

England prospective developers within the district. However, we recommend the SPD which relates to new development, but

Council also seeks to set targets to help existing development reach net zero,

could form part of future iterations of the

Page 28 of 71




€8

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

for example via a strategy for retrofitting measures (e.g. SuDS, green
infrastructure, and energy/water efficient fixtures/fittings in Council owned
stock). Public greenspace management can also be optimised to help address
climate impacts as discussed above.

Councils Climate Change and Nature
Emergency Strategy and Action Plan.

Page 29 of 71




v8

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

On-site renewable energy generation (CCS2)

Q4. What are your views on the proposed best practice objective that new buildings should, wherever practicable, provide sufficient renewable
energy generation on-site to run the building? [Agree/ Disagree / No comment or don’t know]

From Comment NFDC Response

05 A Ford Every effort should be made. Comment noted.

09 R Palmer Solar is cheap and an obvious choice for residential buildings. Comment noted.

10 Chapman See earlier comments. Who checks it is installed, who checks it is working It is expected that developers will check

Lilley Planning | and producing the predicted energy savings and who checks to see if itis in specifications on drawings have been

place and working for the lifetime of the development? implemented as shown on the drawing, as
they will do for all aspects of the
development. The LPA will monitor a sample
of schemes being implemented and deal with
any complaints in the usual way.

11 S Tonkin Too many exemptions for eg heat-pump or solar PV pre-installation options. The SPD cannot set policy which could only
be achieved through a review of the local
plan or national policy. It does seek to
encourage best practice.

15 L Tonkin The technology is available to make every house self-sufficient in energy The SPD cannot set policy to make every

now. This is what the standard should be, retrofitting should not be
necessary.

new house self-sufficient in energy which
could only be achieved through a review of
the local plan or national policy. It does seek
to encourage best practice.

The intention of ‘future proofing’ buildings is
to ensure that retrofitting is feasible and as
cheap as possible in the future.

19 New Forest
East

Yes, we totally agree. Again, this should be explicit in the policies.

Support welcomed.

Constituency

Labour Party

20 Bloor While Bloor homes supports the provision of renewable energy as part of new
Homes development this should be provided in the context of national guidance and
Southern

Page 30 of 71




G8

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

Building Regulations. Furthermore the generation target 120kWh/yr/m2 of
building footprint is not considered deliverable.

The 2025 FHS consultation due this year is expected to require homes to
achieve a 75-80% carbon reduction beyond Part L 2013. This is likely to
require new homes to include the provision of low carbon heating, such as
heat pumps, alongside Solar PV to provide onsite energy generation. While
the Energy Act allows Council’s to set energy targets beyond policy, the
Governments Future Homes Standard Consultation in 2019, notes, ‘as we
move to ever higher levels of energy efficiency standards for new homes with
the 2021 Part L uplift and Future Homes Standard, it is less likely that local
authorities will need to set local energy efficiency standards in order to
achieve our shared net zero goal.’

With regards to the renewable energy target of 120kWh/yr/m2 of building
footprint we do not believe this is an achievable objective. For context below
a worked example is included

Example — 90m2 three bedroom house

Footprint 45m2

Energy demand required — 5,400kWh/yr

Energy generated / kWp of Solar — 850 kWh/kWp

System size required— 6.4kWp

Area of PV /kWp — 5m2/kWp

Area of PV required — 32m2

As set out to meet this target on a typical three bedroom house would require
around 32m2 of PV. A typical three bedroom house has ¢.32m2 of roof
space, reducing to c.24m2 of available space when taking into account areas
around the edge of the system. This is significantly less than the roof area
required.

Other development types may include dormer windows, roof lights etc to
provide a mix of design which is keeping with the design and character of the
area, setting this best practice requirement will stifle design and the character
of development.

In addition, as a housebuilder Bloor Homes only has the ability to influence
the regulated energy demand of homes through design and specification of
materials and systems and renewable energy technologies. The unregulated
energy consumption, (often referred to as ‘plug in load’) of homes is ultimately

The target to provide renewable capacity for
the total operational energy requirement is a
target not a requirement. If the achievable
renewable energy generation capacity is
below this then it should be expressed as a
percentage of the total operational
requirement and a justification will need to be
provided if less than the regulated operational
energy use.

Comment noted. Developers are not being
asked to control the future unregulated
energy consumption but to ensure that
sufficient generation capacity will be provided
to meet likely demand. The suggested
change would mean that the best practice
objective would be unlikely to achieve

Page 31 of 71




98

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

the function of the residents use of the building, which cannot be influenced
by the developer and therefore the requirement on the developer to offset
emissions from residents unregulated energy use is not appropriate.

In this context we would revise Policy CCS2 as below, further amending Part
2b in line with these proposed changes.

2. On-site renewable energy generation

Best practice objectives:

On-site renewable energy generation should be provided wherever it is
practicable to do so, wherever possible sufficient to at least meet the
regulated energy use of the development to achieve net zero carbon
development in operation.

renewable energy generation that could meet
total operational demand.

21 R Kent If possible, buildings should be net energy generators. But again, this should | Comment noted.
be covered by national policy, not local policy.

22 M Humber | Every building should have solar panels. There could be group underground The SPD cannot set policy to require solar
heat source pumps. Large triple glazed windows a high standard insulation panels which could only be achieved through
means heat is preserved. Large window facing south will provide heat. A a review of the local plan or national policy. It
passive house would be self-sufficient. does seek to encourage best practice.

27 Bargate A renewable energy generation calculation target of 120kWh / year per sqm Comment noted and support welcomed.

Homes is set by the SPD. This is a calculation of the renewable energy that will be

generated on-site, in total, per building and per sgm of building development
footprint.

The figures produced are then expressed as a percentage of the best
practice target of 120 kWhm2/year, and as a percentage of the building
operational energy use (EUI) calculated for the CCS. If the onsite renewable
energy generated is below the predicted annual regulated operational energy
use, there needs to be a justification that the best practicable outcome has
been achieved for the development proposed.

This approach is supported and allows room for good outcomes which may
not quite meet the targets prescribed in the SPD, so long as they are justified.

One additional item to consider is the relationship between maximising
dwelling sustainability and high-quality urban design. The Council’'s ambitions

In this circumstance occurs the developer
can articulate its reasoning in its climate
change statement/design and access
statement. The National Model Design Code

Page 32 of 71




.8

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

for both good design and climate improvements should not contradict. For
example, if the guidance set out in this SPD forces houses to be designed to
a certain orientation to ensure energy efficiency targets are reached, this
could make for a contrived street scene which conflicts with the strong design
focus that the Council also pursue. Allowance within the SPD for such
‘overlaps’ should be acknowledged.

recognises the environmental performance of
place and buildings to ensure they contribute
to net zero targets as part of the baseline
standard of quality and practice. SPD to be
amended to clarify this point.

30 Stoford
Developments
Ltd

In respect of requirement 2 ‘On-site renewable energy generation’, Stoford
include on-site renewable energy through the use of PV panels to the roof of
our buildings. The roof is the prime location for the panels, as you already
have the structure in place, second tier locations would be the car parks, but
you have to build the support frames over the car spaces, which in turn
increases the overall carbon. As standard we provide an area of PV panels to
generate sufficient electricity to power the to the baseline operational energy
demand for the base build, this system is battery enabled to allow for energy
storage. The user of the building can then add additional PV panels and
batteries to suit their operational energy demands. It is important to note, that
it isn’t possible for the on-site renewable generation to match the actual total
electric use, unless you have fields of PV. In time as the grid decarbonises,
and the user chooses renewable energy tariffs the building will be truly net
zero carbon in operation.

Comment noted.

31 Persimmon
Homes

See earlier comments. Who checks it is installed, who checks it is working
and producing the predicted energy savings and who checks to see if itis in
place and working for the lifetime of the development?

It is expected that developers will check
specifications on drawings have been
implemented as shown on the drawing, as
they will do for all aspects of the
development. The LPA will monitor a sample
of schemes being implemented and deal with
any complaints in the usual way.

34 New Forest
Friends of the
Earth

If PV installation is possible, the developer should be mandated to provide a
minimum. It will then be easier for the buyer to add further panels at a
discounted price (which should be quantified) as the inverter and connections
to the grid will already be in place when the house is first being wired. All new
homes should have PV installed on their roofs, no matter what the orientation.
There are many hours of solar gain east facing in the morning as well as west
facing the rest of the day. These can then provide energy for heat pumps
(where appropriate) and Mechanical Ventilation with Heat Recovery (MVHR).

The SPD cannot set policy to require PV
installation which couold only be achieved
through a review of the local plan or national
policy. It does seek to encourage best
practice.

Page 33 of 71




88

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

This SPD makes no mention of energy storage using lithium ion cells, which
is rapidly reducing in price on the back of the burgeoning electric car industry.
NFFoE supports energy storage as it can even out the energy peaks
particular at the winter evening times when the most environmentally coal and
gas generation is required. For any new PV installation the developer should
also offer energy storage systems at a quantified discounted price.

No mention of energy storage (lithium ion cells) to store excess solar power
generated during the day.

The toolkit refers to ‘smart controls and
demand flexibility’, ‘intuitive & flexible energy
use’ and ‘energy storage’ rather than
batteries. Add text at new para 92 to refer to
this.

35 Ringwood
Town Council

Where a building cannot be made zero carbon in operation on site,
consideration should be given to off-site alternative options. For example,
fitting solar panels or heat pump technology to a community building. As a
last resort, it could be a Grampian-type condition. ‘Future proofing’ need not

apply.

The need for off-site options is likely to be
relatively rare and the preference will be for
on-site solutions. Whilst developers could
propose an off-site option, the Council does
not wish to specifically encourage this option
and could not require it under current local
plan policy.

39 Fiddlesticks
Farm

The scale of the Fiddlesticks Farm site, with up to around 140 dwellings and
major open space, will enable economies of scale on materials, construction
and land use, with greater potential to attain higher standards than the
equivalent distributed over smaller sites.

Comment noted.

41 L Everitt Every public building should have facilities to create enough of its own This will vary from property to property,
electricity. What level of the renewable energy generated should residents based on factors including the amount and
expect to be able to return to the national grid? unit efficiency of PV or other renewable

installation, property aspect to the sun, and
the level of consumption in the home
including whether and how often the
occupants charge an EV.

42 P Stickley What is NOT entrenched is the entirely wasteful and energy-intensive - and Comment noted — the matters raised appear

therefore by implication, un-green - way in which developers at any level
assume that when they connect 150 houses to the mains gas, electricity, BT
lines, drainage, and water supply, that no other building or people nearby will
be adversely affected by the quality of the service to which they have become
used, and will be unlikely to be able to recall in the future. The invasive nature

to be beyond the scope of this SPD and the
change being requested is not clear.

Page 34 of 71




68

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

of all of these services in the areas of highways being fitted with trenches -
which ALWAYS seems to go on as everything else and everyone else wants
to use THAT road - is such that they use huge amounts of energy, hormally
consuming hydro-carbons and emitting CO2 in huge volumes; there is the
added hazard of in-situ refuelling as well. All of this is undertaken at great
speed to keep the cost down - but who measures the Enviro-cost? Such
operations are often and normally undertaken AFTER the building of houses
has started, and causes considerable inconvenience for existing home
owners in the area in a huge number of ways.

44 Cranbourne
Chase AONB

This AONB encourages roof mounted PVs for the capture and utilisation of
solar energy where there are not Listed Building or Conservation Area issues.
We are much less enthusiastic about field scale PVs.

Comment noted.

Page 35 of 71




06

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

Reducing embodied carbon emissions (CCS3)

Q5. What are your views on the proposed interim best practice objective that developers take all practicable steps to reduce carbon embodied
in construction processes?

From

Comment

NFDC Response

05 A Ford

There should be legal compulsion for developers to reduce embodied carbon

The SPD cannot set policy to require
developers to reduce embodied carbon which
could only be achieved through a review of
the local plan or national policy. It does seek
to encourage best practice.

10 Chapman
Lilley Planning

See previous comments - at application stage, the constructor and the
construction process is not often known.

Developers should be considering such
matters at design stage prior to applying for
planning permission.

This is being encouraged as best practice
and is not a requirement.

If the developer does not wish to include
information on carbon emissions it cannot be
compelled to do so, although it would need to
state this in its climate change statement.

11 S Tonkin

Too many exemptions to best practice compliance.

The SPD cannot require developers to deliver
best practice, although it can encourage it
through the requirement to prepare a climate
change statement.

12 B Lord

Absolutely essential and the sooner the better.

Comment noted.

14 A Elliott

| agree with this proposed interim best practice, but this needs to be
monitored closely.

Comment noted.

15 L Tonkin

It will be ignored by the developers. Development should be zero carbon,
zero energy now.

The SPD cannot set policy to require
development to be zero carbon which could
only be achieved through a review of the
local plan or national policy. It does seek to
encourage best practice.

18 D Orme

The most important factor is forcing developers to incorporate excellent
insulation, this is more important than carbon reductions per se.

Comment noted — this is covered under
CCS1.

Page 36 of 71




16

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

19 New Forest
East
Constituency
Labour Party

This seems reasonable. An emphasis on sourcing from British suppliers and
manufacturers would make this easier and accelerate the objective.

Comment noted — use of British suppliers
would be relevant to calculation of the
transport elements of building material and
products. P36 of the draft SPD identifies
‘Use local materials and suppliers’.

20 Bloor Currently the Building Regulations do not set a specific requirement for Comment noted — the SPD does not set
Homes embodied carbon. A humber of guidance documents including the LETI targets but asks developers to assess
Southern Design Guide and RIBA 2030 Climate Challenge strategy set out potential embodied carbon and demonstrate that they

embodied carbon targets, however the potential deliverability and viability of are taking active steps to reduce it.

tackling embodied carbon is largely unknown at this stage. The London Plan

which typically sets out targets ahead of other Local Authority plans currently

only requires developers to assess embodied carbon and does not yet set

any specific targets.

Bloor Homes are exploring the impact of embodied carbon as part of the first

step in reducing this impact and we support the Council’s objective for

development to assess and reduce embodied carbon where feasible and

viable. At this stage we would be cautious about setting specific embodied

carbon targets until further information on the feasibility, deliverability and

viability of potential targets have been considered.

21 R Kent Meaningless without checks & enforcement. And checks and enforcement This element of the SPD is a best practice

won't happen. objective that the Council is seeking to
encourage but it is not a requirement which
could only be achieved through a change in
policy in the local plan or nationally.

22 M Humber | It does it go far enough. At the rate proposed NFDC would never reach Comment noted — however, the SPD can
carbon zero or the government’s targets. Time is of the essence and the only supplement existing policy. New policy
policy should be clear and straightforward. Enforce policies with penalties for | could only be achieved through a review of
only doing bits or a little at a time. It should be mandatory and penalties the local plan or nationally.
imposed if a post build inspection shows it does not do what they said it
would. Time is running out for our planet. The United Nations says it as it is.

Let’s get it right for the Forest.
26 Alex I think this is a reasonable objective and should help with more responsible Comment noted.
Lawton use of resources and more long-term approach to design.

Page 37 of 71




c6

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

27 Bargate Bargate Homes absolutely agree that reducing embodied carbon in design This element of the SPD is a best practice
Homes and construction is vital to improving the built environment and reducing the objective that the Council is seeking to
carbon footprint of the housebuilding industry. encourage but it is not a requirement which
could only be achieved through a change in
However, this is largely outside the developers control and effectively a policy in the local plan or nationally. The
‘Grampian condition’ and a potential impediment to development to add to the | Council is unlikely to be in a position to be
wider environmental issues currently required. On this basis, we request that | able to refuse development if embodied
the SPD hopefully creates an incentive to fast-track such changes from carbon calculations are not included in the
providers / developers or provide a transitional period to allow new climate change statement, however,
development to still come forward in a timely way (discussed further below). provision of this information will help
assessment of the proposed development
Climate Change Statements are also expected to identify and describe any against adopted local plan policies STR1 &
steps that have been or will be taken to reduce carbon emissions from the ENV3.
construction process up to the point of practical completion. Such
assessments would generally be carried out in accordance with RICS
guidance on how to calculate the carbon associated with the whole life cycle
of the development from inception to demolition. A full assessment would also
be carried out on the material selection that includes data on carbon taken to
produce the materials, deliver to site, and so on.
This will incur considerable costs for developers and applicants, as well as
then implementing changes, such as coordinating the changes to the build
and potentially changing build products: e.g. higher recycled quants in any
concrete, steel, blocks etc.
30 Stoford From the design stage we review the construction materials to assess where | Comment noted.

Developments
Ltd

we can reduce the embodied carbon, targeting the main sources of carbon in
construction which are concrete, steel, and building services plant. Common
examples of this type of carbon reduction include adding pulverised fuel ash
into concrete mix, or sourcing steel with a higher recycled content. Materials
are sourced from manufacturers holding Environmental Product Declarations
(EPDs) wherever possible to see that they are responsibly manufactured and
supplied.

Using third party independent assessors (such as PlanetMark) we carry out a
whole life carbon assessment (stages Al to A5). This assessment provides
the embodied carbon for the scheme, which can then be offset by purchasing

Page 38 of 71




€6

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

credits from an approved carbon offset scheme. However, these offset credits
are open for projects that do not benefit the local community and
environment, we and other companies are looking at how the monetary value
of the offset credits can instead be funnelled into local schemes that have a
direct local benefit, which are easier to monitor (i.e. you can see photo voltaic
(pv) panels being erected on the local school, rather than a mango plantation
thousands of miles away). This is a more efficient use of the money.

31 Persimmon | See previous comments - at application stage, the constructor and the

Homes construction process is not often known.

by the occupier.

These requirements place additional burdens upon the applicant with no
realistic benefit - and they will not be checked by the LPA during the
construction process in any event, and as explained above, upon occupation
and over time, the use of the building and curtilage will alter as it is adapted

Developers should be considering such
matters at design stage prior to applying for
planning permission.

This is being encouraged as best practice
and is not a requirement.

If the developer does not wish to include
information on carbon emissions it cannot be
compelled to do so, although it would need to
state this in its climate change statement.

33 New Milton | This will only be fully measurable if site visits during construction take place
TC specifically to collect information, from all development types. We feel
however this is unachievable with current resources as they are, so seems
pointless in compelling the developer without potential repercussion.

This element of the SPD is a best practice
objective that the Council is seeking to
encourage but it is not a requirement which
could only be achieved through a change in
policy in the local plan or nationally.

34 New Forest | Passivhaus contradicts the embodied carbon criteria because it encourages
Friends of the | the use of energy guzzling building methods although good for keeping down

Earth operational carbon.

residual waste).

low energy construction and transportation.

Embodied carbon is emitted from energy consumed during construction,
including the production and transportation of building materials - processes
developers have some ability to control or influence. Thereafter embodied
carbon also arises from periodic maintenance and ultimately from building
demolition and waste disposal processes (net of any carbon savings from
materials that can be recycled and any energy that can be recovered from

Although the Code for Sustainable Homes was very frustrating for self-
builders, as it was a one-size fits all checklist, it gave excellent rules for
constructors and all large developments should follow the requirements for

Comment noted — as the Code for
Sustainable Homes is an historical document
it would not be appropriate for the SPD to
refer to it. The Council considers that the
approach outlined in the SPD encourages
best practice with respect to embodied
carbon without introducing new policy
requirements which could only be achieved
through a review of the local plan or national

policy.

Page 39 of 71




¥6

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

35 Ringwood
Town Council

This is an excellent concept, although very hard to measure accurately.
Government models in this area sacrifice accuracy for simplicity. The
suggested list of preferred materials is very welcome for small-scale builders
of individual dwellings or small developments that are inexperienced in this
area. The threshold of developments of 50+ dwellings/1000 sgm GIA seems
too high. For housing, the threshold could be 10+ dwellings. For non-domestic
builds, as these tend not to be bespoke, crude calculation is relatively facile
and methodology is freely available. It is suggested that the threshold is
dropped to 250 sgm.

The SPD cannot introduce new policy and is
seeking to encourage best practice. All major
development is encouraged to reduce
embodied carbon but a threshold of 50
dwellings and 1,000 sgm GIA is included
where the calculation of embodied carbon is
encouraged to be included in the climate
change statement. This is to avoid creating
an additional burden on smaller
developments.

39 Fiddlesticks
Farm

The scale of the Fiddlesticks Farm site, with up to around 140 dwellings and
major open space, will enable economies of scale on materials, construction
and land use, with greater potential to attain higher standards than the
equivalent distributed over smaller sites.

Comment noted.

Page 40 of 71




G6

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

Sustainable travel (CCS4)

Q6. What are your views on the proposed requirements to help encourage more sustainable travel (note: these should be read alongside the
general requirements set out in Local Plan policy CCC2: Safe and Sustainable Travel, summarised in Appendix 1).

From Comment NFDC Response

09 R Palmer Agree that ensuring that sufficient, secure bike storage is provided is crucial Comment noted.
to increase confidence and convenience for people to cycle more. The same
is true for EV charging, for which the majority of people will be able to and
want to charge at home - this is the cheapest form of charging a vehicle.

10 Chapman As a regular and keen cyclist - | would not leave my bike in an outside store Comment noted, although the draft SPD does

Lilley Planning | for both security and practical / maintenance reasons so do not see the point | not suggest provision in an outside store
in providing one in a detached / semi / terrace dwelling. Has the LPA other than in an illustrative diagram at
assessed the usage of such facilities where provided to see if they are used paragraph 40. Chapman Lilley Planning can
or valued by the occupants_? _|f not it may be a useful exercise to assess the propose alternative arrangements should it
value of such external provision. SO wish.

11 S Tonkin No commitment to improve public transport which, at present, is so poor that | Improving public transport is beyond the
it does not meet the needs of the majority of NFDC's residents. scope of the SPD and is outside the control

of New Forest District Council and
developers in most circumstances.

13 A Witt In order to reduce car use in a rural area it's vital that adequate provision for Comment noted — Hampshire County Council
alternatives are made. This should include building a network of cycle paths is responsible for transport planning,
between developments and local services. Where practical this network including walking and cycling and public
should be linked (e.g. enabling safe cycling between say Ringwood and transport provision. Any new policy for
Fordinbridge). In addition to active travel there must be a long-term developers to provide for public transport
commitment for public transport, perhaps applying to developments over a could only be achieved through a review of
certain number of dwellings the local plan or national policies.

15 L Tonkin The only way to meet this criteria is to make the housing in a settlement for Comment noted — although this would be
local people only. beyond the scope of the planning system.

18 D Orme Very weak section. Providing adequate infrastructure to enable widespread Improving public transport is beyond the

active travel is vital for sustainability, reducing use of fossil fuels, and
improving the health of the New Forest population.

scope of the SPD and is outside the control
of New Forest District Council and
developers in most circumstances.

Page 41 of 71




96

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

19 New Forest
East
Constituency
Labour Party

The BHL document mentions developments should be in areas with good
local facilities and services to minimise travel. There appears to be limited
information on who is responsible on ensuring this. Is it the developer or the
local authority? How would this work with GP mergers and local pharmacy
closures for example? This statement lacks a local link to the New Forest.

Location of development is more a matter for
the local plan and outside the scope of this
SPD which is focused on the detail of the
building rather than the principle of
development.

20 Bloor The Building Regulations update in 2022 introduced Part S which sets out The SPD seeks to encourage provision
Homes electric vehicle charging requirements for new residential and non-residential | above the minimum requirements of the
Southern buildings. In the context of approved national guidance, we would Building Regulations as best practice. Itis
recommend Part 4a is updated as below to take this into account. not a requirement and if developers wish to
CCS 4a: Cycle parking and EV charging (all development): At property level provide the minimum that the Building
provide secure and accessible cycle parking capacity sufficient for the Regulations require this will need to be stated
number of occupants/users likely to be present, along with EV charging in line | in the climate change statement.
with the requirements of Building Regulations Part S.

22 M Humber | We should be able to walk or cycle within a twenty minute journey for Comment noted — Hampshire County Council
shopping, banking, schooling and hospitals. We should have more passenger | is responsible for transport planning,
transport (even in rural areas), or Community Transport Schemes. Safe including walking and cycling and public
cycling and walking routes should be prioritised. transport provision.

30 Stoford In respect of requirement 4. ‘Sustainable travel’ our employment sites include | Comments noted — although these would

Developments

Electric Vehicle (EV) charging points at 10% of all car parking spaces with a
further 10% ducted for future expansion. We provide convenient, covered,
and secure cycle storage (with integrated green roofs, and insect nesting
structures, and external seating/garden/wellbeing areas for relaxation. On our
larger sites we have included shower facilities to further encourage people to
walk or cycle to work. For each site we also prepare and submit a Travel Plan
that sets out measures to reduce the need for people and goods to travel to
and from the site and to facilitate and encourage people to travel more
sustainably.

Our site is located within 1 mile of the north Totton strategic site (ref SS1),
which is allocated for a minimum of 1,000 homes and community focal point
in the Local Plan 2020. Bloor Homes have secured outline planning
permission for the northern part of the allocation and a reserved maters
application, pursuant to the outline consent is pending consideration. A
further outline planning application for a large proportion of the southern
allocation is awaiting determination. As a result of this development site and
the wider Totton area a large pool of potential labour and convenience retail

need to be considered through the local plan
review and are out of scope for the SPD.

Page 42 of 71




L6

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

district.

facilities are / will be within walking / cycling distance of our site, reducing the
reliance on the private car. There is a bus stop on the A36, adjacent our site
which provides hourly bus services (X7 and X7R) between Salisbury to
Southampton via Alderbury, Whiteparish, Wellow or Romsey, Ower, Totton.
The location of the site, on junction 2 of the M27, with direct access on to the
strategic road network, lends itself to employment uses that would importantly
reduce the need for commercial traffic to travel through the rural parts of the

31 Persimmon | Many members of staff are regular and keen cyclists who advise that they
Homes would not leave their bikes in an outside store for both security and practical /
maintenance reasons, so would question the point in providing one in a
detached / semi / terrace dwelling. Has the LPA assessed the usage of such
facilities where provided to see if they are used or valued by the occupants? if
not, it may be a useful exercise to assess the value of such external

provisions.

Comment noted, although the draft SPD does
not suggest provision in an outside store
other than in an illustrative diagram at
paragraph 40. Persimmon Homes can
propose alternative arrangements should it
So wish.

33 New Milton | About right. There are so many other considerations besides Planning to
TC make sustainable travel achievable. Providing cycle-aware driver training in
workplaces and beyond, and stopping the ban of electric scooters on South

Western Railway are just the start!

Comments noted.

34 New Forest | No mention of public transport. Developments must be in easy walking or
Friends of the | cycling distance of public transport to provide a frequent and reliable service

Earth to popular centres for shopping, work and leisure.

Public transport is referenced in CCS4 where
the best practice objective is “To minimise the
need to travel, and to optimise opportunities
to travel when needed by active and public
transport modes, or by electric vehicle.’.

It is likely that transport considerations will be
assessed through the Design and Access
Statement, Transport Assessment or Travel
Plan for the site rather than information in the
climate change statement.

35 Ringwood What is included is very good. However, it would be possible to strengthen

Town Council | certain aspects.

feed-in tariffs.

On EV charging, garages and carports could be fitted with PV arrays to offset
EV energy usage. A 2kW system could generate the equivalent per year of
around 8000 miles in an EV. Owners without an EV could benefit from grid

Comments noted and support welcomed.
Renewable energy generation is covered
under CCS2. This part of the SPD to be
amended to flag the opportunity to install
solar PV on garages or car ports.

Page 43 of 71




86

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

Also, large developments (50+ dwellings) should provide open access
facilities of, say, 1 charge unit for every 10 dwellings or 1000m2 non-domestic
floor area. Note that the Greencore Construction site pictured on p45 has this
facility and also an electric vehicle available for residents to book using an
online app. It can and is being done elsewhere.

Some extra clauses covering public transport would be welcome, such as on-
site bus stops with electronic display boards for developments of 50+
dwellings.

Amend SPD to reflect potential to provide
visitor facilities on large sites.

The provision of public transport
infrastructure would be considered under the
transport policies of the adopted local plan.

39 Fiddlesticks
Farm

The site is in a sustainable and accessible location at the main town of
Fordingbridge, helping to reduce the need to travel and promoting modal shift
away from the private car.

Comment noted — although a matter for the
local plan review and out of scope for this
SPD.

41 L Everitt New homes should show where locations of commutable places to travel to Willingness to cycle and feasible cycling
without a car. They should detail cyclable distances such as Romsey, and distances would vary from person to person.
Southampton. Cycle (and walking) accessibility would be
considered when sites are allocated for
development, and in more detail in planning
application transport assessments.
42 Paul There is the question of schoolchildren and education generally. There has Comments noted — although beyond the
Stickley been much said about the state of schools in this area. People are simply scope of the SPD.

pouring into SW Hampshire, and many young couples are buying new
houses. Who can blame them? They can often afford it, the Bank of Mum and
Dad gives them a free loan, and Bob’s your uncle; they move in. Next, of
course, a baby starts to appear. Where will the child be able to attend as a
créche, playschool or primary school? "Sorry folks, the school is full to
overflowing and we have a waiting list with over 100 children wanting to start
in Year One.” Now multiply this factor in the equation by the number of
houses about to be built in my home village alone, and you have a situation
where across the area, parents are delivering their child/children to schools
well outside the centre of habitation, probably passing thousands of other
parents doing the same thing, but in the opposite direction. Is this really
helping to keep our country GREEN? | do not think so. The school should be
of a size and capacity which reflects the size of the village or town, and not be
an old building which has multiple built-on extensions which outdo the original
size of the school many times, at the expense of green spaces, playing fields,
parking areas for staff (if there are any in the first place) and parking for

Hampshire County Council is responsible for
school provision and transport planning,
although restricted by national policies
around school choices.

Page 44 of 71




66

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

visitors; recreation areas and physical recreation areas which are outside.
The lack of parent parking areas in most schools is very noticeable and
deplorable, and an indictment of the way in which education sites are, and
have been treated over many years. Parking on a roadside near a school is a
potentially life-risking activity. It becomes much more dangerous when the
mother/father is carrying a second child, or a third. | leave it to your
imagination. When the Coroner gets hold of the valid information relating to
the cause of death, it would not look very good for the school’s care policy for
visitors to the school.

This cannot be allowed to go on, not here in the New Forest, not here in
Hampshire, nowhere in the UK. It is a disgrace and an embarrassment to the
residents of the country. With a rapid and continuously increasing population,
town planning has become even more important, so that those of us who are
lucky enough live here already can have a healthy, wholesome lifestyle, and
our children can be educated in places which are not overcrowded, to which
they can walk easily.

Page 45 of 71




00T

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

Avoiding overheating (CCS5)

Q7. What are your views on the proposed best practice objective that developments are designed to enable urban cooling and to reduce
overheating risks?

From

Comment

NFDC Response

10 Chapman
Lilley Planning

Landscaping and surfacing is almost inevitably changed / altered / removed
/replaced by the building occupants - quite often within the first few years of
occupation, therefore the additional burden of having to provide a statement
as to how this has taken into account heatwave mitigation is not necessary.

What is the justification for requiring that Building Regulations requirements
for water consumption are exceeded? How are you going to check this?

The Council considers that provision of
appropriate landscaping and surfacing is an
important factor in avoiding overheating and
heatwave mitigation, notwithstanding the lack
of control over future alterations by
occupants.

The New Forest district falls within a wider
area of water stress as identified by the
Environment Agency. Southern Water is
championing Target 100 to support personal
consumption reductions to achieve a 100
litres per person per day standard. This can
be achieved by more efficient water fittings
and appliances, rainwater harvesting and/or
grey water recycling. This is something that
developers are being encouraged to do to
help adapt to climate change but would not
currently be a requirement.

11 S Tonkin

No heatwave mitigation for developments of <10 homes.

Whilst mitigation for overheating of individual
properties is relevant for smaller scale
development it would be more difficult to
provide meaningful heatwave mitigation on a
smaller site.

13 A Witt

It's vital that street-based cooling such as mature trees are maintained and
enhanced. This may require a reduction in on-street parking, creation of low-
traffic neighbourhoods, and implementation of one-way systems in towns
where it's practical.

Comments noted.

Page 46 of 71




10T

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

14 A Elliott Does not go far enough. | am really pleased to see this included, but Comment noted, although retrofitting is
retrofitting old homes needs to be taken as people can die from excessive beyond the scope of this SPD which relates
heat in their home. NFDC should undertake a survey of all properties and to the development of new buildings.
prioritise mitigations or retrofits from excessive heat urgently. It's all very well
applying the best practice objective to new builds, but what about old builds? |
also think this should be made statutory.

15 L Tonkin Does not stipulate a requirement for the sort of mitigation that would ensure The SPD cannot introduce a policy
that overheating doesn't happen. requirement but can encourage developers to

address overheating mitigation in a climate
change statement.

20 Bloor Increasing summer temperatures is a key consideration for new development | The Council is trying to encourage

Homes and Bloor Homes designs buildings to limit the potential for overheating, developers to go beyond the basic

Southern prioritising passive measures to reduce the risk of overheating. This includes | requirements of the Building Regulations and
the consideration of how the development layout, landscaping, planting etc ensure that overheating is avoided as much
can be optimised. as possible through the design and layout of
The 2022 update of the Building Regulations included the introduction of Part | development.

O, overheating which sets out pathways to consider the overheating of
buildings, taking into account the impacts of overheating, this includes an
assessment option using dynamic thermal modelling. As a minimum all
development will be required to design and assess buildings in line with Part
O, additional assessment in line with other guidance (GHA) is not considered
necessary. In this context we recommend that Part 5b is amended as below.
CCS 5b: Overheating (all residential development)

For residential development complete overheating assessment in line with
Part O of the Building Regulations and reporting on measures included to
minimise and reduce overheating risks as part of the design of homes.

22 M Humber | This Policy should be compulsory. The Council cannot introduce new policy

requirements through an SPD, this can only
be achieved through a review of the local
plan or national policy, but is trying to
encourage developers to go beyond the basic
requirements of the Building Regulations and
ensure that overheating is avoided as much
as possible through the design and layout of
development.

Page 47 of 71




[A0))

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

26 Alex The proposals seem reasonable from a building design point of view but they | Comment noted. The SPD currently refers to
Lawton do not mention the importance of plants and trees in cooling and shading. | planting strategies as a best practice
realise this may be indirectly covered by ecology guidelines but is it worth objective to avoid overheating and CCS 5b
stressing the importance of existing mature trees and newly planted trees in on p24 requests description of how heatwave
cooling the immediate surroundings? mitigation has informed the planting and
landscaping strategy. The SPD will be
amended to reflect the importance of trees
and plants in helping to provide heatwave
mitigation in the best practice section on p35.
N.b. link to Good Homes Alliance
Overheating in New Homes checklist at para
85 does not appear to work.
27 Bargate Bargate Homes are already meeting new requirements within Part O of the Comment noted.
Homes Building Regulations 2010 (Overheating) on other sites that they are bringing
forward. It's acknowledged that this is an important issue. NFDC'’s draft SPD
also includes the need for an assessment of ‘natural heatwave mitigation’ in
relation to planting and landscaping strategies. The design issue referred to In this circumstance occurs the developer
above, regarding the orientation of dwellings, is reiterated*. can articulate its reasoning in its climate
change statement/design and access
*(The Council’'s ambitions for both good design and climate improvements statement. The National Model Design Code
should not contradict. For example, if the guidance set out in this SPD forces | recognises the environmental performance of
houses to be designed to a certain orientation to ensure energy efficiency place and buildings to ensure they contribute
targets are reached, this could make for a contrived street scene which to net zero targets as part of the baseline
conflicts with the strong design focus that the Council also pursue. Allowance | standard of quality and practice. SPD to be
within the SPD for such ‘overlaps’ should be acknowledged.) amended to clarify this point.
30 Stoford In respect of requirement 5. ‘Avoiding overheating’ we design a highly Comment noted.

Developments
Ltd

efficient thermal envelope centred around high levels of insulalon, air-
tightness, solar shading, and glazing selection to reduce heat transmission.
This combines to reduce the amount of energy required to heat and cool the
buildings.

As our plans for the site progress, we will seek to orientate the offices within
our development appropriately to prevent overheating. If this is unavoidable,
we will plan to incorporate a form of solar shading such as brise soleil to
minimise the need for cooling.

Page 48 of 71




€0t

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

31 Persimmon
Homes

Landscaping and surfacing is almost inevitably changed / altered / removed
/replaced by the building occupants - quite often within the first few years of
occupation, therefore the additional burden of having to provide a statement
as to how this has taken into account heatwave mitigation is not necessary.

The Council considers that provision of
appropriate landscaping and surfacing is an
important factor in avoiding overheating and
heatwave mitigation, notwithstanding the lack
of control over future alterations by
occupants.

35 Ringwood Very sensible suggestions. The use of the Good Homes Alliance tool is Comment noted.

Town Council | welcome.

43 Natural Point 5 ‘Avoiding Overheating’ is the only part of the CCS that mentions Comment noted — SPD to be amended to
England green and blue infrastructure provision, however, this aspect is not well include a reference to the Partnership for

explored within the supporting text within part B or C of the SPD. The Climate
Change SPD is the ideal place to emphasise in detail the (multiple) benefits
of well-designed Gl in combatting climate change, and it should serve as a
key local policy driver in encouraging developers to maximise the amount of
Gl incorporated into development design.

South Hampshire’s Green Infrastructure
Strategy and Green Infrastructure
Implementation Plan. This guidance is not
repeated in the SPD.

Page 49 of 71




0T

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

Flood risk reduction and sustainable urban drainage (CCS6)

Q8. What are your views on the proposed best practice objective to naturally and safely manage surface water run-off, including under extreme
climate conditions.

From Comment NFDC Response
05 A Ford Don't build on flood plains or near rivers. Comment noted — location of development and
flood risk policy are matters for the local plan
review.
11 S Tonkin There should not be SUDs exemptions for small developments. Comment noted — SPD to be amended to
encourage SUDS on smaller developments.
12 B Lord It should be obligatory to construct large volume underground RWC The SPD can only supplement adopted local
structures/cisterns whenever ground is levelled to replace a building or plan policies. The suggested requirement is
within any new build site. not currently within local or national policy and
could only be achieved through the local plan
review or change to national policy. However,
the suggested requirement could form part of
an approach to SUDS which would prevent
flooding and reduce water consumption.
13 A Witt The requirements around nitrogen and phosphate pollution in local river Comment noted although beyond the scope of
catchments needs greater focus. Nutrient mitigation schemes should be a the SPD.
last resort as these do little to reduce overall pollution and by effectively
"exporting" pollutants - e.g. to the Isle of Wight as per the recent agreement
- there is a risk that watercourses close to developments suffer increased
pollution and reduced biodiversity
15 L. Tonkin Stop building in areas prone to flooding. Comment noted — location of development and

flood risk policy are matters for the local plan
review.

17 Southern
Water

Whilst not in line with current legislation, Southern Water would encourage a
requirement for SuDS features to be included all new development,
including both minor as well as major applications. We support any
requirements which seek to ensure that surface water is appropriately
managed, as close to source as possible. This would align with our own
work to address problems caused by excess surface water in our sewerage

Any new planning policy requirement would
have to be achieved through a review of the
local plan or change to national policy. SPD to
be amended to encourage SUDS on smaller
developments.

Page 50 of 71




GOT

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

network in order to protect water quality in rivers and sea (more information
on the work we are doing is on our webpage
https://www.southernwater.co.uk/our-performance/storm-overflows/clean-
rivers-and-seas-task-force).

Historically, the sewer network was designed to accommodate both surface
water and foul flows in the same pipe (the ‘combined’ sewer). However in
terms of future flood risk, better rainwater management through SuDS is the
preferred approach to avoid problems associated with mixing surface water
with wastewater and placing added pressure on drainage networks during
heavy rainfall, helping to mitigate flood risk as well as ‘combined storm
overflow’ (CSO) use. Unless or until Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water
Management Act 2010 is enacted, we must accept new applications to
connect surface water to the combined network as a last resort, in
accordance with Building Regulations part H drainage hierarchy.

DEFRA'’s recently published Storm Overflows Discharge Reduction Plan
sets an expectation on water companies "to achieve year on year reductions
in the amount of surface water that is connected to their combined sewer
network [...] This should include limiting any new connections of surface
water to the combined sewer network". Therefore, whilst Southern Water
supports the intent of CCS6, we would also recommend a stronger
requirement that minor as well as major development should include SuDS
features, to avoid placing added pressure on the sewer network during wet
weather.

18 D Orme

The planning system should prevent building on flood plains and should
force all new driveways to be drain to soakaways or be permeable.

Comment noted — location of development and
flood risk policy are matters for the local plan
review.

19 New Forest
East

There is a need for developers to work closely with Southern Water to
ensure the mains supply/sewage system is fit for purpose in the new

Developers have to formally engage with
Southern Water on water supply and

Constituency development. eg the state and age of the pipes, the future capacity, leaks wastewater conveyance and treatment.
Labour Party etc.

20 Bloor Bloor Homes supports the use of SuDS and providing naturalised drainage | Comment noted.

Homes mechanisms and these are incorporated into all of our schemes. All

Southern development proposals consider the potential for flood risk in line with

Page 51 of 71




90T

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

national guidance which sets out climate change allowances for flood risk. In
this context sustainable drainage systems are designed to take into account
extreme weather events, including an uplift for climate change.

22 M Humber | Very good if it works but if not houses built on a stilt design with garages Comment noted.
underneath.

25 T Phillips It is critical that any development can at the very least entirely mitigate the The SPD can only supplement adopted local
issues it creates in terms of flood risk. This ties into CCS7 and rainwater plan policies. The suggested requirement is
harvesting. In terms of flood prevention a rainwater tank capable of holding | not currently within local or national policy and
an entire heavy downpour should be mandated for all new developments could only be achieved through the local plan
and any significant planning permissions where it is practicable to add the review or change to national policy. However,
tankage in at relatively little cost. This is SO important because it not only the suggested requirement could form part of
negates any flood risk (the tank can discharge over hours/days and has an approach to SUDS which would prevent
done its job mitigating flood if not harnessed up to be used by the dwelling) | flooding and reduce water consumption.
but also has a significant impact on mitigating Nitrate discharge as it is the
flooding of sewerage that creates the most nitrate discharge from housing.
The current tactic of looking to changes in farming to address the housing
Nitrates issue is non-sensical at scale; housing must address housing
derived nitrate discharge and farming must address farming related
discharge. Holding potential floodwater back to prevent that volume of
sewerage overflow is a direct saving and therefore tankage in every new
development has the potential to sort this. Shallow dig 10,000L tanks are
easily available and economical BUT only if done at the time of construction
(new build or significant extension). This is where mandatory tankage is vital
— retrofitting would require motivated homeowners or grants.

30 In respect of requirements 6. ‘Flood risk reduction and sustainable urban Comment noted.

Stoford drainage (SuDs) and 7. ‘Drought resilience and using water efficiently’, we

Developments
Ltd

always seek to incorporate Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) and other
naturalised drainage mechanisms wherever they are capable of being
effective. By way of example this has taken the form of attenuation basins,
roadside swales, permeable paving and / or land drains. We also
incorporate rainwater harvesting systems to provide water for flushing toilets
and reduce water consumption.

The other key aspect we consider on all our schemes is green
infrastructure. On our larger multi-unit sites there is more opportunity to

Page 52 of 71




L0T

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

create new wildlife habitats, such as wet land areas integrated into the
SuDS systems, insect hibernacula, swift towers, and greater variety of
species mix through new hedgerows and managed grassland planting.

31 Persimmon
Homes

These will obviously vary from site to site as ground conditions and options
to dispose of the water will vary. We would hope that the LPA will take into
account cost and the sometimes excessive land take which is required to
provide such systems which may mean the housing numbers on the site
may not be as envisaged or / and that greater density of development may
be required in order to achieve an economic return.

Comment noted.

35 Ringwood
Town Council

Commenting on SUDs design is outside our expertise area. Pointing to the
latest NPPG sounds prudent.

Comment noted.

39 Fiddlesticks
Farm

The site is outside of any area of flood risk and can positively address
surface water drainage through a SuDS strategy, which has already been
prepared and is factored into our concept layout. This will be of benefit both
to the site and offsite downstream into the catchment below.

Comment noted — although a matter for the
local plan review and out of scope for this
SPD.

41 L Everitt SUDS should be last resort. The adopted local plan sets out that SUDs will
be sought wherever they would be effective in
reducing the risks of flooding (policy ENV3).

43 Natural Regarding SuDS, it is important to note that these will form a mandatory Comment noted — SPD to be amended to

England requirement for most new development in England, under Schedule 3 to the | remove the reference for SUDS only being

Flood and Water Management Act 2010, expected in 2024. It is
recommended the SPD reflects this. We agree that SuDS should be
designed to CIRIA standards.

It is noted CCS 6b part ii refers to nutrient reduction measures. Is this
intended as a specific climate adaptation measure for development to
address? We agree that the impacts of increased nutrients on habitats and
species may be exacerbated by the effects of climate change and that
SuDS can perform an important role in treating the quality of surface runoff
water. Developments may be required to demonstrate nutrient neutrality to
address impacts on protected sites where they are likely to have an effect
without mitigation.

We recommend that further measures for the natural environment are
included within the SPD to help habitats and species (and ultimately the

required for major development.

Comment noted — the SPD has been amended
to refer to potential requirement for nutrient
neutrality although guidance is liable to change
and not repeated in SPD.

The suggested additions would be more
appropriate for inclusion in the forthcoming
Biodiversity SPD and do not need to be

Page 53 of 71




80T

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

human population that relies on healthy ecosystems) adapt to a warming
climate, including maximised provision of habitat and/or contributions to
local strategic conservation schemes, and sympathetic management of
greenspaces that provides a variety of sward heights and habitat types and
space for wildlife to find shelter/refuge, particularly during the growing
season.

repeated in this document. The Local Nature
Recovery Strategy may also be relevant.

Page 54 of 71




60T

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

Drought resilience and using water efficiently (CCS7)

Q9. What are your views on the proposed best practice objective to use mains and surface water more efficiently to improve drought resilience.

From Comment NFDC Response

07 Wings Every new property should be automatically fitted with a means of storing and | The SPD can only supplement adopted local
Wildlife re-use of 'grey water' for gardens, washing cars etc. plan policies. The suggested requirement is
Heritage not currently within local or national policy

and could only be achieved through the local
plan review or change to national policy.
However, the SPD flags grey water recycling
as best practice.

10 Chapman Water consumption should be left to Building Regulations. Comment noted. It is legitimate for planning
Lilley Planning policy to address water consumption. There
is no requirement for standards more
progressive than Building Regulations in the
SPD although Target 100 is identified as best
practice.

11 S Tonkin Too much "could" and "should"; not enough "must". Comment noted. The SPD can only
supplement adopted local plan policies.
Introducing new policy requirements currently
beyond local or national policy can only be
achieved through the local plan review or
change to national policy.

12 B Lord RWC and Grey Water re-cycling should be obligatory where ground is The SPD can only supplement adopted local
levelled for building replacement or in every new build large or small. Take plan policies. The suggested requirement is
the pressure off natural groundwater aquifers or riverine habitats at the not currently within local or national policy
earliest opportunity. and could only be achieved through the local

plan review or change to national policy.
However, the SPD flags rainwater harvesting
and grey water recycling as best practice.

17 Southern Whilst Southern Water would prefer to see higher water efficiency standards | Comment noted. However, it should be
Water mandated in all new development (in line with our T100 program, mentioned noted that ‘reducing mains water demand’ is
in paragraph 113), we appreciate this goes beyond current legislative an information requirement and the Council

Page 55 of 71




OTT

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

requirements. We are supportive of the measures set out in paragraphs 110-
118, as well as the requirement for a reduction in mains water use in both
major and minor new development (Table 1, page 16). These measures will
contribute to sustainable development by helping to reduce demands on
natural resources, and should help to reduce consumption to below the
current legislative standard.

cannot compel developers to achieve
standards beyond the higher Building
Regulations standard.

19 New Forest
East

There is a need for developers to work closely with Southern Water to ensure
the mains supply/sewage system is fit for purpose in the new development.

Developers have to formally engage with
Southern Water on water supply and

Constituency eg the state and age of the pipes, the future capacity, leaks etc. wastewater conveyance and treatment.

Labour Party

20 Bloor Part G of the Building Regulations sets out water efficiency requirements for | Comment noted. It is legitimate for planning

Homes new dwellings, including standard and enhanced water consumption rates of | policy to address water consumption. There

Southern 125 litres per person per day and 110 litres per person per day. is no requirement for standards more
Bloor Homes supports the delivery of water efficient homes, and all homes progressive than Building Regulations in the
are built to the Government’s higher water efficiency standard of 110l/p/d and | SPD although Target 100 is identified as best
additionally, where feasible, all homes are provided with water butts to enable | practice.
homeowners to make use of rainwater to water gardens.

Furthermore as part of landscaping and planting in new developments we
make use of climate tolerant species to minimise the impact of changing
climate space, including reduced summer water availability on habitats and
species.

Any further targets for reducing water consumption should be set out in line
with the Building Regulations.

22 M Humber | Policy is very good. However all water should be reused. Rainwater used for | The SPD can only supplement adopted local
toilets and washing machines then the heat passing through a heat plan policies. The suggested requirement is
exchanger. No power showers and bath water recycled extracting the heat. not currently within local or national policy
All buildings to have water meters. and could only be achieved through the local

plan review or change to national policy.
However, the SPD flags rainwater harvesting
and grey water recycling as best practice.

24 M Smith Beef up the grey water usage requirements The SPD can only supplement adopted local

plan policies. More stringent grey water
recycling requirements beyond current local
or national policy and could only be achieved
through the local plan review or change to

Page 56 of 71




IT1

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

national policy. However, the SPD flags grey
water recycling as best practice.

25 T Phillips Rainwater harvesting needs to be mandatory and not optional at the point of | Comment noted. The SPD can only
grant of permission. Not only does it significantly reduce flood risk (see supplement adopted local plan policies.
comments on CCS6) but can contribute heavily to water usage savings. The | More stringent rainwater harvesting and grey
economics however are compelling at the time of construction (new build or water recycling requirements beyond current
significant extension etc) but often hard to justify as a retrofit for anyone but local or national policy and could only be
the most environmentally motivated. The combination of installing shallow dig | achieved through the local plan review or
rainwater harvesting tanks at the construction stage that can a) prevent change to national policy. However, the SPD
flooding b) prevent nitrate discharge into waterways AND c) save water flags rainwater harvesting and grey water
usage with all the benefits to preservation of resource and related biodiversity | recycling as best practice.
is both vital and economically very good value.
One quick correction — paragraph 115 states that the annual water falling on | Agreed — SPD to be amended accordingly.
a 60sgm roof would be 5,000 litres. | think it would be closer to 50,000 litres
26 Alex Does not go far enough, | think water butts should be used only as an The SPD can only supplement adopted local
Lawton alternative were larger rainwater harvesting tanks or grey water recycling are | plan policies. More stringent rainwater
unsuitable. Water butts (unless several are joined together) do not provide harvesting and grey water recycling
sufficient water to last many(most?) gardens through the extended dry spells | requirements beyond current local or national
which are occuring more regularly. policy and could only be achieved through
the local plan review or change to national
policy. However, the SPD flags rainwater
harvesting and grey water recycling as best
practice.
30 Stoford We always seek to incorporate Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) and Comment noted although not a matter for this

Developments
Ltd

other naturalised drainage systems wherever they are capable of being
effective. This has taken the form of attenuation basins, roadside swales,
permeable paving and / or land drains. We also incorporate rainwater
harvesting systems to provide water for flushing toilets and reduce water
consumption.

The vast majority of our site is located outside of the Flood Zone with the
exception of a swathe across the northern boundary which follows the route
of the Cadnam River. We will plan to locate our buildings outside of the flood
zone and incorporate SuDS as appropriate to avoid increased vulnerability to

SPD.

Page 57 of 71




AN}

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

flooding. We will integrate green infrastructure and maximise the
opportunities to increase biodiversity.

31 Persimmon
Homes

Where practicable and does not require significant cost implications, this may
be achievable.

Comment noted.

33 New Milton | Does not go far enough. Water butts for grey water use with essential The SPD can only supplement adopted local
TC messaging about greatly diluted product use, would also be helpful to allow plan policies. More stringent rainwater
watering of vegetable gardens. This is essential for all dwellings as many harvesting and grey water recycling
attempt to save money/eat more cleanly rather than buying from requirements beyond current local or national
supermarkets. policy and could only be achieved through
the local plan review or change to national
policy. However, the SPD flags rainwater
harvesting and grey water recycling as best
practice.
35 Ringwood This area could be strengthened. Using drinking water for flushing toilets, The SPD can only supplement adopted local
Town Council | albeit a reduced amount by limiting cistern size constraints, is frankly daft. plan policies. More stringent rainwater

The 110L standard is a blunt tool. Better would be greywater recycling and
rainwater harvesting, as suggested, with underground tanks acting as mini-
SUDs. The Crest-Nicholson site near Bicester has incorporated this
technology and it was not cost prohibitive. Water bills (and therefore
wastewater bills) are lower, although this is offset to a degree if the owner
pays for the tanks to be cleaned periodically. It also reduces the phosphate
load to the sewage system (drinking water is dosed with orthophosphoric
acid). Fitting tanks under driveways works well. On sizing, we are unaware of
any guidance on this, so a rainwater tank of 1 m3 per square metre of roof
area minimum is suggested.

harvesting and grey water recycling
requirements beyond current local or national
policy and could only be achieved through
the local plan review or change to national
policy. However, the SPD flags rainwater
harvesting and grey water recycling as best
practice.

39 Fiddlesticks
Farm

The scale of the Fiddlesticks Farm site, with up to around 140 dwellings and
major open space, will enable economies of scale on materials, construction
and land use, with greater potential to attain higher standards than the
equivalent distributed over smaller sites.

Comment noted although not a matter for this
SPD.

41 L Everitt

Every public building should collect enough water to flush its WC’s. What
level of mains water consumption should residents expect?

The SPD can only supplement adopted local
plan policies. More stringent rainwater
harvesting and grey water recycling
requirements beyond current local or national
policy and could only be achieved through
the local plan review or change to national

Page 58 of 71




cTl

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

policy. However, the SPD flags rainwater
harvesting and grey water recycling as best
practice.

The baseline standard for residents is 110
litres per person per day, and lower usage is
encouraged

41 L Everitt

Further details are required as to water runoff from waterbutts and roofs.

Some additional detail is provided at para
115 (p.40).

42 P Stickley

Let us look at just one of the services which are used by 99% or more
households: water supply. In the last fifteen years, we have enjoyed a very
reliable supply, with zero hosepipe bans in the summer periods, and the
water has proved to be palatable and clear - apart from the occasional yellow
tinge which appears about 48 hours after a downpour. We don’t worry about
such things. Mother Nature is at work. What really irritates me is that the
threatened construction of around 250 houses in this vicinity looks as if it will
have a wholly detrimental effect upon the water pressure in this area...and
anyone who denies this is wholly in cloud cuckoo land, or very much better
educated than me in the area of water pressure. So, to continue the thread of
ideas (mine, and nothing very creative), why do we have to tolerate being
treated to low to negligible water pressure, when the developers should be
required to check and publicise the results of their investigations BEFORE a
single brick is laid? Isn’t this an obvious route to go, rather than make
themselves very unpopular amongst the local existing population...to the
point of hatred?

Much of this trouble is fed by greed. The developers, not known for having a
policy about how to look after the immediate surroundings of the site, want to
get the first few houses built and sold, so that they can repay the bank from
whom they have borrowed to undertake the development. Ignore everything
and everyone, just do it, and we’ll solve the problems with water pressure,
poor drainage, negligible internet speed, negligible gas pressure, poor
telephone lines, spaces in schools...and poor building quality possibly, at a
later date.

Comments noted. Developers and water
companies have to work within the existing
legislative and local and national policy
context. The plan-led system is key to
providing infrastructure to support new
development.

43 Natural
England

Southern Water’'s Water Resources Management Plan (WRMP) 2019, that
covers the planning period 2020-2070, projects a significant supply demand

Page 59 of 71




V1T

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

deficit during periods of drought in the Western Area, and commits to
implementing a long term water resources scheme to restore the supply

demand balance whilst avoiding and/or mitigating impacts on protected sites.

It is Natural England’s advice that in advance of any permitting of such a
suitable long term scheme, uncertainty remains with regards to water
resources and the impacts of abstraction on protected sites.

CCS7 is about reducing mains water consumption. It is helpful that the SPD
sets out water efficiency standards from the Buildings Regs and Southern
Water. However we consider the SPD should go further in setting the
standards as requirements. We recommend all new development within the
Southern Water supply area adopt the higher standard of water efficiency of
100 litres/per person/day, in line with Southern Water’s Target 100 demand
reduction programme. For other water supply areas we recommend water
consumption for new dwellings of no more than 110 litres per person per day
in line with the higher Building Regulations standard. Further water efficiency
uses beyond this would be welcomed.

We welcome the encouragement of rainwater harvesting and greywater
recycling facilities in new development.

Comment noted. However, the SPD can only
supplement adopted local plan policies.
Introducing new policy requirements currently
beyond local or national policy can only be
achieved through the local plan review or
change to national policy. Reduced water
consumption is flagged as best practice.

Page 60 of 71




Q1T

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

Any other matters

Q10. Do you have any other comments on the Climate Change SPD? Specify the paragraph number(s) that you are commenting on wherever

applicable.
From About Comment NFDC Response
07 Wings Not enough attention is being paid to biodiversity enhancements. A separate biodiversity SPD is being
Wildlife All developments (of any size) should have conditions included prepared that will cover these types
Heritage within the approval that certain enhancements that would benefit of issues.

our declining birds and wildlife.
10 Chapman In summary, to reiterate, whist the aims and objectives are The best practice objectives identified
Lilley laudable, the planning system neither has the resources or the in the SPD are sourced from
Planning legislation to enable the implementation of the SPD. independent industry experts. The

If you are going to require a suite of reports and documents please
make this expressly clear at the front of any document - so far |
note the requirement for a CLIMATE CHANGE STATEMENT, a
BRE ASSESSMENT, GOOD HOMES OVERHEATING RISK
TOOL, CARBON EMISSIONS CALCULATIONS, BUILDING FOR
A HEALTHY LIFE ASSESSMENT, RENEWABLE ENERGY
CALCULATION, FUTURE PROOFING STATEMENT, SMART
ENERGY SYSTEMS.

SPD ‘best endeavours’ approach
provides scope for applicants to
explain what they can and cannot
achieve, and to justify why other
standards may represent best
endeavours for a given development.
The SPD will assist with the
implementation of adopted local plan
policies STR1 & ENV3.

The proposed Climate Change
Statement brings information
generally already sought at planning
applications stage (in other
documents on the Local Information
Requirements list) into one
comprehensive document.

In order to facilitate the provision of
consistent information a proforma gas
been added to the SPD.

11 S Tonkin | 11, 16, 51 (and
others):

11, 16, 51 (and others):

A separate Bodiversity SPD is being
prepared and this would be the

Page 61 of 71




oTT

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

Comments here and in the Separate Companion Document on
reducing lighting in order to reduce energy use are welcome, as is
the net zero carbon aspiration, but this lacks joined-up thinking
and, therefore an open goal is being missed, i.e.mitigating climate
change by preserving/enhancing the carbon sequestration
provided by photosynthesisers. Given the growing evidence (links
provided) of the harm caused to flora by artificial light at night
(ALAN), measures to control ALAN would complement other
measures to mitigate climate change.

Incidentally, such measures would, of course, also have beneficial
effects on biodiversity, in line with the "Nature" bit of the "Climate
and Nature Emergency">

Sample evidence for harm to flora caused by ALAN:
https://besjournals.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/1365-
2745.12551

https://www.nature.com/articles/d41586-018-00665-7
https://cescos.fau.edu/observatory/lightpol-Plants.html
https://www.extension.purdue.edu/extmedia/fnr/fnr-fag-17.pdf
https://www.researchgate.net

appropriate document to address this
issue.

13 A Witt

Paras 119 & 120.

The document indicates in Figure 3 ecology and biodiversity
requirements. | note that further guidance will be coming on this but
there are also impacts on flood risk and overheating to consider
which should be noted in this proposed regulation.

For example, use of artificial grass and large paved/decked areas
reduces the ability of properties to pass rainwater into the water
table, creating runoff impacting other areas. Furthermore, such
landscape treatments contribute to overheating. There is a win-win-
win opportunity here by mandating planting regimes which require
natural grass, water features, native tree cover, etc. As per current
permitted development rules a requirement that non-natural
features are limited to a proportion of the plot size would be
appropriate. Maximising natural features provides habitats which
can be further enhanced with wildlife corridors - e.g. use of natural
hedges rather than fencing, provision of gaps in fencing - and also
building features such as nest boxes and swift bricks etc.

Developers will be encouraged to
address planting and landscaping in
relation to climate change under
CCSb5a and hard landscaping under
CCs6.

A separate biodiversity SPD is being
prepared that will cover these types
of issues.

Page 62 of 71



https://besjournals.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/1365-2745.12551
https://besjournals.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/1365-2745.12551
https://www.nature.com/articles/d41586-018-00665-7
https://cescos.fau.edu/observatory/lightpol-Plants.html
https://www.extension.purdue.edu/extmedia/fnr/fnr-faq-17.pdf
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/321246186_Artificially_lit_surface_of_Earth_at_night_increasing_in_radiance_and_extent

LTT

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

15 L Tonkin

General

Net zero housing should have been required years ago, this SPD is
too little too late.

Comment noted. The SPD
encourages developers to make best
endeavours towards achieving
challenging best practice standards
independently identified in the Net
Zero Carbon Toolkit. Inan SPD
these cannot be set as mandatory
targets, and these could only be
achieved through the local plan
review or a change in national policy.

19 New
Forest East
Constituency
Labour Party

Does NFDC have any more ambitious plans for mitigating against
Climate Change than the Government's targets? Is it possible to
add some more tangible requirements to local plan policy ENV3?

This is a matter for the local plan
review.

22M

Climate change is happening now. June 2023 was the hottest on

Comment noted.

Humber record since 1940 and before. Be bold not cautious.
26 Alex Part B Table 1. | am not sure that opt outs should be available for smaller The Council considers that it has
Lawton developments. Most of the developments | have been aware of in struck an appropriate balance
the local area (waterside) are small and could therefore be built to | between asking developers to
lower standards. Many of these are above average size/price address climate considerations in
houses for which the additional costs of complying with best new development without unduly
practice would be a small proportion of the total price. burdening smaller developments.
26 Alex Part C paral20 (referring to Ecology and BNG Interim Advice Note P9-10). | think Comment noted. A separate
Lawton building enhancements should be provided wherever suitable biodiversity SPD is being prepared
(rather than at least one as in the guidance note). Hedgehog gaps | and this would be the appropriate
in fencing, swift bricks, invertebrate bricks, bird boxes can all be document to address these issues.
provided at very low cost when constructing buildings. These will
help improve habitat for animals in the built environment but may
help residents to consider and appreciate these creatures more.
27 Bargate 57,61,(CCS1c,CCS2b): | Having consulted with Briary Energy, we understand that many of
Homes the standards within the SPD are established by LETI guidance. It

is considered important that the SPD is clear in how it sets its EUI
and space heating demand calculations.

Page 63 of 71




8TT

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

Building Regulations 2010 Approved Document L modelling (and
its Standard Assessment Procedure (SAP)) is essentially the
national compliance tool for calculating the energy performance of
dwellings and underpins the Energy Performance Certificate (EPC)
of new homes.

Overall, many of the standards expected by the DRAFT SPD are a
10% improvement over Approved Document L, which is not — in
and of itself — objected to. However, Part L is a nationally
understood, easily auditable and accessible tool for driving better
energy efficiency and renewables in housebuilding. Bargate
Homes would therefore seek further clarity from the SPD as to
which metrics (how) such exceedances of national energy
efficiency standards are to be reported by developers and
applicants in Climate Change Statements and other material.

In addition, clarity is sought as to how (or by whom) such
calculations shall be reviewed and assessed by the Council, as this
is a technical exercise involving specialist knowledge and
expertise.

Further guidance to be provided in a
proforma

The Council will work from the basis
that calculations provided are correct
and will review a sample of
calculations. Planning officers will
undergo appropriate training.

27 Bargate
Homes

General

The SPD does not provide any ‘transitional arrangements’ upon
adoption of the SPD, which raises concerns as to potentially
difficult requirements needing to be met for planning applications
which are already well advanced and policy compliant. It is
requested that such arrangements are made within the SPD for
applications which otherwise accord with the adopted development
plan.

The above is suggested, largely because of the approach to be
taken in the adoption of optional or ‘additional’ (over and above
national standards, which this DRAFT SPD endorses) standards.
The Planning Practice Guidance acknowledges (para 12 6-012-
20190315) that ‘local planning authorities can set energy
performance standards for new housing or the adaptation of
buildings to provide dwellings, that are higher than the building

It is intended that the SPD gives
further explanation as the
implementation of adopted local plan
policies STR1 & ENV3. The SPD
introduces the requirement for
applicants to submit a climate change
statement where the applicant can
provide information to assist with the
assessment of whether the proposed
development complies with policies
STR1 & ENV3. The SPD does not
introduce new policy requirements
which could only be achieved through
the review of the local plan or change
to national policy.

Page 64 of 71




6TT

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

regulations, but only up to the equivalent of Level 4 of the Code for
Sustainable Homes.’ [Pegasus emphasis added].

However, the PPG is also clear that this is allowed for by the
Planning and Energy Act 2008, which itself ‘allows local planning
authorities to set energy efficiency standards in their development
plan policies that exceed the energy efficiency requirements of the
building regulations’ (PPG para 012 6-012-20190315) [Pegasus
emphasis added].

GOV.UK advice also confirms that:

‘Supplementary planning documents (SPDs) should build upon and
provide more detailed advice or guidance on policies in an adopted
local plan. As they do not form part of the development plan, they
cannot introduce new planning policies into the development plan.’
(PPG para 008 Reference ID: 61-008-20190315) [Pegasus
emphasis added].

As such, the introduction of new ‘standards’ via this SPD mustn’t
be confused with the introduction of new policy, which can only be
achieved via the adoption of Local Plans. The only policy compliant
and sound approach the Council can take to the adoption of the
optional technical standards is through a focussed review of the
Local Plan. Only this approach would provide the necessary
opportunity for the evidence to be thoroughly tested and scrutinised
by stakeholders and a Planning Inspector.

As such, it is considered that further nuance is required in the
advocacy of standards within the SPD. The introduction of optional
(and endorsed) standards over and above the Building Regulations
to improve the sustainability of new development is noted by
Bargate Homes. However, the SPD is currently drafted as to
suggest that the standards being endorsed will be assessed in a
‘policy compliance’ way, against STR1 (vi) of the NFDC Local Plan
2016-2036 (Part 1). This does not accord with PPG or The Town

Page 65 of 71




0cT

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

and Country Planning Regulations 2012, both of which confirm that
SPDs and Local Development Documents are not local plans and
cannot — in and of themselves — introduce new planning policy.

29 Historic Additional section D on | Add a short, new section D in the SPD on retrofitting, supporting The focus of the SPD is on new
England retrofitting the role of heritage as part of the climate solution (as stated in buildings and masterplanning new
Historic England’s climate strategy): summarising the challenges, development. However, it would be
emphasising the need for sensitivity and expert advice when helpful to signpost the Historic
retrofitting historic buildings taking a whole-building approach, and | England guidance in the SPD and to
signposting other relevant guidance. clarify that the SPD only covers new
buildings.
Add a reference to policy DM1 on heritage and conservation in
Appendix 1.
Relevant HE guidance links provided in the HE representation
29 Historic Para 31 A ‘fabric first’ approach is not suitable for traditionally-constructed Footnote added to this effect
England buildings.
29 Historic Paras 31 41, Clarify that Figure 4 planning application requirements are for new | Agreed — clarification that guidance
England headings for Part C development only, additional factors need to be considered when will refer to new build development
and subheadings retrofitting traditionally constructed buildings. will be added.
preceding paras 67 Amend headings to clarify guidance refers to new build
and 72 development.
29 Historic 56 Encourage the Council to recognise the important role of occupant | Comment noted, but these are
England behaviour on a building’s carbon emissions general principles for buildings from
the NZCT.
31 General In summary, to reiterate, whist the aims and objectives are The best practice objectives identified
Persimmon laudable, the planning system neither has the resources or the in the SPD are sourced from
Homes legislation to enable the full and realistic implementation of the independent industry experts. The

SPD or to measure its ongoing effectiveness.

If you the Council will require a suite of reports and documents,
please make this expressly clear at the front of any guidance
document — The SPD weaves numerous requirements in the text —
effectively hidden — but so far we note the requirement for most
planning applications for residential development will include; (1)
CLIMATE CHANGE STATEMENT, (2) a BRE ASSESSMENT, (3)
a GOOD HOMES OVERHEATING RISK TOOL, (4) CARBON

SPD ‘best endeavours’ approach
provides scope for applicants to
explain what they can and cannot
achieve, and to justify why other
standards may represent best
endeavours for a given development.
The SPD will assist with the

Page 66 of 71



https://historicengland.org.uk/whats-new/features/climate-change/our-strategy/
https://historicengland.org.uk/whats-new/features/climate-change/our-strategy/

TZ1

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

EMISSIONS CALCULATIONS, (5) BUILDING FOR A HEALTHY
LIFE ASSESSMENT, (6) RENEWABLE ENERGY CALCULATION,
(7) FUTURE PROOFING STATEMENT, and (8) a SMART
ENERGY SYSTEMS.

We cannot help conclude this is excessive and will not in any event
be understood or meaningfully checked or assessed by the case
officer, who with respect, is likely to be already overburdened with
both workload and the ever increasingly complex nature of
development management.

The SPD is incredibly wordy and long. We would suggest /
recommend, like several other LPAs have done, you try and make
it simper for applicants, by producing a simple check list and
spread sheet which can be completed 'on line' and submitted with
the application in order to speed up and pass validation process.

implementation of adopted local plan
policies STR1 & ENVS3.

The proposed Climate Change
Statement brings information
generally already sought at planning
applications stage (in other
documents on the Local Information
Requirements list) into one
comprehensive document.

The Council will work from the basis
that calculations provided are correct
and will review a sample of
calculations. Planning officers will
undergo appropriate training.

The SPD references best practice
examples which contributes to its
length. In order to facilitate the
provision of consistent information a
proforma has been added to the
SPD.

33 New Surprise that Manufactured Modular Construction is not mentioned, | Part C of the SPD has been amended
Milton TC which uses no concrete, factories of which can produce one house | to include a reference to modern
per hour with construction taking one week per house e.g. current methods of construction in relation to
project in Ashford, Kent. embodied carbon.
34 New Para 57 MVHR is required if we go with well insulated homes. The SPD cannot introduce a
Forest requirement for Mechanical
Friends of Ventilation Heat Recovery but
the Earth information as to whether it is
proposed as part of the development
is sought under CCS5c.
35 General Implementation of this SPD will require a substantial training Comment noted. It is intended that
Ringwood programme for Planning Officers, Members, etc. in order to embed | training will be provided.

an understanding of the issues and the SPD requirements.

Page 67 of 71




[4A)

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

Town
Council
37 Hordle 69 The emphasis on form efficient design may compromise the Efficient form does not mean poor or
PC character of the area and street scene. inappropriate design. The SPD would
not override relevant planning policy
guidance on design and character,
including Local Plan policies ENV3-4.
Applicants will need to articulate any
potential conflict in the Design and
Access Statement and/or the Climate
Change Statement.
42 P Stickley | General The most frustrating part of all this is that everyone KNOWS that it | Comment noted — the plan-led
is entirely logical to lay the main services BEFORE building starts, | system is key to providing
and to ensure that adequate supplies or services are all at infrastructure to support new
pressure and ready to start. We all KNOW that a building company | development. These comments
wanting to build a huge number of domestic residences in a village | would be more appropriately
will be the driving force behind many people objecting to the plans, | addressed through the local plan
and at the same time requiring more services IN the village - review rather than this SPD.
shops, a medical centre, a pharmacy, a larger or additional school,
and so on. Everyone KNOWS that more recreational space will be
needed, as will parking areas and spaces, and also places of
worship. However, these things are never managed properly, and
they get forgotten very easily, and then are squeezed into the
blank spaces in the urban sprawl - not necessarily where they are
needed, but anywhere they can be fitted. This must all sound and
look very familiar to urban planners...but are the urban planners
able to change the thinking which is required to make it happen?
Apparently not. All too often good houses are demolished to make
way for car parks; playing fields are used up by school expansion,
and so on.
43 Natural General Nature-based solutions’ (NBS) are an essential tool to achieve Text on nature-based solutions added
England climate mitigation and adaptation. They involve the restoration of and link to Natural England’s report

ecosystems for the long-term benefit of people and nature.
Examples include expansion of tree and woodland cover;
restoration and creation of priority habitats; natural floodplain

added.

Page 68 of 71




A

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

management/ retrofitting of green infrastructure (Gl) including
sustainable urban drainage systems (SuDS). NBS can address
multiple issues simultaneously, e.g. flood risk, air and water
equality, biodiversity, and health and wellbeing of people.

We welcome the final section of the SPD that focuses on
supporting ecology and biodiversity, however we consider the SPD
can be much stronger and more specific throughout, in requiring
developers to design in nature-based solutions into their
developments.

43 Natural General We would refer you to the Green Infrastructure Planning and New Forest District Council benefits
England Design Guide (Natural England, 2023). Chapter 5 Designing from a sub-regional Green
Green Infrastructure for Multiple Functions sets out the ways Gl Infrastructure Strategy produced by
can help with climate change/resilience including ecosystem the Partnership for South Hampshire.
functions, biodiversity and pollination, soils, water, carbon and Whilst it acknowledges the
energy, temperature, and air quality as well as other functions such | importance of green and blue
as health. In particular, section 5.6 Carbon and energy is infrastructure to mitigate and adapt to
particularly relevant to this SPD. With regard to habitat climate change, the Council
creation/restoration, it outlines “The restoration and creation of considers that it does not need to
habitat results in the removal of carbon dioxide from the expand on existing guidance in this
atmosphere and the sequestration of carbon in soil and woody SPD.
vegetation. Wetlands, woodlands, tree plantings and permanent
grasslands all store carbon. Re-wetting the landscape and creating
sponge cities increases this. Habitat restoration and creation
through the provision of green infrastructure, represent the most
effective means of climate change mitigation, however it should be
noted that it can take many years for habitats to mature, and it is
important that sites continue to be managed appropriately”.
43 Natural General To help with the development of climate change policy and action, | Comments noted. SPD to be
England Natural England has published a range of resources, including: amended to include reference to the

. The Climate Change Adaptation Manual - provides
extensive information on climate change adaptation for the natural
environment. It considers the potential impacts of climate change
on individual priority habitats and outlines possible adaptation

Carbon Storage and Sequestration by
Habitat 2021 report.

Page 69 of 71




144"

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

responses. It includes the Landscape Scale Adaptation
Assessment Method to assist those wanting to undertake a climate
change vulnerability assessment for an area larger than an
individual site or specific environmental feature, focussing on
identifying vulnerabilities to climate change.

. The National Biodiversity Climate Change Vulnerability
Model is a mapping tool that helps identify areas likely to be more
vulnerable to the impacts of climate change.

. Carbon Storage and Sequestration by Habitat 2021
(NERR094) — a recently updated report that reviews and
summarises the carbon storage and sequestration rates of different
semi-natural habitats that can inform the design of nature-based
solutions to achieve climate mitigation and adaptation.

. The Nature Networks Evidence Handbook — aims to help
the designers of nature networks by identifying the principles of
network design and describing the evidence that underpins the
desirable features of nature networks. It builds on the Making
Space for Nature report (Lawton et al. 2010), outlining some of the
practical aspects of implementing a nature network plan, as well as
describing the tools that are available to help in decision making.

. Natural England Climate Change webinars - a range of
introductory climate change webinars available on YouTube.

44 General Our AONB Board has recently endorsed a Position Statement on Comment noted.

Cranbourne Biodiversity and it expects all new development to follow that

Chase simple guidance whatever mechanisms government may

AONB eventually put in place.

44 General As you know, CCAONB is also an International Dark Sky Reserve | A separate biodiversity SPD is being
Cranbourne and we are concerned about light pollution, and combined effects prepared and this would be the
Chase with climate change. Our Dark Skies Advisor comments: appropriate document to address this
AONB Comments in the SPD and its Separate Companion Document on issue.

reducing lighting in order to reduce energy use are welcome, but
there is a huge missed opportunity that is not addressed, viz
mitigating climate change by preserving/enhancing the carbon
sequestration provided by photosynthesisers. Given the growing
evidence of the harm visited on flora by atrtificial light at night

Page 70 of 71




T4

Annex 1 — Version for CABINET APRIL 2024

(ALAN), measures to control ALAN would complement other
measures to mitigate climate change. Such measures would, of
course, also have beneficial effects on biodiversity.

44 General Our Position Statements and Good Practice Notes can be found on | Comment noted.
Cranbourne our web site; Landscapes and Planning Publications - Cranborne
Chase Chase AONB do feel free to refer to them.
AONB
37 Hordle 79 Concern about the noise heat pumps generate AHSP noise levels must not exceed
PC 42dB(A) at the boundary of an
adjoining property (about the level of
a refrigerator running).
29 Historic 89 Add new para after 89: “When considering the deployment of on- Suggested wording incorporated into
England site renewable generation, consideration needs to be given to local | the preceding para 88
context, including the character of the area.” Consider a general refence to design
and character and the planning
balance with other relevant policies
e.g. by addition to para 7.
29 Historic 90 NE recommend the inclusion of a sentence at the outset, by Agreed — SPD to be amended
England addition to para 90, that recognises the value of embodied carbon | accordingly.
in the existing building stock: “As a result, there are significant
carbon benefits from retaining existing buildings and adapting them
where appropriate, rather than demolishing them for new build”.
29 Historic Companion Recognising that the companion document is not the focus of the As the companion document was
England document pp 46, 47, consultation and is largely extracted from an existing publication, extracted from an existing publication

51, 59, 64

NE suggest various succinct clarifications or amendments.

it would not be appropriate to make
amendments. The final version of the
SPD will simply refer to the existing
publication (the Net Zero Carbon
Toolkit).

Page 71 of 71




This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 2

Planning for Climate Change

Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

Version for Cabinet Approval April 2024

New Forest District (outside the National Park)

BESITR NI

127



Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

9 New Forest

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Acknowledgements

Parts of this document are reproduced or adapted from The Net Zero Carbon Toolkit
(October 2021) licensed under Creative Commons Licence 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-SA
4.0). Licence Deed: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0/legalcode

Attribution: Levitt Bernstein, Elementa, Passivhaus Trust and Etude commissioned by West
Oxfordshire, Cotswold and Forest of Dean District Councils, funded by the LGA Housing
Advisers Programme.

©0C0

A summary of the adaptations made from the original is available at Change log for
adaptation of the Net Zero Carbon Toolkit (NZCT).

Third parties are entitled to use changes and additions made by NFDC in accordance with
the terms of the original Creative Commons licence, and this document is distributed under
the same Creative Commons licence.

For the avoidance of doubt, these changes are not endorsed in any way by the licensor.



https://cotswold.gov.uk/netzerocarbontoolkit
https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0/legalcode
https://www.newforest.gov.uk/article/3302
https://www.newforest.gov.uk/article/3302

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

Contents

ACKNOWIEAGEMENTS ...ttt e e e e e et e s e e e e e e e e ettt e e e eaeeeeasstanaaaeeaeeeesnnes 2
Part A: INtrOAUCTION ...coiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeee e 4
Purpose, objectives and StIUCLUIE ..........ccoiieiuiiiie e e e e e e e e e e eaannes 5
Climate and Nature EMEIGENCY ........couuuuiiiiieeeiieiiiiie e e e e e e et e s e e e e e e e ettt e s e e e e e e e aaaara e aeaaes 6
0] Ty YA o] ] L=« PSSR 7
Benefits and costs of net zero carbon development..........ccooooeeviiiiiiii e 9
Part B: Requirements for Planning applicationsS ..........cccccvvvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeee, 12
SUMMIAIY .. eeiti e ettt e e e e e e et r e e e et e e e e et s e e e eta e e e e et e e e eatan s e e e e ssa e eeetssaeeestnaeeensnnnaanens 13
Planning application Climate Change StatementsS...........ccceeeiieeiiiiiiiiiiiii e e e 19
Part C: Climate Change mitigation and adaptation...............cccceevvvviviiieneeeenn. 27
ADOUL TS SECHION. ....eiiieiiiit et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e nnnnees 28
Net Zero carbon buildings: core principles and definitions.............cccccoeii i, 29
Key Performance INdiCators (KPIS) .......cooiiiiiiiiiiii et e e e e e aanees 30
A recipe for achieving net zero carbon development..........cc.oooiiiiiiiiiii e 33
Getting the design FgNT ... e e e e e e e e rr 34
Future proofing heating teChNOIOQY .........coooviiiiiii e e 35
Designing out OVErNEating MSKS .........uviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeeeeeeeeeee ettt 36
On-site renewable eNergy gENEIAtioN ........cc.ccceiiiiiiiiiiiii e e et e e e e e er s 37
EMDOAIEd CArDON ... 38
Facilitating sustainable tranSPOrt.............uviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee et 40
Reducing flood risk through Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SuDS) .........ccccccvvvee.... 40
Drought resilience and using water efficiently ... 41
Supporting ecology, biodiversity and nature-based SOIUtIONS ...........ccooeveeiieiiiiiieeeeeeeee, 43
N o] o = Lo [ o =R 44
Appendix 1: Local Plan 2020 - climate change related poliCies ............cccccvvvvviiiiiiiiiiiiiennnnn. 45
Appendix 2: Climate Change Statement Information Proforma ...........ccccoccviviiiiiiieniiiinnee. 46
Appendix 3: Good Homes Alliance early stage overheating risk tool ...............ccccccoeviiiiinnnn. 50
Appendix 4 Case studies for NeW DUII ... 51

Appendix 5: What to do when? Checklist for design and construction..............cccccceeeviennnee. 52




Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

Part A: Introduction




Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) . New Forest

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Purpose, objectives and structure

1. The purpose of the Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document
(SPD) is to provide guidance for the planning policies contained in the Local Plan Part
One 2016-2036: Planning Strategy (2020) (hereafter ‘Local Plan’). The SPD clarifies
how developers should address climate change in planning applications, in order to
meet Local Plan requirements, in particular for the two policies in the inset box below
(other climate change related policies are listed in Appendix 1).

Policy STR1: Achieving sustainable development

All new development will be expected to make a positive social, economic and
environmental contribution to community and business life in the Plan Area by: ...

vi. Ensuring that new development is adaptable to the future needs of occupiers and
future-proofed for climate change and innovations in transport and communications
technology.

Policy ENV3: Design quality and local distinctiveness
... New development will be required to: ...

v. Incorporate design measures that improve resource efficiency and climate change
resilience and reduce environmental impacts wherever they are appropriate and
capable of being effective...

2. It does so by setting out best practice approaches or standards that developers are
encouraged to target or to adopt, to

¢ take all practicable steps to decarbonise the running of buildings;
¢ to meaningfully reduce embodied carbon in construction; and
e to ensure development is climate change adapted.

3. The aim is to ensure that designs are climate change optimised before planning
applications are submitted for determination by New Forest District Council (hereafter
‘the Council’). It should be noted that the focus of this SPD is on new buildings and
masterplanning new development rather than retrofitting existing buildings. The
Council's Greener Housing Strategy refers to retrofitting in the existing housing stock
and Historic England provides advice on retrofitting historic buildings in its Climate
Strategy. There is extensive detailed advice on retrofitting in the Net Zero Carbon
Toolkit.

4. Whilst it is essential to make meaningful carbon savings now, it will not always be
possible to achieve best practice standards for reducing carbon emissions in one
step. Where it is not yet feasible for a building to be zero carbon in operation, an
important second objective of this SPD is for all such development to be zero carbon
ready, capable of running without carbon emissions.

5. To be ‘zero carbon ready’ requires that any additional steps needed to achieve zero
carbon running are identified and enabled at design and build stage, when it is most
cost efficient to do so. This will help to minimise the carbon impact, cost and
inconvenience of future upgrading.

1 The Net Zero Carbon Toolkit



https://www.newforest.gov.uk/article/1510/Local-Plan-2016-2036-Part-1-Planning-Strategy
https://www.newforest.gov.uk/article/1510/Local-Plan-2016-2036-Part-1-Planning-Strategy
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/climate-change/our-strategy/
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/climate-change/our-strategy/
https://cotswold.gov.uk/netzerocarbontoolkit

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) . New Forest

DISTRICT COUNCIL
SPD structure

6. Part A (pages 4-11) briefly sets out the implications of climate change locally, defines
key terms and provides the international and national policy context. It also
summarises the costs and benefits to developers and occupiers of achieving zero
carbon development

7. Part B (pages 12-25) sets out the information required to accompany planning
applications in the form of a Climate Change Statement.

8. Drawing on the Net Zero Carbon Toolkit and supporting Part B, Part C (pages 26-42)
provides best practice guidance for climate change mitigation and carbon reductions
in the design of new development, in particular for new housing. It also provides
guidance on climate change adaptation. Where there is potential conflict between the
need to respect local distinctiveness or heritage issues in design terms, and the need
to address climate change through design, the preferred approach and its justification
should be articulated in the design and access statement and the climate change
statement. The National Model Design Code recognises the environmental
performance of place and buildings to ensure they contribute to net zero targets as
part of the baseline standard of quality and practice.

9. The appendices (from page 44) provide further supporting information.

Climate and Nature Emergency

10. On 11 October 2021 New Forest District Council declared a Climate and Nature
Emergency and continues to tackle the local climate emergency?. This SPD is part of
the wider set of actions by the Council to deliver on the Declaration, outlined in a
Climate and Nature Emergency Action Plan?® (updated regularly).

11. This SPD complements the Council’'s Greener Housing Strategy* which focuses on
decarbonising the Council’'s own affordable house building programme and affordable
housing stock. The Strategy also commits the Council to working with private owners
and landlords to help decarbonise existing private homes.

CO2e, zero carbon and climate change effects

12. Climate change is widely accepted to be caused by increased greenhouse gases in
the atmosphere. The term CO-e is the common unit of measurement to indicate the
impact of all greenhouse gases, not just carbon dioxide. Two broad types of response
to climate change are required, defined® as follows:

e Climate change mitigation: Action to reduce the impact of human activity on the
climate system, primarily through reducing greenhouse gas emissions.

¢ Climate change adaptation: Adjustments made to natural or human systems in
response to the actual or anticipated impacts of climate change, to mitigate harm
or exploit beneficial opportunities.

Carbon emissions from development

13. Energy is consumed and carbon is emitted at all stages of the whole-life cycle of a
development.

2 Climate change - New Forest District Council
3 NFDC Climate Change and Nature Emergency Report and Action Plan 2023
4NFDC Greener Housing Strateqy 2022 to 2032

5 Source: NPPF glossary



https://www.newforest.gov.uk/climatechange
https://www.newforest.gov.uk/media/2983/Climate-Change-Annual-Report-2023/pdf/Climate_Annual_Report_2023_v6.pdf?m=1677155150940
https://www.newforest.gov.uk/greenerhousing

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) W New Forest
DISTRICT COUNCIL
14. Embodied carbon is emitted from energy consumed during construction, including

the production and transportation of building materials - processes developers have

some ability to control or influence. Thereafter embodied carbon also arises from

periodic maintenance and ultimately from building demolition and waste disposal

processes (net of any carbon savings from materials that can be recycled and any

energy that can be recovered from residual waste).

15. Operational carbon is emitted over time from the energy consumed during the
occupation and use of the building, in two categories:

e Regulated emissions from energy used to run the building, including lighting,
heating, cooling/ventilation and hot water - so known because energy efficiency
and carbon standards in these areas are controlled by the Building Regulations.

o Unregulated emissions are the remaining emissions from user behaviour, the
other appliances and devices occupiers choose to fit or plug in.

Policy context

International

16. In 2018, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) showed the world
there would be only 12 years (to 2030) to prevent irreversible catastrophic damage
from a changing climate. Any temperature increase greater than 1.5°C above pre-
industrial levels would trigger far worse effects than previously thought, in terms of
drought, flood, poverty for many people, and catastrophic biodiversity loss.

UN®
i
jiten

The Closing Window

Figure 1: IPCC and UN climate change documents front covers

National legislation

17. The Climate Change Act 2008 (as amended 2019) legally commits the UK
government to achieving net zero carbon emissions by 2050. In 2021 the UK Climate
Change Committee’s Sixth Carbon Budget® committed to a ‘world leading’ 78%
reduction carbon target by 2035, relative to 1990 levels.

18. The Environment Act 2021 requires the Secretary of State to introduce legally
binding environmental targets on a range of matters including air quality, resource
efficiency and waste reduction, published in December 2022,

6 Sixth Carbon Budget: https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/sixth-carbon-budget/
7 Environmental targets consultation summary of responses and government response
(publishing.service.gov.uk)



https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1125278/Environmental_targets_consultation_summary_of_responses_and_government_response.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1125278/Environmental_targets_consultation_summary_of_responses_and_government_response.pdf

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) . New Forest

DISTRICT COUNCIL
National planning policy and guidance

19. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 2023) sets out that the
overarching environmental objectives of the planning system include ‘using natural
resources prudently, minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to
climate change, including moving to a low carbon economy’.

20. The NPPF para 157 states that:

‘The planning system should support the transition to a low carbon future in a
changing climate, taking full account of flood risk and coastal change. It should help
to: shape places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas
emissions, minimise vulnerability and improve resilience; encourage the reuse of
existing resources, including the conversion of existing buildings; and support
renewable and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure’.

21. The NPPF para 159 states that:

... ‘new development should be planned for in ways that: (a) avoid increased
vulnerability to the range of impacts arising from climate change... (b) can help to
reduce greenhouse gas emissions, such as through its location, orientation and
design...’

22. The National Planning Practice Guidance section on Flood risk and coastal change
was significantly updated in August 2022. The NPPF and NPPG now
comprehensively address how developments should avoid, or if necessary mitigate or
adapt to, all forms of flood risk, including predicted climate change effects.

23. The National Design Guide (MHCLG 2021) outlines and illustrates the Government’s
priorities for well-designed places. It states that well-designed places and buildings
conserve natural and other resources including buildings, land, water, energy and
materials. Their design responds to the impacts of climate change by being energy
efficient and minimising carbon emissions to meet net zero targets®.

NFDC Local Plan Part One 2016-2036: Planning Strategy (2020)

24. As part of the preparation of the adopted Local Plan, current and future flood risks
were assessed in detail. Safe development locations with access to opportunities,
facilities and services were prioritised for development in the Local Plan to help
reduce the need to travel (to the extent practicable in a predominantly rural area).
Local Plan policies that address climate change matters are summarised in paragraph
1 and appendix 1.

Cranbourne Chase AONB Management Plan

25. The adopted Cranbourne Chase Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB)
Management Plan has climate change as a central theme running through it and
contains aims and objectives for the conservation and enhancement of the National
Landscape. It contains specific guidance on landscape and rural issues applicable to
development in the designated National Landscape.

Building Regulation

26. The Building Regulations regulate the ‘operational’ energy used to run buildings and
the carbon emissions arising (Approved Document L: Conservation of fuel and power,

8 National Model Design Code, Part 2: Guidance notes, ‘Resources’ section.

8 °®



https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-and-coastal-change
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-design-guide
https://www.newforest.gov.uk/article/1510/Local-Plan-2016-2036-Part-1-Planning-Strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/conservation-of-fuel-and-power-approved-document-l
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1009540/National_Model_Design_Code_-_Part_2_Guidance_Notes_web.pdf

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) . New Forest

DISTRICT COUNCIL
as updated 2022). The following Approved Documents are also relevant to how
buildings adapt to or mitigate climate change.

o Approved Document F: Ventilation
o Approved Document O: Overheating
e Approved Document S: Infrastructure for the charging of electric vehicles.

27.1n 2019-2021 the government consulted on a Future Homes Standard and Future
Buildings Standard, proposals to amend the Building Regulations in 2025. The
proposals would reduce regulated operational carbon emissions by 75 and 80%
compared with 2019 standards, including banning fossil fuel boilers in new homes
from 2025.

Benefits and costs of net zero carbon development

28. There is a cost to achieving net zero as a society. For some sectors it will require
technological innovation and investments in research and development. New
buildings are comparatively less challenging in terms of net zero in operation.
Technologies, techniques and processes required to run buildings without adding to
carbon emissions are already available.

29. Lowering the embodied carbon of constructing new buildings will be more challenging
and requires both material and procurement innovations. However, this does not have
to lead to a significant cost premium either.

Buildings produce a lot of carbon — and are expensive to run

30. It is clear that a Net Zero UK will require a significant reduction in energy use and
carbon emissions from all buildings and, in particular, homes. Even today, most
new homes are being fitted with gas boilers and these will continue to emit carbon
and also to degrade local air quality during their operational life.

Britain has not made sufficient progress on this

31. Despite rapid decarbonisation in many other sectors, the energy efficiency of new
homes has remained almost constant over the last ten years. The rate of
improvement stalled following the withdrawal of the Zero Carbon Homes target in
2016.

32. Interim improvements to the Building Regulations from 2022 will help (Part L
2021), but there is a need to do much better than the ‘business as usual’ practice
of minimum regulatory compliance in the construction sector.

Heating: an important energy demand which can be reduced

33. Space and water heating accounts for more than half of the total energy demand in a
new home, and space heating is estimated to account for 65% of home winter energy
use®. Space heating demand is an excellent proxy for the thermal efficiency of the
building fabric, which is why it is important to concentrate on a ‘fabric first’ approach
in most circumstances?®.

9 https://energysavingtrust.org.uk/energy-at-home/heating-your-home/, Net Zero carbon Toolkit

10 A “fabric first’ approach may not be suitable when retrofitting buildings of heritage value or of traditional
construction.



https://energysavingtrust.org.uk/energy-at-home/heating-your-home/

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

A 2% - 6% cost premium for net zero carbon in operation

+4-5%
7 ]
+5-6%
s —
Part L 2013 Part L 2021 Net Zero carbon Part L 2013 Part L 2021 Net Zero carbon
in operation in operation
Estimated cost premium for a typical new terrace house Estimated cost premium for a typical new block of flats

Figure 2: Estimated cost premium for typical new homes (Source: NZCT)

34. The dwelling construction cost premium for delivering a new net zero carbon
home has been estimated to be approximately 2% to 6% above a Part L 2021
compliant equivalent!®. It will be a smaller percentage of final house sales prices,
which would additionally reflect the cost of land and any other facilities,
community benefits or infrastructure provided.

Potential to drive down net zero costs

35. A significant advantage in committing to net zero new homes is that it is a
sustainable standard for the future. It offers significant opportunities for
developers, clients and contractors to reduce their additional costs over time by
improving processes (e.g., airtightness) or contributing to driving down the cost of
key technologies. Whilst inflation is currently high overall the general trend has
been a significant reduction in the cost of solar photovoltaic (PVs) in the last ten
years. Other reductions, albeit smaller, are expected for heat pumps and
Mechanical Ventilation Heat Recover (MVHR) systems.

UK homebuyers are prepared to pay a green premium

36. Slightly higher build costs will not necessarily affect development viability. Allowance
should be made for cost recovery from buyers prepared to pay more for a home in
return for lower energy bills. A recent survey*? of 2,300 buyers, agents and mortgage
brokers found that buyers are already prepared to pay a 9.4% premium for previously
owned homes that have been energy efficiency retrofitted, and 15.5% more for a
home that meets high energy efficiency standards.

Significant cost savings for the residents

37. Net zero carbon homes are significantly cheaper to run than a standard new build
house. This is due to the combined effects of lower energy demand alongside
greater flexibility of energy use during the day, and home use of solar electricity
where PV is installed.

11 Recent evidence produced for Winchester and Cornwall Councils support this estimate. Technical evidence
based for Policy SEC1 — new housing (Etude, Currie & Brown, July 2021). Net Zero Carbon Targets, Evidence
Base for Winchester City Council (Elementa, Etude, Currie & Brown, Sept 2022).

12 Buying into the Green Homes Revolution, October 2022, Santander.

10



https://www.swenergyhub.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/20200359-Climate-Emergency-DPD-Technical-evidence-base-Rev-G.pdf
https://www.swenergyhub.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/20200359-Climate-Emergency-DPD-Technical-evidence-base-Rev-G.pdf
https://www.winchester.gov.uk/planning-policy/winchester-district-local-plan-2011-2036-adopted/evidence-base/local-plan-2038-evidence-base
https://www.winchester.gov.uk/planning-policy/winchester-district-local-plan-2011-2036-adopted/evidence-base/local-plan-2038-evidence-base
https://www.santander.co.uk/assets/s3fs-public/documents/buying_into_the_green_homes_revolution_report.pdf

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

9 New Forest

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Avoided costs for retrofitting and to society as a whole

38. Continuing to construct buildings that use fossil-fuel dependent space and water
heating systems is likely to be financially misguided in most cases. Designing a
home for a heat pump-based system from the outset is estimated to cost around
one-fifth of the cost of retrofitting that technology to the same quality and
standard®.

39. There also wider off-site benefits of ‘getting it right now ‘in terms of reduced
energy infrastructure costs as less renewable energy generation will be required
to achieve a decarbonised national grid.

40. Within a generation a fossil-fuel dependent heating system will need to be replaced,
and there is no guarantee that similar replacements will still be legal and available.
Future retrofitting will also generate further embodied carbon emissions in the
refurbishment process, especially if the original design was not future proofed for this
eventuality.

41. Even in the unlikely event that there is no realistic alternative to a gas or oil boiler at
the time of construction, future replacement costs can and should be avoided by
designing and specifying the building to simplify a future air source heat pump retrofit
for both space and water heating.

13 UK housing: Fit for the future?, Climate Change Committee 2019, p14 See for example Buyers of brand-new
homes face £20,000 bill to make them greener, Guardian 23 Jan 2021. Analysis cited used Climate Change
Committee data.

11



https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/uk-housing-fit-for-the-future/
https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2021/jan/23/buyers-of-brand-new-homes-face-20000-bill-to-make-them-greener
https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2021/jan/23/buyers-of-brand-new-homes-face-20000-bill-to-make-them-greener

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

Part B: Requirements for
Planning applications




A New Forest

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
DISTRICT COUNCIL

Summary

42. Figure 3% illustrates the recommended measures to achieve climate adapted development. Whilst the example shown is a new build
residential dwelling the principles apply equally to other forms of new build development.
It is recommended that new homes are built to zero carbon standards using the standards and performance metrics defined by LETI (https://www.leti.London)

Building form and thermal efficiency Building and window orientation for solar gain

6€T

Acompact building form limits heat +  Qrientate dwellings to +/- 30° to the south
loss if possible
+ Target a space heating demand of +  Position buildings to avoid overshadowing
18 KWhim'yr and Energy Use neighbours Embodied Carbon
» 3 . . Renewable energy
Intensity of 35 KWh/m'/yr Cptimise window size, position and the . Choose lowsr carbon building processss - Fit solar PV wherever practicable

provision of intemnal thermal mass to
benefit from winter solar gain
+  Limit glazing to the north to reduce heat

loss
Avoiding summer overheating
+  Fit external shading on sunny aspect
windows.

sources where possible’

*  Avoid large areas of
glazing

«  Provide secure cross-ventilation

+  Ghoose exterior and public realm materials
and finishes that absorb less heat or reflect
it
Provide green and blue infrastructure
including street and garden trees to provide
shade and urban cooling

twest facing

Swale

Street planting, street runoff,

bioretention park greenspace

- SUDS for flood management,
trees and greenspace provides
urban cooling, supports healthy
lifestyles, improves local air
quality

+  Use surface water to naturally
‘support greenspace planting
providing drought resilience

Flo

oding
Utilise parmeable surfaces wherever possible
Design outdoor areas and gardens to hold and delay
the passage of stormwater runoff
Provide SUDs drainage systems wherever appropriate,
following the CIRIA SUDs Manual appreach
Design in property level flood resilience if flood risks
cannot be fully mitigated

and materials, recycled or recyclable +  Onsite generation should at least match
materials from lecal and sustainable

Ecalogy and biodiversity
¢+  Select diverse native species of planting
+  Consider living walls or roofs

* Create habitat for local species

annual operational energy use
«  Target 120 kWh/yr per m? of building
footprint

Water efficiency and drought resilience

+  Specify water efficient fittings to achieve a water
efficiency of at least 110 litres/person/day

»  Provide rainwater collection for front and rear garden
watering and outdoor cleaning.

+  Consider greywater recycling or harvesting rainwater
to reduce mains water use
Ensure public and private greenspaces and trees can
be sustained by naturally available water

Low carbon heat

+  New homes should not be connected to the gas grid

+  Low carbon alternatives such as heat pumps should
be utilised

- Smart energy use control systems are recommended

= Include sufficient, hygienic and Ventilation
convenient kitchen and outdoor +  Provide secure cross-venlilation.
waste storage areas to facilitate + MVHR should be considered to ensure good indoor
recycling air quality and energy efficient ventilation

Transport & Travel

Provide secure, easy to access cycle parking
Install EV charging points of sufficient charging
speed for the likely number of vehicles at the
property

Design in a space with access to high speed
broadband that can be used as a home office

Figure 3: Recommended measures to achieve climate adapted development

14 Image copyright, re-used and adapted with the permission of Cheltenham Borough Council; Etude; April Grisdale lllustrations

13




Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) New ForeSt

DISTRICT COUNCIL

43. Figure 4This section outlines the information to be provided with planning applications
for new buildings, as summarised in Figure 4, and set out in more detail later in the
section. It will not be applicable for applications for changes of use, retrofitting
existing buildings or householder applications. Planning permission, listed building
consent and building regulations approval may be required for retrofitting, depending
on the nature of the building and proposed works. Table 1 overleaf sets out
information requirements by planning application stage and type. Figures 5-6 set out
recommended technical building standards for houses and flats. For other
development uses see section C.

Climate change mitigation
1.Minimising energy demand targeting net zero carbon in operation: To set out
how energy demand in the use and occupation of the development has been
minimised to actively target net zero carbon in operation. To state whether or not the
developer is making a Future Homes and Buildings Now commitment to only
installing a low carbon heating system, otherwise to explain the reasons why not and
how the lowest carbon heat source practicable has been specified. To provide
calculations for space heating and total operational energy demand (Energy Use
Intensity) and the resulting COze emissions.

A secondary objective where a zero carbon in operation cannot be achieved and/or
low carbon heating is impracticable, is to ensure that the development is future-
proofed to be zero carbon ready without requiring significant retrofitting.

2. On-site renewable energy generation: To generate on-site renewable energy
wherever possible, providing a calculation of the renewable energy generated.

3. Reducing embodied carbon emissions: To set out the steps taken to reduce
carbon emissions from (embodied in) the construction process up to the point of
practical completion. For major developments, to calculate the reductions achieved.
4. Sustainable travel: To address certain property level measures to support
sustainable travel, including application of the Building for a Healthy Life design
approach on residential developments of 50 or more homes (other aspects to be
assessed from other transport information required at planning application stage).

Climate change adaptation
5. Avoiding overheating: Residential developments to undertake a Good Homes
Alliance early stage overheating risk assessment. All major developments to describe
how heatwave mitigation has informed planting, green infrastructure and landscaping
proposals.
6. Flood risk reduction and sustainable urban drainage: To provide permeable
hardstanding surfaces and SuDS wherever appropriate, SuDS to be designed in
accordance with the Construction Industry Research and Information Association
(CIRIA) SuDS Manual approach. Where applicable, to explain how the drainage
system minimises nutrient run off, and how the development will mitigate residual
flood risks in extreme flood events (NB emphasis on surface water management.
Other aspects to be assessed from flood risks assessments, where they are required
at planning application stage).
7. Drought resilience and using water efficiently: to install water butts, and to
summarise other measures proposed to reduce the need for mains water use and to
make best use of surface water runoff.

Figure 4: Summary of planning application information requirements




Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

Table 1: Climate Change Statement (CCS) information requirements by planning application stage and type

Minor development

Major development

Notes
1-9 Other < 10-49 50+ Other 2
homes  1,000sgm homes homes 1,000sgm

Climate change mitigation and zero carbon
1. Minimising operational energy demand targeting net zero carbon in operation
la Minimising energy demand by design Y Y Y Y Y All development
1b Low carbon heating systems Y Y Y Y Y Future Homes & Buildings commitment
1c Energy use and carbon calculations Y Y Y Y Y For detailed design approval stage
1d Smart energy systems Y N Y Y N Residential development

= le Future proofing statement Y N Y Y N Relevant residential developments

ﬁ 1f Heat pump pre-installation option N N Y Y N If heat pumps are not already included
2. On-site renewable energy generation
2a Onsite renewable energy Y Y Y Y Y Wherever feasible
2b Renewable energy calculation Y Y Y Y Y For detailed design approval stage
2c Option to purchase PV pre-installation N N Y Y N If PV is not already included
3. Reducing embodied carbon emissions
3a Reducing embodied carbon Y Y Y Y Y All development
3b Calculating embodied carbon savings N N N Y Y Larger major developments
4. Sustainable travel (assessment will mainly use other planning application supporting information)
4a Cycle parking and EV charging Y Y Y Y Y All development
4b Design to Building for a Healthy Life N N N Y N Larger residential developments

Continued overleaf
15

@ﬂa



A

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

Minor development

Major development

INew Forest

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Notes
1-9 Other < 10-49 50+ Other 2
homes  1,000sgm homes homes 1,000sgm
Climate change adaptation
5. Avoiding overheating
5a Natural heatwave mitigation N N Y Y Y All major development
5b GHA Overheating risk assessment Y Y Y Y Y All residential developments
5¢ Use of MVHR Y Y Y Y Y All developments

6. Flood risk reduction and sustainable urban d

rainage (SuDS) (assessment will mainly use other planning

6a Managing surface water runoff Y Y Y Y Y All developments

6b SubDS Y Y Y Y Y Wherever SuDS are appropriate

6C Flood resilience measures Y Y Y Y Y Wherever residual flood risks remain
7. Drought resilience and using water efficiently

7 Reducing mains water demand Y Y Y Y Y All developments




INew Forest

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

Design checklist £

& Form efficiency

Ensure the building form is 1 mhWm? Thickness: 400-450mm

as simple and compact as U-value: 0.10-0.12 W/m? K

possible Th | Bri dging

Y-value: 0.04 W/m? K \
@ Window proportion -

Follow recommended ratio Windows* m Eﬂ m U D

of window to extemnal wall

Externals doors

Triple glazed U Insulated
U-value: 0.8 W/mé K U-value: 1.0 W/m’ K
& Mechanical ventilation [ H |_|
MVHR 90% efficiency
<2m duct length from unit
to external all Walls - Ground floor

Thickness: 550-600mm _ Thickness: 150-200mm (insulation)
Airtightness I U-value: 0.13-0.15 W/m? K U-value: 0.08-0.10 W/m? K
Airtight building] fabric : E—

< 1 m3/h/m? at 50 Pa /- Perfohnance \

@ Heating system As electricity generated on site with PVs

Choose a low carbon is the same as the Energy Use Intensity
;3:::2’9 system e.g. heat (EUI) on an annual basis, the building is 0 80 Q 0 e
Net Zero carbon in operation. 30 e m
1 ) tv
0 & ”

evT
o
IEanE

@ Design out overheating

Carry out overheating B Typical terrace house built to building
analysis (as per CIBSE TM59
guidance) and reduce

overheating through design \ Bl New zero carbon terrace house

regulations
Space Heating Demand Energy Use Intensity Electricity Generation

(KWh/m?/yr) (KWh/m?/yr) (kWh/m2g_/yr) )

e.g. external shading,
openable windows and
cross ventilation

Figure 5: How zero carbon comes together — new terraced housing

17 (@




Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

@ Fomeficency p—
% _ s - at roo

Ensure the building form is Air Tightness
as simple and compact as 1 m*h/mé Thickness: 1,000-1,100mm
possible m U-value: 0.10-0.12 W/m? K
& Window proportion
f

Thermal Bridging
Y-value: 0.04 W/m? K
Follow recommended
ratio of window to

external wall

Windows*

Triple glazed
U-value: 0.8 W/m? K

. Insulated
| U-value: 1.0 W/m2.K

1 (o
D D D ’ DD Externals doors
D ‘

@ Mechanical ventilation
MVHR 90% efficiency

Walls L Ground floor

<2m duct length from =
unit to extemnal all -
= Thickness: 550-600mm s = 8 Thickness: 150-200mm (insulation)
@ Airtightness =2 U-value: 0.13-0.15 W/m* K U-value: 0.08-0.10 W/m? K
. Airtight building fabric _—
H < 1 m*/h/m? at 50 Pa
N
/— Performance
@ Heating system \
Ehoose: adowcarbor As electricity generated on site with PVs Q Q
heating system e.g. heat is the same as the Energy Use Intensity
pump (EUI) on an annual basis, the building is 7 80 <, @& Onsie
Net Zero carbon in operation. 30 @
@ Design out overheating Eﬂ
Carry out overheating M Typical terrace house built to building @ /‘é@ /%Qf
analysis (CIBSE TM59) and B Y/ /
reduce overheating through Shaie Heatis Demaid 2 s :
design e.g. external B New zero carbon terrace house P % Energy Use Intensity Electricity Generation
shading, openable windows (KWh/m?/yr) (KWh/m?/yr) (KWh/m2,/yr)
and cross ventilation

Figure 6: How zero carbon comes together — a block of flats

18 (@




Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) New FOTESt

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Planning application Climate Change Statements

Introduction

44. Planning applications should be supported by sufficient information to demonstrate
how the proposed development will meet Local Plan requirements in relation to
climate change (set out in paragraph 2 and Appendix 1). This evidence will be
submitted in a Climate Change Statement!® (CCS) that addresses all the best
practice objectives and information requirements set out in this section, unless they
are clearly not relevant to the development type or location.

45. CCS sections 1-4 address climate change mitigation and will also demonstrate how
the proposed development will play its part in achieving net zero carbon by 2050, and
a 78% reduction on 1990 levels by 2035. Further information is provided in Part C of
this SPD. Sections 5-7 address climate change adaptation.

46. In order to simplify the process for applicants and to ensure that the Council receives
consistent information, a proforma is included at Appendix 2. This should be sufficient
to enable consideration of adopted Local Plan policies STR1 and ENV3 for most
applications. However, applicants for larger scale development, particularly
residential development above 50 dwellings, may wish to add to the information in the
proforma to provide further justification for their approach to design and layout in
relation to climate change.

47. Applicants will need to provide sufficient information in their CCS to enable an
assessment as to whether the proposed development meets the requirements of
adopted Local Plan policies STR1 and ENV3. However, developers cannot be
compelled, through this SPD, to meet the best practice standards. Applicants are
encouraged to engage in preapplication discussions with the Council as early as
possible in the design process, particularly for larger developments.

Best practice and best endeavours

48. The Council recognises that some of the best practice standards are challenging, as
they should be. The scale and urgency of the climate challenge means that ‘business
as usual’ is not an acceptable option. It is a Local Plan requirement that meaningful
steps are taken now, which means demonstrably improving on the carbon and energy
efficiency performance and climate resilience of mainstream building practices.

49. The developers’ CCS information will evidence the steps that will be taken to achieve
best practice where possible. Developers also need to ensure that their designs are
capable of meeting the Future Homes and Future Buildings standards. Where it is not
possible to achieve best practice, the CCS should set out the options the developer
has considered and tested. It should explain why the approach proposed represents
best endeavours that reduce CO.e emissions, energy demand and climate changes
risks to the fullest extent practicable, and how future retrofitting costs have been
minimised.

15 The CCS is proposed to be added to the Local Information Requirements list, a process that will be undertaken
and consulted on separately. Doing so would bring together in one place, and replace, equivalent information
requirements already on the list in other documents e.g., the Renewable and Low Carbon Statement.

19 .®



https://www.newforest.gov.uk/article/1192/Local-checklists-for-planning-applications#h22

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) New FOTESt

DISTRICT COUNCIL
50. The information provided allows the developer to articulate their case as to how the

proposed development ensures the ‘risks to people, places and the environment from
climate change effects are minimised’. Also, how they have incorporated design
measures that improve resource efficiency and climate change resilience and reduce
environmental impacts wherever they are appropriate and capable of being effective.
However, it is unlikely that planning permission will be refused on the basis that a
target or standard will not been met. A policy to require this level of intervention would
need to be part of the formal Local Plan Review process.

Proportionate information

51. A reduced level of detail is acceptable for planning applications that are not ‘major
applications’ i.e., less than 10 homes or less than 1,000 sgm (GIA) of other floorspace
(both figures gross rather than net of any existing floorspace).

52. Where multiple buildings are proposed, data can be provided for a sample
representative of the different types of buildings and their positioning and solar
orientation on the site. The sample will be agreed in the planning application process.

53. Where the relevant design details are not known e.g., for outline planning
applications, it may be appropriate to agree the details at reserved matters application
stage. If during the life of an application material amendments are made the CCS may
need to be updated.

Avoiding unnecessary duplication of information

54. Depending on the type, scale and location of the development a range of supporting
information or technical studies must be submitted when a planning application is
made. In addition, the Local Plan requires that non-residential development of 1,000
sgm Gross Internal Area (GIA) or more should attain Building Research
Establishment Environmental Assessment Method (BREEAM) ‘Excellent’ standard
overall (Policy IMPL2). This is a process which culminates in an assessment report
issued by BREEAM. The development of commercial development of between 250-
999 sgm GIA should attain excellent standard for water consumption.

55. This supporting information may provide a range of climate change related
information. Where applicable and provided that the relevant matters are covered, it
will be acceptable to address the information requirements of this SPD by submitting
a CCS providing a summary response plus a cross reference to the parts of the
submitted technical documents or assessments that cover the issue in more detalil
(provided that they are submitted at the point of making the planning application).

56. The same approach can be taken where the developer is using an independent
benchmarking process for the quality, sustainability, carbon reduction or energy
efficiency of the development, for example Passivhaus or BRE Home Quality Mark.

Climate Change Statement (CCS) contents

CCS 1. Minimising energy demand and targeting net zero carbon in operation
Best practice objectives:

The development process should actively target net zero carbon in operation,
minimising by design the energy needed for heating, lighting, ventilation and cooling,
opting wherever practicable for a heat pump or other efficient low carbon heating
system. Passive design measures should be considered first to make effective
seasonal use of solar gain and natural ventilation and cooling.

20 .®




Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) New FOTESt

DISTRICT COUNCIL
Specifications for new build fabric efficiency for residential development should target
achieving a space heating demand under 15 kWh/m2GIA/year, and total operational
energy demand (Energy Use Intensity) of under 35 kWh/m2GlA/year. Best practice
benchmarks for re-purposing buildings for residential use, or other types of
development should be agreed at pre-application advice stage, starting with the LETI /
Net Zero Carbon Toolkit (see SPD Section C, ‘Key Performance Indicators’).
The inclusion of ‘smart’ energy use and heating control and monitoring systems that
can also measure onsite renewable energy generation and use is recommended.

Secondary objectives:

Where net zero carbon in operation cannot be achieved currently, buildings should aim
to be zero carbon ready?®.

If a heat pump or other efficient low carbon heating system is demonstrably not
practicable, or net zero carbon readiness cannot reasonably be achieved, the building
should be future proofed: designed to reduce energy demand and COze emissions
as far as is currently practicable, and to minimise the cost and disruption of retrofitting
the building to run efficiently with a heat pump system in the future.

For further information see SPD Part C sections Getting the design right (pages 33-
34) and Future proofing heating technology (pages 34-35). The construction methods,
airtightness, ventilation, heat pump and smart controls sections of the Net Zero Carbon
Toolkit may also be helpful.

CCS la: Minimising energy demand by design (all development):

Explain how the design brief, performance specification and commissioning process
for the development has (or will) actively seek to minimise energy demand in use, in
particular for space and water heating.

CCS 1b: Low carbon heating systems (all development):

(i) State whether or not the developer is making a Future Homes and Buildings Now
commitment to the installation of a low carbon, energy efficient heating system, and if
not, to explain why it is not possible to do so.

(i) At the point of planning application for approval of the detailed design, confirm the
heating system specified for the development. If a heat pump-based or alternative low
carbon heating system is not specified, detail the lower carbon options that have been
considered and explain why they are not feasible!’.

CCS 1c: Energy use and carbon calculations (all qualifying development):

At the point of planning application for approval of the detailed design, provide
calculations of the space heating demand, total operational energy demand (EUI),
CO.e emissions per sgm GIA per annum for the building designs proposed?®?, and the
total operational carbon emissions in tonnes per annum for the development as a

16 Meaning net zero carbon in operation will be achieved when national electricity supply is fully decarbonised.
17 This assessment may draw on information required to be provided in accordance with the Building
Regulations, regulation 25A: Consideration of high efficiency alternative systems, but the information is required
at the point of planning application. Compliance with regulation 25A may not be sufficient to achieve compliance
with planning policy requirements.

18 Where there are multiple building types a representative sample will be agreed.

21 .®




Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) New ForeSt

DISTRICT COUNCIL
whole. If the results exceed the recommended best practice targets, provide an
evidenced justification that the best practicable outcome has been achieved for the
location, type and form of development.

For developments of 10 or more dwellings or 1,000 sgm or more of other?® floorspace,
energy use and CO.e calculations should use an industry recognised method such as
the Passivhaus Planning Package (PHPP) or CIBSE TM54 Evaluating operational
enerqy use at the design stage (2022). For developments below these thresholds the
same approach is recommended, but calculations based on the Target Primary Energy
Rate required for Building Regulations (Part L) purposes will also be acceptable.

CCS 1d: Smart energy systems (all development):

Confirm whether or not smart energy use and heating control and monitoring systems
will be fitted, and whether the system will be capable of measuring onsite renewable
energy generation and use. If not, explain why it is not possible to do so.

CCS 1e: Future proofing statement (any residential development unable to commit to a
low carbon heating system):

At the point of planning application for approval of the detailed design, provide a
statement setting out all the works required to install a heat pump system in the future,
including any associated building fabric or other upgrading necessary to ensure
occupier comfort in winter. The future proofing statement is to be made available to all
prospective buyers.

CCS 1f: Option to purchase heat pump pre-installation (relevant residential
developments of 10 or more homes):

If heat pump installation is demonstrated by appropriate evidence to be unfeasible on
the grounds of financial viability, buyers purchasing off-plan should be given the
opportunity to purchase from the developer a heat pump system pre-installation at a
discounted supplementary cost.

CCS 2. On-site renewable energy generation

Best practice objectives:

On-site renewable energy generation should be provided wherever it is practicable to
do so. Wherever possible this should be sufficient to at least meet annual operational
energy use of the development to achieve net zero carbon development in operation.
Targeting on-site renewable energy generation of at least 120 kWh/year per square
metre of building footprint is also recommended for residential development.

For further information see SPD Part C section: On-site renewable energy
generation (page 35). The Solar PV sections of the Net Zero Carbon Toolkit may also
be helpful.

CCS 2a: Onsite renewable enerqy (all developments)

Set out the development approach to optimising the generation of onsite renewable
energy. If no onsite renewable energy provision is proposed explain why it is not
possible to do so.

19 Information that already has to be provided in accordance with Building Regulations Part L(2), para 94

22 ao



https://passivehouse.com/04_phpp/04_phpp.htm
https://www.cibse.org/knowledge-research/knowledge-portal/tm54-evaluating-operational-energy-use-at-the-design-stage-2022
https://www.cibse.org/knowledge-research/knowledge-portal/tm54-evaluating-operational-energy-use-at-the-design-stage-2022

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) New ForeSt

DISTRICT COUNCIL
CCS 2b: Renewable energy generation calculation (all development providing onsite
renewable energy generation):

At the point of planning application for approval of the detailed design, provide a
calculation of the renewable energy that will be generated on-site, in total?® and per
sg.m of building development footprint. Express this value as a percentage of the best
practice target of 120 kWh/m?/year, and as a percentage of the building operational
energy use (EUI) calculated for CCS 1c.

If the onsite renewable energy generated is below the predicted annual regulated
operational energy use, provide a justification that the best practicable outcome has
been achieved for the development proposed.

CCS 2c: Option to purchase PV pre-installation (all residential developments of 10 or
more homes where effective PV installation is feasible):

Where PV installation on a residential development is possible but demonstrated by
appropriate evidence to be unfeasible on the grounds of financial viability, every new
home buyer purchasing off-plan a dwelling with a roof suitable for PV should be given
the opportunity to purchase from the developer the pre-installation of a PV system at a
discounted supplementary cost.

CCS 3. Reducing embodied carbon emissions

Best practice objectives:

As an interim step towards the full decarbonisation of construction by 2050, developers
should take all practicable steps to meaningfully reduce embodied carbon emissions
from construction materials and processes up to the point of practical completion.

If a UK Net Zero Carbon Buildings Standard is published this objective will be updated.

For further information see SPD Part C section: Embodied carbon (pages 37-38).

CCSC 3a: Reducing embodied carbon (all development):

Identify and describe any steps that have been or will be taken to reduce carbon
emissions from the construction process up to the point of practical completion.

CCSC 3b: Calculating embodied carbon reductions (developments of 50 or more
homes or more than 1,000 sgm GIA other uses):

Provide a calculation of the carbon emissions saved by these steps using a recognised
methodology, expressed in tons CO.e and as a percentage of the total embodied
carbon in the development that would have otherwise been generated up to the point
of practical completion.

CCS 4. Sustainable travel

Best practice objectives:

To minimise the need to travel, and to optimise opportunities to travel when needed by
active and public transport modes, or by electric vehicle.

For further information see SPD Part C section: Facilitating sustainable transport
(page 38).

Note: Sustainable travel implications will primarily be assessed from information in one
or more of the following documents where they are required to be provided when a

20 Where there are multiple building types a representative sample will be agreed.

23 ao



https://www.nzcbuildings.co.uk/

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) New ForeSt

DISTRICT COUNCIL
planning application is submitted: the Design and Access Statement, Transport
Assessment, Travel Plan for the site.

CCS 4a: Cycle parking and EV charging (all development):

At property level provide secure and accessible cycle parking and EV charging
capacity sufficient for the number of occupants/users likely to be present.

CCS 4b: Building for a Healthy Life (residential development 50+ homes):

Development proposals should be assessed using the Building for a Healthy Life
design approach, and should seek to achieve a green light score for all assessment
considerations. Applicants are encouraged to engage in pre-application discussions
with the Council on the design and layout of the development at an early stage so that
the Building for a Healthy Life approach can positively influence the form of
development,

CCS 5. Avoiding overheating

Best practice objectives:

To enable building and general urban cooling in peak summer and heatwave
conditions by good design, including planting strategies, green and blue infrastructure
provision and hard landscaping. To design out avoidable summer overheating risks to
avoid the need to install air conditioning within buildings.

For further information see SPD Part C section: Designing out overheating risks
(pages 35-36).

Note: Where relevant, CCS responses may briefly summarise and cross refer to
information in one or more of the following documents, where they are required to be
provided when a planning application is submitted: Biodiversity Survey and Report,
Design and Access Statement, Sustainability Statement, Tree Survey /Arboricultural
Statement, Ventilation/Extraction Statement.

CCS 5a: Natural heatwave mitigation (all major development)

Describe how heatwave mitigation has informed the planting and landscaping strategy,
including any green and blue infrastructure provision, and the choice of building
materials and surfaces including hard landscaping.

CCS 5b: Overheating (all residential development)

For residential development complete and submit the Good Homes Alliance early
stage overheating risk tool assessment prior to finalising the detailed design of the
development (see Appendix 2). The total overheating risk score should be ‘low’ in the
design submitted for planning approval. If a low score cannot be achieved, explain why
and set out how the residual overheating risks will be mitigated. Parts of the tool will
also be useful for non-residential development.

CCS 5c¢c: MVHR (all development)

Confirm whether or not Mechanical Ventilation Heat Recovery (MVHR) will be
provided.

CCS 6. Flood risk reduction and sustainable drainage systems (SuDS)
CCS 7. Drought resilience and using water efficiently
Surface water management and drought resilience should be considered together.

24 A



https://www.designforhomes.org/project/building-for-life/#:~:text=Building%20for%20a%20Healthy%20Life%20is%20an%20initiative,adopted%20by%20many%20local%20authorities%20for%20planning%20approval.
https://www.designforhomes.org/project/building-for-life/#:~:text=Building%20for%20a%20Healthy%20Life%20is%20an%20initiative,adopted%20by%20many%20local%20authorities%20for%20planning%20approval.
https://goodhomes.org.uk/overheating-in-new-homes
https://goodhomes.org.uk/overheating-in-new-homes

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) New ForeSt

DISTRICT COUNCIL
Best practice objectives:
To naturally and safely manage and dissipate surface water run off under climatic
extremes. To incorporate SuDS and other naturalised drainage mechanisms wherever
they are capable of being effective, designed to minimise runoff discharge to sewers
and to maximise amenity, biodiversity and water quality co-benefits.
To exceed Building Regulations requirements for water consumption efficiency. To
ensure that private gardens, public realm planting, greenspaces and water features
are drought and climate resilient and can be sustained without using mains water.

For further information see SPD Part C sections: Reducing flood risk through
Sustainable Urban Drainage (SuDS) (pages 39-40), and Drought resilience and using
water efficiently (pages 40-41).

CCS 6a: Managing surface water runoff (all developments)

Identify measures included or proposed to naturally dissipate, hold or slow the
movement of surface water in both public and private areas. ldentify any hardstanding
and paved surfaces that would not be water permeable and explain why a permeable
or partly permeable surface is not practicable.

CCS 6b: SuDS (all developments unless SuDS are not appropriate)

i. Demonstrate how SuDS have been designed and specified as an integral part of the
site design process in accordance with the best practice approach set out in the CIRIA
SuDS Manual (C753). Identify any proposed piped or other runoff discharge to sewers
and explain why a surface-based drainage approach discharging to a watercourse was
not possible e.g., with a revised development layout.

ii. Explain how measures to minimise nutrient runoff have been incorporated into the
SuDS design. There may be a requirement to demonstrate development is nutrient
neutral although requirements are liable to change and not repeated in this document.

CCS 6c: Flood resilience measures (any development where its flood risk assessment
identifies residual flood risks, including residual risks identified when applying the
appropriate Environment Agency climate change allowance?!).

Briefly summarise and provide a cross reference to the section of the development
Flood Risk Assessment that addresses proposed flood prevention and flood resilience
measures. Demonstrate that any such measures are specified in accordance with
CIRIA Designing for exceedance in urban drainage - good practice (C635F) and the
CIRIA Code of practice for property flood resilience (C790A).

CCS 7a: Reducing mains water use (all developments)

i. Confirm the water use efficiency standard the development will be specified to
achieve.

ii. Commit to installing and define the location on submitted plans for the installation of
appropriately sized water butts as standard in all gardens or yard spaces where a
gutter downpipe can be provided.

21 Flood risk assessments: climate change allowances - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

25 ao



https://www.ciria.org/CIRIA/CIRIA/Item_Detail.aspx?iProductCode=C753
https://www.ciria.org/CIRIA/CIRIA/Item_Detail.aspx?iProductCode=C635F&Category=FREEPUBS
https://www.ciria.org/ItemDetail?iProductCode=C790F&Category=FREEPUBS
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-assessments-climate-change-allowances

ANew Forest

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

iii. Describe any other measures proposed, or at detailed design stage specified, to
reduce the need for mains water use by making best use of rainfall or surface water
runoff in public or private realms.




Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

Part C: Climate Change
mitigation and adaptation




9 New Forest

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

About this section

57. This section is derived from the Net Zero Carbon Toolkit (NZCT), updated for NFDC
circumstances and with additional information added on aspects of climate change
adaptation. This toolkit was created to make net zero carbon building more accessible.
Although it can be used by homeowners, it is aimed at those who already have some
knowledge or experience of construction.

58. The main focus is on new housing, but the principles apply equally to other uses. Supporting
information is provided in the appendices.

~
i . o 0
2 Building professionals and & & m
= homeowners ] m {]]\
M e
N
=z Addressing the climate
= emergency

.
~

New build homes and @ /\n

retrofit of existing homes

Designing §E "»ﬁ",
v = |

Specifying and tendering a:-'i:
-

NN
T
AN

Constructing and EaiEmn
maintaining H——

A /

X

Figure 7: Toolkit breakdown
From site selection to construction to operation

59. The toolkit, including the appendices, covers all stages of building design and construction,
including maintenance and operation.

Understanding the complete picture

60. The toolkit, including SPD appendices, aims to build the awareness and confidence of
people implementing low or zero carbon projects and generally seeks to answer the
following questions:

¢ Why do this?
e What does “good” look like?

e What to do when and how to bring it all together?

¢ What to specify and some product options.




Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) New ForeSt

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Net Zero carbon buildings: core principles and definitions

Operational net zero carbon

61. The three core principles of buildings that are net zero in operation are energy efficiency,
low carbon heat and the use of renewable energy. Buildings should also minimise carbon
emissions from materials production and construction processes to be fully net zero.

Renewable energy generation

O;
e
AN

Net Zero
carbon in
operation

Energy efficiency Low carbon heat

Figure 8: The three pillars of a net zero carbon building in operation

Energy efficiency

62. Buildings use energy for heating, hot water, ventilation, lighting, cooking and appliances.
The efficient use of energy reduces running costs and carbon emissions. Importantly, it also
reduces a building’s impact on the wider energy supply network. There are two key metrics
used in this toolkit to measure the energy efficiency of a building, both expressed in

kWh/m?/yr.

e Energy Use Intensity (EUI) is the annual total energy consumed running and occupying
a building divided by its floor area. It is the sum of regulated energy (for heating, hot
water, cooling, ventilation, and lighting systems — so called as it is covered by the
Building Regulations) and unregulated energy (use for plug in devices that is outside of
the scope Building Regulations).

e Space heating demand is the energy required to heat the building, usually the largest
component of regulated energy.

Low carbon heating

63. An essential feature of net zero carbon buildings is the use of low carbon sources of heat
with no connection to the gas network.

Renewable energy generation

64. In new buildings, renewable energy generation should be at least equal to the annual
energy use of the building for it to qualify as net zero carbon in operation. This is
straightforward to achieve on site for most new homes by installing solar photovoltaic (PV)
panels, which will also help to support the increased demand for renewable energy.

29

@:&:




Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)

What energy use targets should | aim for?

65. Energy use targets are more transparent and robust than carbon reductions targets for
ensuring zero carbon is delivered in practice. The Net Zero Toolkit recommends targets
consistent with the LETI Climate Emergency Design Guide (2019).

Housing

66. Best practice KPIs for new homes are set out in figure 9. All KPIs except the embodied carbon
target must be met for a home to be Net Zero carbon in operation and to achieve an ultra-low
energy home with very low space heating demand. Space Heating Demand is an excellent
proxy for the fabric efficiency of the building - 15 kwWh/m?/year is exemplary, requiring a fabric
efficiency and airtightness equivalent to that of a new Passivhaus home.

|
I:

New housing

0

Space heating demand

Ultra low energy 15 KWh/m2/yr
homes
/lor
i@ Energy Use Intensity

2
Energy use and 35 kWh/m?/yr

efficient heating

4,
@’ Electricity generation

120 kWh/m2,fyr

Renewable energy

my, = m? buikding mootprint
@ Embodied carbon

benchmark
Embodied carbon 500 kgCO,e/mafyr

MO = @

v d O
CIBSE TM59 AECB In-use performance
Compliance with Good practice Collect data for the
guidance on water standard first 5 years

overheating risk

Figure 9: Housing KPIs
KPIs for other uses

67. Non-residential building types tend to vary more widely than housing, making it more
difficult to reliably determine generic forms, energy use or occupancy models. However, as
noted in the Net Zero Carbon toolkit the Royal Institute of British Architects (RIBA), Low
Energy Transformation Initiative (LETI), the United Kingdom Green Building Council
(UKGBC) and other organisations have published relevant guidance on performance

30

.
@@)



https://www.leti.uk/_files/ugd/252d09_3b0f2acf2bb24c019f5ed9173fc5d9f4.pdf

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) New FOrESt

DISTRICT COUNCIL

targets for space heating demand, total energy use and renewable generation, summarised
in Net Zero Carbon Toolkit as follows.

Schools

e Space heating demand of 15-20 kWh/m? GlAl/year

e Total energy consumption of 65 kWh/m? GlA/year or less

e Solar electricity generation that exceeds metered energy use on site
Hotels

e Space heating and cooling demand of less than 30 kWh/m? GlA/year
e Total energy consumption of 55 kWh/m? GlA/year or less

e Solar electricity generation at least 120 kwh/m? GlA/year

Offices

e Space heating and cooling demand of less than 15 kWh/m? GlA/year
e Total energy consumption of 55 kWh/m?/year or less

e Solar electricity generation at least 120 kWh/m? GlA/year

Light Industrial

e Space heating and cooling demand of 15-30 kWh/m? GlA/year

e Total energy consumption of around 55 kWh/m? GlA/year excluding specialist processes
e Solar electricity generation of least 180 kWh/m? GlAlyear.

68. Note that the Local Plan requires that ‘major’ non-residential development of 1,000sqm GIA
or more should attain Building Research Establishment (BREEAM) New Construction
‘Excellent’ standard. Development of 250-999 sgm GIA should attain excellent standard for
water consumption. The primary aim of BRE assessment is to mitigate the life cycle
impacts of new buildings on the environment in a robust and cost-effective manner. In
relation to zero carbon the BRE approach takes a ‘whole life cycle’ approach to construction
impacts, encouraging measures to improve the energy efficiency of the building and to
reduce carbon emissions. But as BRE New Construction does not set specific energy
targets the energy efficiency benchmarks above are recommended as well.

69. Note that for non-residential development of 1,000sgm ‘useable floorspace’ energy use
reporting is already a Building Regulations?? requirement. In meeting this requirement an
industry recognised energy forecasting methodology such as Chartered Institution of
Building Services Engineers (CIBSE) TM54 Evaluating operational energy use at the
design stage should be used.

Why set a renewable energy target?

70. Net zero carbon in operation can only be achieved by meeting the energy needs of the
development using renewable electricity generation provided for the development. A
significant proportion of mains electricity is currently generated from fossil fuels.

Reducing the embodied carbon of a building

71. To go beyond net zero in operation towards net zero for the whole building lifecycle,
embodied carbon must be significantly reduced and any residual carbon can be offset,
for example by tree planting. This can be achieved by making informed design decisions

22 para 94 Building Regulations Part L(2).



https://bregroup.com/products/breeam/breeam-technical-standards/breeam-new-construction/
https://www.cibse.org/knowledge-research/knowledge-portal/tm54-evaluating-operational-energy-use-at-the-design-stage-2022
https://www.cibse.org/knowledge-research/knowledge-portal/tm54-evaluating-operational-energy-use-at-the-design-stage-2022

ANew Forest

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

about materials based on quantified carbon reductions. It may be possible to significantly
reduce embodied carbon by using modern methods of construction. Unlike traditional
building methods, manufacturing buildings off-site can enable the use of lower carbon
materials such as timber in place of concrete and steel.




Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

A recipe for achieving net zero carbon development
Setting the right brief and targets is key

72. To achieve net zero carbon in reality it is important that the development design brief and its Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) reflect
this ambition from the start. Getting the right people involved at the right points in the design and construction timeline is critical,
including specialists in low energy and zero carbon design. The key steps up to building handover are set out below, showing a timeline
for design and construction. See Appendix 4 for a more detailed breakdown by RIBA design and construction stage.

PRE-PLANNING PRE-CONSTRUCTION

Setting the brief and getting Design considerations Detailing, specification and On-site quality inspections Handover and use

the ﬁgh‘t team *  Optimise building form, choosing the right |:’rc'd'“":'3 Run an ultra low energy = Provide building user guides
Include Key Performance orentation and window +  Include KPI requirements in the workshop on site. Encourage and instructions .g. sticker on
Indicators (KPs) requirements proportions tender 4 contractor and team training to MVHR for filter replacement
in the brief + Define building fabric &l attend routine

*  Detail build ups of all external

Appoint the relevant performance e.g. U-values elements including thickness Rec\;‘ijew al‘tema‘ti::dma‘beﬂr‘ials or = Carry cut lessons learnt review
consultants +  Allow sufficient thickness for all and canductivity Of all materials g(gn‘triccitil?::\zoensu?gth:se Carry out post occupancy
Require the assessment of insulated walls, roofs and floor and contact suppliers for meet performance evaluation (POE) during the first
firmati f U-val ;
= embodied carbon particularly +  Incorperate Mechanical confirmation of L-values requirements to achieve KPls :’:\fe yz:rs of use to verify KPls
a1 for medium to large scale Ventilation with Heat Recovery * Identify all thermal bridges and Attend lar site visits and ave besn met
LO developments. (MVHR) conduct thermal bridge d enl res.]tu ars i \r: kan . Ideally, publicise performance
- calculations Svelop site quality tracker to against all KPls and POE
» Define airtightness strategy assess against KPls reports e.g. on a company
+ Define airtightness testin . Lo
. Cor?sider low carbon heating requiremengt for wntractgr . '\Mtn.ess. commissioning of website
options e.g. heat pumps ventilation and heating
. o *  Specify high performing solar systems.
+ Design reof to maximise panels
renewables i.e. solar panels
) + Agree scope of post-occupancy
* Carry out embodied carbon evaluation.
assessment
Best Practice Route
+ Appoint Passivhaus censultant *  Energy (PHPP) medelling * Detailed U-value calculations *+  Regular inspecticns on-site by + Final as-built energy (PHPF)
carried out by Passivhaus and thermal bridge analysis Passivhaus certifier medel provided at hand-over

consultant to accurately predict Clear responsibility for

energy use airtightness and several air
testing to meet requirements

Passivhaus certification

Figure 10: Timeline for design and construction

33




Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

Getting the design right

73. Making informed decisions at an early design stage is key to delivering energy efficiency in
practice. A building’s form, orientation and window proportions are all aspects that do not add
extra construction cost, but if optimised within the design can significantly improve the building’s
efficiency (see figure 11).

Larger exposed
surface area.
This building has an
inefficient form.

Same building but

with a simpler form
This building has an
efficient form

J/\ /N////igg’ D ﬂ

North: 10-15%

Elevations facing +/- 30° south will benefit D

from useful solar gains in the winter
June [
March D [:I

z0)
December

East and West; 10-20%

—| 0.8 a1

5-6 storeys

~18m
Allow a distance of 1-1.5 times the building’s Recommended glazing percentages
height between buildings of each external facade

Figure 11: Optimising design (Source: Levitt Bernstein + Etude)

Building form and orientation

74. The building form should be as simple and compact as possible to reduce the surface area
exposed for heat loss. Avoid or limit the use of stepped roofs, roof terraces, overhangs and
inset balconies. These features will decrease the building’s energy efficiency.

75. The orientation and massing of the building should be optimised to allow useful solar gains
and prevent significant overshadowing in winter. Encourage south facing dwellings with
summer solar shading and prioritise dual aspect.

Window proportions and thermal performance

76. Getting the right glazing-to-wall ratio on each facade is a key feature of energy efficient
design. Minimise heat loss to the north (smaller windows) while providing sufficient solar
heat gain from the south (larger windows). In a block of flats it is much easier to design
smaller windows facing access decks and larger windows facing balconies. Therefore, try to
orientate access decks to the north and balconies to the south.

(N

34




Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) New ForeSt

DISTRICT COUNCIL
Fabric first approach

77. Specifying a high level of thermal efficiency and airtightness of the building fabric, and for
the thermal performance of elements such as doors and windows is critical to reducing
energy demand. The LETI Climate Emergency Design Guide provides best practice thermal
specifications for building elements cited in this SPD. It is equally important that high
standards are maintained in the construction process? to deliver the full thermal efficiency
potential of the materials used.

Consider Passivhaus tools and certification

78. Passivhaus certification is considered a robust means to meet the space heating demand
and Energy Use Intensity KPIs. It also drives quality assurance during construction. A
Passivhaus ‘certifier’ will be required to act as an impartial quality assurance check on
predicted performance during design and to carry out site inspections. Appendix 3 provides
some recent examples of Passivhaus developments. For housing the Passivhaus Design
Easi Guide provides further good practice advice.

79. Whether or not the Passivhaus approach is adopted, accurate energy modelling is
recommended. Passivhaus tools can be used whether or not Passivhaus accreditation is
sought, for example the Passive House Planning Package (PHPP 10). Alternatively CIBSE
TM54 Evaluating operational energy use at the design stage (2022).

80. It is also possible to target best practice by setting the right fabric specification and design
requirements as part of the project brief, and this approach may be more cost effective for
smaller developments in particular. The LETI Climate Emergency Design Guide sets out
more detailed thermal and other building fabric performance specifications that need to be
met to achieve the KPIs recommended in this design guide.

Future proofing heating technology

81. As previously noted an essential feature of net zero carbon buildings is the use of low
carbon sources of heat with no connection to the gas network. Heat pumps? are
considered the most efficient low carbon heat source, significantly more efficient than direct
electric heating as they generate 3-4 units of heat for each unit of electricity used. They
should be specified wherever possible.

82. If specification of a gas or oil-fired boiler cannot be avoided in a new build, the CCS
accompanying the planning application should directly address all the following matters in
this section, as part of achieving or getting as close as is practicable to being zero carbon
ready.

83. A responsible designer should ensure that the building can be easily retrofitted by making
adequate provision in the initial design to ensure that a heat pump can be installed in the
future with a minimum of cost and disruption. Any proposed building that would require
extensive modifications to fit and efficiently operate with a heat pump cannot be considered
local plan compliant in terms of being future proofed for climate change, let alone zero
carbon ready.

84. A heat pump system typically requires a dedicated external space for a heat pump unit,
sited where its operational noise will not disturb occupants or neighbours’ sleep, and internal
space nearby for a control system and a hot water cylinder. Sufficient space will be needed
in the building and its curtilage, and these future installation spaces should be clearly
identified on submitted plans.

23 Further information on construction standards and airtightness is provided in The Net Zero Carbon Toolkit
24 Further information on heat pumps is provided in the The Net Zero Carbon Toolkit

35



https://www.leti.uk/_files/ugd/252d09_3b0f2acf2bb24c019f5ed9173fc5d9f4.pdf
https://www.passivhaustrust.org.uk/news/detail/?nId=899
https://www.passivhaustrust.org.uk/news/detail/?nId=899
https://passivehouse.com/04_phpp/04_phpp.htm#PH10
https://www.cibse.org/knowledge-research/knowledge-portal/tm54-evaluating-operational-energy-use-at-the-design-stage-2022
https://www.cibse.org/knowledge-research/knowledge-portal/tm54-evaluating-operational-energy-use-at-the-design-stage-2022
https://www.leti.uk/_files/ugd/252d09_3b0f2acf2bb24c019f5ed9173fc5d9f4.pdf
https://cotswold.gov.uk/netzerocarbontoolkit
https://cotswold.gov.uk/netzerocarbontoolkit

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) New ForeSt

DISTRICT COUNCIL

85. Wherever a typical ‘wet’ heating system is installed with a gas or oil boiler feeding radiators
or underfloor heating, the designer must ensure that the pipe diameters and heat radiating
fixtures are sufficiently large to supply enough heat when attached to a heat pump with a
lower flow temperature. The level of building insulation and thermal efficiency may also be
relevant. Making changes retrospectively to the building fabric or to the heating system is
likely to be costly and disruptive.

86. For an air-to-water heat pump BS EN 145112° specifies a return and flow temperature of
40°C and 45°C respectively. The Building Regulations Part L (2021), Annex D, provides a
reference design flow temperature value of 45°C for air source heat pump and radiators in a
new dwelling. Note that heat pumps are usually more efficient operating at 30-35°C, and the
Building Regulations set a maximum flow temperature of 55°C for residential gas boilers?®,

Designing out overheating risks

87. This section focuses on overheating risks can be reduced by good design and site
masterplanning decisions early in the building design process. The aim should be to avoid
unnecessary additional carbon emissions by using natural and design-based ventilation and
cooling mechanisms, resorting to air conditioning only where there is no practicable
alternative.

88. At building level, the Building Regulations regulate overheating (Part O: Overheating) and
ventilation (Part F) based on the detailed building design. Part O applies to residential
development only, requiring that all practicable passive means of limiting unwanted solar
gains and removing excess heat have been used first before adopting mechanical cooling.
Where the Building Regulations compliance process includes thermal modelling, the
modelling process should include a summer design year (DSY) file with 2050 and 2080
climate scenarios. Building Regulation compliance outputs may usefully form part of the
information provided under CCS section 5.

'

WA

AW

Vertical shading =il Horizontal shading Tl
East/West South

Provide horizontal shading on the south facade (e.g. brise-soleil or
deep reveals) and vertical shading on the east or west facade (e.g.

shutters). Design solar shading to allow useful solar gains in wintei
and block solar gains in summer.

1
1"

SDxH
Cross vent Adjacent wall vent
Most effective Alternative to cross vent

Design for dual aspect homes to allow for natural cross ventilation

Figure 12: Overheating reduced by good design

25 BS EN 14511: 2022 - Air conditioners, liquid chilling packages and heat pumps with electrically driven compressors for
space heating and cooling
26 Part L 5.10

36

@:&:



https://landingpage.bsigroup.com/LandingPage/Series?UPI=BS%20EN%2014511#:~:text=BS%20EN%2014511%20-%20Air%20conditioners%2C%20liquid%20chilling,a%20multi-part%20document%20divided%20into%20the%20following%20parts%3A
https://landingpage.bsigroup.com/LandingPage/Series?UPI=BS%20EN%2014511#:~:text=BS%20EN%2014511%20-%20Air%20conditioners%2C%20liquid%20chilling,a%20multi-part%20document%20divided%20into%20the%20following%20parts%3A

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) New ForeSt

DISTRICT COUNCIL
89. Design measures to avoid overheating include the following

e Ensuring glazing areas are not excessive i.e., not more than 20-25% of facade on south
or west facades.

¢ Avoiding fixed panes and maximise opening areas of windows. Side hung windows
typically allow more ventilation than top hung.

e Favouring dual aspect homes and other buildings to allow cross ventilation.

¢ Providing appropriate solar shading. South facades should have horizontal shading over
the window and the west fagade should ideally have movable vertical shading e.g.,
shutters.

¢ Avoiding relying on internal blinds, which can be removed by residents.

e Selecting a g-value (the solar factor indicating how much heat is transmitted from the
sun) for glass of around 0.5 where possible.

90. For residential developments use of the Good Homes Alliance Overheating in New Homes
Checkilist (reproduced at Appendix 2) is recommended for overheating risk assessment
early in the design process. It is intended to be used prior to the detailed design stage
before planning submission and approval. Parts of the tool will also be useful for non-
residential development.

91. A balanced approach is needed to optimise natural daylight, maximise winter solar gain,
avoid excess summer solar gain and achieve good indoor air quality with high airtightness
standards. Where noise is also a consideration use the Acoustics and Noise Consultants
(ANC) Acoustics, Ventilation and Overheating Residential Design Guide to determine an
approach to acoustic assessment.

On-site renewable energy generation

92. As noted under KPIs, net zero carbon in operation can only be achieved by meeting the
energy needs of the development using renewable electricity generation provided for the
development, as fossil fuels are still used to produce mains electricity.

93. Solar PV panels installation is the generally recommended approach, a simple, mature and
reliable renewable energy technology. They are a particularly good match for heat pumps,
as much of the electricity generated outside peak use periods can be used to heat water or
charge electric vehicles for later use. However, when considering the deployment of on-site
renewable generation, consideration needs to be given to local context, including the
character of the area. PV tiles are an alternative that may be more appropriate on
heritage buildings or in conservation areas. Further information on PV systems is
provided in the Net Zero Carbon Toolkit, the best examples convert solar energy more
efficiently and have a longer lifespan.

94. A key advantage of PV is that it can be usually provided on-site as part of the
development process without additional land take. The majority of new homes have
sufficient space on site to generate as much energy as they need on an annual basis,
especially if the roof design is optimised to make best use of southerly aspects. PV can also
be mounted over parking areas and on south facing walls. The latter is less efficient
than roof mounting, but it can improve power generation in winter months when the sun
is lower and energy demand is higher.

95. The Net Zero Carbon Toolkit also refers to the benefits of smart controls with demand
flexibility. These systems enable energy to be consumed, retained and released according
to specific energy demands. Energy storage is an essential component of these systems.



https://nfdcgovuk.sharepoint.com/sites/PlanningPolicyTeamSite/DMS/Climate%20Change/Climate%20Change%20SPD/Good%20Homes%20Alliance%20Overheating%20Checklist
https://nfdcgovuk.sharepoint.com/sites/PlanningPolicyTeamSite/DMS/Climate%20Change/Climate%20Change%20SPD/Good%20Homes%20Alliance%20Overheating%20Checklist
https://www.association-of-noise-consultants.co.uk/avo-guide/

9New Forest

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

Embodied carbon

96. For development embodied carbon emissions are associated with the extraction,
processing, production and transportation of building materials and products, and in the
construction of the building. Embodied carbon arises after the building is completed from its
maintenance and the demolition and disassembly of the building at the end of its life. As a
result, there are significant carbon benefits from retaining existing buildings and adapting
them where appropriate, rather than demolishing them for new build.

97. Whilst embodied carbon is not currently (2024) covered by the Building Regulation or any
other statutory controls, over time embodied carbon will become an even more significant
proportion of whole-life carbon and commensurately more important to achieving zero
carbon development. This is because:

e Carbon emission from operational energy consumption will reduce independently of
measures by developers or occupier behaviour as the National Grid decarbonises
electricity supply; and

¢ As new buildings become more energy efficient to run and switch to low carbon heating
sources, operational carbon emission will become a smaller proportion of total carbon
emissions than they are currently.

98. As building materials typically account for around 60-70% of the embodied carbon in a
development, it is essential to consider embodied carbon at the start of the design
process. Low embodied carbon design is not inherently more expensive or more complex, it
often just requires awareness, good design and specification informed by the use of
appropriate carbon calculation tools for building products, systems and processes.

99. Developers should demonstrate in their CCS submissions that they are taking active steps
to reduce the embodied carbon and embed a sustainable approach to resource use in their

developments, for example by an appropriate combination and balance of the following
measures, wherever applicable and feasible.

Opt for renewable,
recycled or lower carbon
alternatives to traditional
building materials

Minimise construction
waste, energy and
resource use onsite

Avoid materials that are
difficult to re-use or that
cannot be recycled

Use local materials
and suppliers

EMBODIED EMBODIED EMBODIED EMBODIED EMBODIED EMBODIED EMBODIED EMBODIED EMBODIED

QD
2R DO G G O G 6
EMISSIONS
TH
= ocm B RS emn
% Av—& @ Pr—laq s RE§ axn ,Bi,h*
EXTRACT TRANSPORT ~ MANUFACTURE TRANSPORT CONSTRUCT AND MAINTAIN DEMOLISH HAUL AWAY LANDFILL

RAW MATERIALS  TO FACTORY PRODUCTS TOSITE THE BUILDING THE BUILDING THEBUILDING ~ WASTEMATERIALS  (OR RECYCLE)

Design for future adaptability with
durable systems and materials to
reduce maintenance

Building materials typically
account for around 60-70% of
embodied carbon

Re-use buildings where possible

Figure 13: Reducing carbon emissions embodied in construction?’

27 Image copyright and re-used with the permission of Buildpass

38



https://buildpass.co.uk/blog/what-is-embodied-carbon-and-how-should-i-approach-it/

INew Forest

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

~ What can you do? =

1 Refurbishment over new build
Only build new when existing homes cannot be reused or refurbished.

2 Leandesign
Structural: Design structure for 100% utilisation. Use bespoke loading
assumptions, avoid rules of thumb. Reduce spans and overhangs.
Architectural: Use self-finishing internal surfaces. Reduce the quantity of
metal studs and frames.
Building services: Target passive measures (e.g. improved fabric) to reduce
the amount of services. Reduce long duct runs, specify low Global Warming
Potential (GWP) refrigerant (max. 150) and ensure low leakage rate.

3 Material and product choice
Prioritise materials that are reused, reclaimed or natural from local areas
and sustainable sources and that are durable. If not available use materials
with a high recycled content. Use the following material hierarchy to inform
material choice particularly for the building structure;

1. Natural materials e.g. timber 3. Light gauge/Cold rolled steel
2. Concrete and masonry 4. Hot rolled steel

Ask manufacturers for Environmental Product Declarations (EPD) and
compare the impacts between products in accordance with BS EN 15804

4 Housing adaptation & flexibility
Allow for flexibility and consider how a layout may be adapted in the future.

5 Easy access for maintenance
Maintained equipment will last longer.

6 Design for disassembly
Consider disassembly to allow for reuse at the end of life of the building.
Create material passports for elements of the building to improve the
ability of disassembled elements to be reused.

Option 1- two bedroom Option 2 - one bedroom

l_ Removable/moving J

partition wall

Figure 14: Design for adaptation using a flexible floor plan e.g., one bed flat can be
converted to a two-bed fat or a one bed fat with space for home working.

39

.
@@2




Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) New ForeSt

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Facilitating sustainable transport

100.Carbon emissions reductions can be made by reducing the need to travel, and by enabling
lower carbon travel choices such as active travel (walking and cycling) for trips that need to
be made.

101.Convenient and secure cycle storage is effective in encouraging journeys by bike. Consider
how can they be integrated into the design. See the NEDC Parking Standards SPD (2022)
for further guidance.

102.Consider how the home can support effective homeworking to help reduce unnecessary
commuting. Are there sufficient plug and internet connectivity sockets? Is there room for a
home office space?

103.The Building Regulations now require that new properties be supplied with electric vehicle
charging points, in most circumstances. Faster and higher capacity chargers will be helpful
especially for households with more than one electric vehicle.

Building for a Healthy Life

104.The Building for a Healthy Life (BFHL) design approach is recommended to help achieve
active, well-connected and healthy communities, including by promoting sustainable
movement and active travel. BHFL is backed by the NHS and endorsed and used by Homes
England. BFHL is a collaborative design approach and process based on twelve design
considerations organised into three themes: integrated neighbourhoods, distinctive places
and streets for all. THE BFHL approach is aligned to Manual for Streets, the NPPF and the
National Model Design Code.

105.The twelve BFHL considerations should be addressed from the start of the design process.
The recommended approach is for the council and developers to discuss and agree at pre-
application advice stage what best practice outcomes can and should be achieved under
each consideration for that particular site and development.

106.The BFHL process culminates in an independent assessment of the development proposal,
rating each consideration as green (achieves best practice), red (stop and rethink) or amber
(try and improve). The aim is to achieve 12 green ratings where possible, and no avoidable
amber ratings (some outcomes might be beyond the developer’s control, e.g., if they require
unobtainable access to third party land). As the target best practice outcomes are tuned for
the specific development, all red ratings are avoidable and should be designed out.

Reducing flood risk through Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems
(SuDS)

107.Changes to our climate are predicted to result in increased rainfall and greater risk of
flooding, including from the inundation of existing drains not designed for current conditions.

108.National Planning Practice Guidance on Flood risk and coastal change was significantly
updated in 2022, requiring that flood risks including surface water management is fully
considered from the outset of the planning application and Local plan-making processes.

109.NPPG changes reflect the national policy position that ‘major developments should
incorporate sustainable drainage systems unless there is clear evidence that this would be
inappropriate?®. Integrating SuDS into a development can greatly improve the site’s ability to
capture, absorb and effectively retain water as part of a comprehensive green infrastructure
design. Compared to the traditional approach of using underground pipes and tanks
discharging to sewers to manage drainage, a surface-based SuDS approach can reduce

28 NPPF para 173



https://newforest.gov.uk/media/2729/Parking-Standards-SPD-April-22/pdf/Parking_Standards_SPD_April_2022.pdf?m=637904692884370000
https://www.designforhomes.org/project/building-for-life/#:~:text=Building%20for%20a%20Healthy%20Life%20is%20an%20initiative,adopted%20by%20many%20local%20authorities%20for%20planning%20approval.
https://www.designforhomes.org/project/building-for-life/#:~:text=Building%20for%20a%20Healthy%20Life%20is%20an%20initiative,adopted%20by%20many%20local%20authorities%20for%20planning%20approval.
https://www.designforhomes.org/project/building-for-life/#:~:text=Building%20for%20a%20Healthy%20Life%20is%20an%20initiative,adopted%20by%20many%20local%20authorities%20for%20planning%20approval.
https://www.designforhomes.org/project/building-for-life/#:~:text=Building%20for%20a%20Healthy%20Life%20is%20an%20initiative,adopted%20by%20many%20local%20authorities%20for%20planning%20approval.
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-and-coastal-change

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) New ForeSt

DISTRICT COUNCIL

total surface water run-off and support local drainage networks to function effectively,
reducing the risk of flooding and untreated sewage discharges from overloaded sewers.

110.Where SuDS are provided, SuDS design should underpin the earliest stages of site
masterplanning following the approach set out in the Construction Industry Research and
Information Association (CIRIA) SuDS Manual (C753). The SuDS Manual explains how to
maximise SuDS benefits for water quantity, water quality, amenity and biodiversity (the ‘4
pillars’ of SuDS). The CIRIA approach treats surface water as a valuable resource that if
appropriately managed can improve climate change resilience, enhance biodiversity, and
add to the beauty and amenity of developments.

111.Provided that they are constructed in accordance with the SuDS Manual, water companies
may formally adopt SuDS as part of the drainage network they manage. This is an outcome
developers should actively pursue.

112.CIRIA guidance C808 Using SuDS to reduce phosphorus in surface water runoff
(December 2022) explains how SuDS design can mitigate at source environmental impacts
from phosphorus on the water environment. This approach addresses pollution impacts at
source in accordance with the proximity principle, reducing the nutrient mitigation cost for
the development. It should be followed for development in the Avon catchment. Additional
funding is secured to extend this guidance to mitigating nitrogen runoff, and once published
this approach should be followed in Solent catchments.

Managing residual flood risks

113.NFDC considers that the updated NPPG approach and the requirements it places on
developers to prepare flood risk assessments is now sufficiently precautionary to ensure
early and more holistic consideration of water flood risks, including allowances for climate
change®. However there will still be some residual risks in some locations from infrequent
extreme events, and these need to be recognised and properly addressed in the design
approach.

114.Where flood risks cannot be fully eliminated but development is on balance justified under
national policy, the overall development design should include a strategy to safely manage
(absorb, channel, contain or delay) flows that exceed the design capacity of the drainage
system, including any SuDS, specified in accordance with CIRIA Designing for exceedance
in urban drainage - good practice (C635F). This document provides best practice advice for
the design and management of urban sewerage and drainage systems to reduce or mitigate
the impacts that arise when flows occur that exceed their design capacity. Example
measures could include the design of safe and resilient flood overflow routes and temporary
flood storage areas.

115.Where necessary flood resilience should also be designed into buildings, following the
CIRIA Code of practice for property flood resilience (C790A) e.g. measures such as raised
floor levels, water barriers to building openings or the use of materials or siting of services
that would reduce recovery time and cost if a building is flooded.

Drought resilience and using water efficiently

Reducing mains water use

116.New Forest District is within a wider water stressed area identified by the Environment
Agency. Recent rainfall levels already make it challenging to sustainably meet mains water
demand without adversely affecting nationally and internationally protected habitats. The
climate trend to drier and hotter summers may exacerbate these issues, potentially
increasing the frequency of periodic controls such as summer hosepipe bans.

29 Flood risk assessments: climate change allowances - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

41



file://///go-file01.nfdc.gov.uk/HomeFolders$/mark.williams/Documents/Desktop/Document%20C753:%20https:/www.ciria.org/ItemDetail
https://www.ciria.org/CIRIA/CIRIA/Item_Detail.aspx?iProductCode=C635F&Category=FREEPUBS
https://www.ciria.org/CIRIA/CIRIA/Item_Detail.aspx?iProductCode=C635F&Category=FREEPUBS
https://www.ciria.org/ItemDetail?iProductCode=C790F&Category=FREEPUBS
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-assessments-climate-change-allowances

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) New ForeSt

DISTRICT COUNCIL

117.Making more effective use of both mains and natural water resources will become an
increasingly important part of living within environmental limits, with beneficial CO.e
emission savings possible from cumulative reductions to water supply and treatment. The
measures in this section build on the SuDS approach that treats naturally available water on
development sites as a valuable resource.

118.The Building Regulations set mains water use standards. Local Plan Policy IMPL2:
Development Standards requires that new residential development is designed to meet the
higher Building Regulations water efficiency standard of under 110 litres per person per day.

119.For residential developments in particular, more water efficient and sustainable measures
are encouraged to help reduce water use further, to future-proof developments. Southern
Water are championing Target 100, supporting personal consumption reductions to achieve
a 100 litre per person per day standard.

120.More efficient water fittings and appliances will help, provided they are not later replaced
with less efficient systems. Wherever appropriate water use efficiency should be evaluated
using the ‘Fittings Based Approach’ as set out in section 2 and Tables 2.1-2.2 of Buildings
regulations Approved Document G: Sanitation, hot water safety and water efficiency.

121.More enduring approaches could include rainwater harvesting (RWH) and grey water
recycling (GWR) systems to reduce demand for treated mains drinking water for non-
potable uses. The simplest example of rainwater harvesting is a water butt for garden
watering and outdoor cleaning, connected to guttering downpipes. A roof of 60sgm (a typical
terraced house) would receive around 50,000 litres rainfall per annum in southern England.
More sophisticated rainwater harvesting systems are encouraged, such as rainfall storage
tanks integrated into plumbing systems for non-potable use (potable use may be possible
where on-site treatment is practicable).

122.Greywater recycling is the re-use of wastewater from sinks, showers, baths, washing
machines or dishwashers, usually for non-potable use: to flush toilets, wash clothes and
water gardens or green spaces. About 70% of water used in the home is discharged as
greywater, so unlike rainwater it is a seasonally consistent source of water for re-use. In-
home re-use requires installation of a ‘dual’ plumbing system, which is most cost-effective to
provide during construction.

Drought resilience in the public and private realm

123.To be self-sustaining and climate resilient, planting strategies for both public spaces and
private gardens will need to consider both the warming climate and potentially available
water. Equally, the design of the built environment and choice of drainage approach and
mechanisms should ensure that naturally available water supports the green and blue
infrastructure provided, now and in the future.

124.The alignment of green infrastructure and SuDS provision is an obvious opportunity to
improve drought resilience. The default use of permeable materials for hard surfaces and
bio-retention mechanisms such as rain gardens, swales and green rooves are
recommended wherever practicable, to enable natural infiltration to support groundwater
recharge as well as to reduce or slow drainage run-off. Scope to use runoff in SUDS or
storage tanks for greenspace watering and public realm cleaning could also be explored if
necessary e.g., in more urbanised contexts. Other useful resources include:

¢ Watersafe: Developing Water Efficient Homes

e Waterwise: Advice on Water Efficient Homes for England



https://www.southernwater.co.uk/water-for-life/target-100#:~:text=Target%20100%20is%20a%20commitment%20to%20our%20customers,understand%20the%20value%20of%20the%20water%20they%20use.
https://www.watersafe.org.uk/downloads/developers_info/developing_water_efficient_homes.pdf
https://waterwise.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/Advice-on-water-efficient-homes-for-England061118.pdf

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) New ForeSt

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Supporting ecology, biodiversity and nature-based solutions

125.The Council has declared a nature emergency as well as a climate emergency, as they are
inextricably linked. Enhancing biodiversity and providing green and blue infrastructure is
encouraged in new developments. It will help to increase the capacity of the environment to
absorb COze emissions in the local area. Maintaining and enhancing biodiversity and green
infrastructure will also benefit occupants, the wider community and economy by supporting
health and wellbeing, providing surface water management and flood resilience, absorbing
pollutants improving local air quality, providing local shading and wider air cooling, as well
as providing habitats for wildlife.

126.Since 2020 the Council has sought a minimum of 10% biodiversity net gain as a
requirement of planning permission for ‘major’ new build development (10+ homes, or at
least 1,000 sgm of other development), pursuant to Local Plan Policy STR1: Achieving
Sustainable Development. Further details are set out in the Ecology and Biodiversity net
gain - Interim Advice and Information Note. Updated guidance will be provided in a future
Biodiversity Supplementary Planning Document..

127.Nature-based solutions involve the restoration of ecosystems for the long-term benefit of
people and nature. Examples include expansion of tree and woodland cover; restoration and
creation of priority habitats; natural floodplain management including sustainable urban
drainage systems (SuDS). Nature-based solutions can address multiple issues
simultaneously, e.g. flood risk, air and water equality, biodiversity, and health and wellbeing
of people. Natural England’s report Carbon Storage and Sequestration by Habitat 2021
provides detailed guidance. New Forest District Council is part of the Partnership for South
Hampshire and part of the Council’s area benefits from inclusion in the South Hampshire
Green Infrastructure_Strategy and South Hampshire Green Infrastructure Implementation

Plan. High quality green and blue infrastructure provides multiple benefits for both climate
change mitigation and adaptation and the guidance in the PfSH document is not repeated
here.



https://www.newforest.gov.uk/media/2165/Ecology-and-Biodiversity-Net-Gain-Interim-Advice-and-Information-Note/pdf/Ecology_and_BNG_Interim_Advice_Note_R01.pdf?m=637558248397330000
https://www.newforest.gov.uk/media/2165/Ecology-and-Biodiversity-Net-Gain-Interim-Advice-and-Information-Note/pdf/Ecology_and_BNG_Interim_Advice_Note_R01.pdf?m=637558248397330000
https://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5419124441481216
https://www.push.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/South-Hampshire-GI-Strategy-2017-2034-FINAL.pdf
https://www.push.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/South-Hampshire-GI-Strategy-2017-2034-FINAL.pdf
https://www.push.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/South-Hampshire-Green-Infrastructure-Implementation-Plan-June-2019-.pdf
https://www.push.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/South-Hampshire-Green-Infrastructure-Implementation-Plan-June-2019-.pdf

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

Appendices




Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) New ForeSt

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Appendix 1: Local Plan 2020 - climate change related policies

Policy STR1: Achieving sustainable development

“All new development will be expected to make a positive social, economic and environmental
contribution to community and business life in the Plan Area by...

v. Ensuring communities and workers are safe and feel safe, and the risks to people, places and to the
environment from potential hazards including pollution, flooding and climate change effects are
minimised,;

vi. Ensuring that new development is adaptable to the future needs of occupiers and future-proofed for
climate change and innovations in transport and communications technology.”

Policy ENV3: Design quality and local distinctiveness

“... New development will be required to: ...

v. Incorporate design measures that improve resource efficiency and climate change resilience and
reduce environmental impacts wherever they are appropriate and capable of being effective, such as
greywater recycling and natural heating and cooling, and the use of Sustainable Urban Drainage
Systems (SUDS); ...”

Policy CCC1: Safe and healthy communities

“iv. In the interests of public safety, vulnerable developments will not be permitted (a) Within the defined
Coastal Change Management Area at Barton-on- Sea to Milford-on-Sea unless in accordance with
Saved Policy DM6: Coastal Change Management Areas; (b) In areas at risk of flooding unless in
accordance with the sequential and exceptions tests”

Policy CCC2: Safe and sustainable travel
“New development will be required to:

i. Prioritise the provision of safe and convenient pedestrian access within developments, by linking to
and enabling the provision of more extensive walking networks wherever possible, and where needed
by providing new pedestrian connections to local facilities;

ii. Provide or contribute to the provision of dedicated cycle routes and cycle lanes, linking to and
enabling the provision of more extensive cycle networks and providing safe cycle routes to local schools
wherever possible ...

v. Incorporate infrastructure to support the use of electric vehicles ...”
Policy IMPL2: Development Standards

“New development will meet or exceed the following standards and requirements to help minimise their
environmental impact and/or to be adaptable to the future needs of occupiers over their lifetime...

ii. The higher water use efficiency standard in accordance with Part 36(2) (b) of the Building
Regulations, currently a maximum use of 110 litres per person per day.

iii. New commercial developments of 250 - 999 sgm gross internal area (GIA) are required to achieve
Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method (BREEAM) excellent standard in
the water consumption criterion. Commercial development of 1,000 sgm or more GIA is also required to
achieve BREEAM excellent standard overall.

v. Provision of a high-speed fibre broadband connection to the property threshold.

vi. Provision to enable the convenient installation of charging points for electric vehicles in residential
properties and in residential, employee and visitor parking areas.”

Saved Policy DM6: Coastal Change Management Area (CCMA)

[Defines an area where development is restricted due to erosion and land instability risks].

45

@:&:




Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) New FOrESt

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Appendix 2: Climate Change Statement Information Proforma

See the Net Zero Carbon Toolkit for further information and guidance.

Climate Change Mitigation and Zero Carbon

Aspect / requirement Designed Developer comments
(description/justification/calculations/assumptio
ns)

CCS 1: Minimising energy demand and targeting net zero carbon in operation

CCS 1a: Minimising energy demand by design

Electrical energy ___kwh/pa

demand

Installed renewable ____kwh solar PV /

electrical capacity wind / CHP / district

(target: 35 heat network

KWh/m2GlAlyear)

Insulation At / above building
regs

Low carbon lighting Yes/ No

installed

Energy efficient Yes / No

appliances included
Orientation for solar gain | Yes / No

Orientation for PV Yes / No
optimisation

Passive ventilation Yes / No
installed

Passive shading installed | Yes / No

CCS 1b: Low carbon heating systems

Heat type Gas / Heat pump /
Electric other
Zero Carbon ready (if not | Yes / No

met)
CCS 1c: Energy use and carbon calculations
Total operational energy |
demand (EUI) (target: kWh/m2GlAlyear
under
35kWh/m2GIAlyear)
Building COze

CO,e/m?GlAlyear

Space heat demand

(target: 15 kWh/m2GlAlyear
KWh/m2GlAlyear)

Whole development COze/tonnes/year
CO.e

CCS 1d: Smart energy systems

Smart energy use Yes/ No

system (smart meter)
Heating controls/system | Yes/No

Renewable energy Yes/ No
generator monitor




Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

New Forest

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Installed demand
response measures

Yes / No

CCS le: future proofing st

atement

If heat pump not
installed: Future proofing
for heat pump statement

[text]

CCS 1f: option to purchase heat pump pre-installation

If heat pump not
installed: Buyer able to
purchase heat pump
system from developer at
discounted
supplementary cost?

Yes / No

CCS 2: Onsite renewable

energy generation

CCS 2a: onsite renewable

energy

Description of renewable
approach

[text]

CCS 2b: renewable energy generation calculatio

met by onsite renewable
generation? If no,
please justify how best
outcome achieved

Onsite renewable energy | kWh/year

generation total (target: | % of 120

120 kWh/m2/year) kwh/m2/year
__ % of EUI (see
SSC 1: 1¢)

Onsite renewable energy | kWhlyear

generation per m? of 9% of 120

building development kWh/m2/year

footprint % of EUI (see
SSC 1: 1¢)

Is regulated energy use | Yes/No

CCS 2c: Option to purchase PV pre-installation

If PV not installed: Buyer
able to purchase PV
system from developer at
discounted
supplementary cost?

Yes / No

CCS 3: Embodied carbon

CCA 3a: Reducing embod

ied carbon in the construction process

Describe steps taken to
reduce emissions in the
construction process e.g.
sourcing and type of
materials

[text]

CCA 3b: Reducing embod

ied carbon for the full lifecycle of the building (all major developments
of 50+ dwellings or 1000m2 GIA of other uses)

Describe steps taken to
reduce emissions for the
full lifecycle of the
building e.g. sourcing

[text]




Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

and type of materials,
maintenance
considerations, end of
life options

CCS 4a: Cycle parking and EV charging

Number of secure and ____ total

accessible cycle parking |___ per dwelling /

space building

Number of EV chargers | __ total

installed ____per dwelling /
building

Capacity of EV chargers | kwWh

installed

Site EV ready only Yes/ No

CCS 4b: Building for a healthy life (residential development 50+ homes only)

Has the ‘Building for a Yes/ No
Healthy Life’ design
toolkit been used?
Out of the 12 _ 112
considerations, how

many have been agreed
as ‘green’ rated overall
by the planning
officer(s)?

Climate Change Adaptation

CCS 5: Avoiding Overheating
CCS 5a: Natural heatwave mitigation (all major development)

Describe how heatwave [text]
mitigation has informed
the planting and
landscaping strategy
Describe how heatwave [text]
mitigation has informed
the choice of building
materials and surfaces
e.g. orientation, cross-
ventilation

CCS 5b: Overheating

Provide the overall score |/

and rating from the Good | high/medium/low
Homes Alliance Early-
Stage Overheating Risk
Tool (pg.7)

CCS 5c: Mechanical Ventilation and Heat Recovery

48



DISTRICT COUNCIL

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) New FOrESt

Will MVHC be provided? | Yes/ No
CCS 6: Flood risk reduction and sustainable drainage systems (SuDS)
CCS 6a: Managing surface water run-off

Will the development Yes / No
include any hard
standing or paved
surfaces that would not
be water permeable?
CCS 6b: Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS)

Describe how SuDS [text]
have been designed and
specified as an
integrated part of the site
design

CCS 6c¢: Flood resilience
measures

Summarise and provide [text]
a cross-reference to the
section of the Flood Risk
assessment that
addresses proposed
flood prevention and
flood resilience
measures

CCS 7: Drought resilience and using water efficiently

CCS 7a: Reducing mains
water use

Confirm water use ____litres / person /
efficiency standard the day

development is specified
to achieve (target: 110
litres / person / day)

Will water butts be Yes / No
provided in all
gardens/yard spaces?
Describe any other water [text]
efficiency measures
proposed e.g. grey water
recycling, water flow
restrictors




ANew Forest

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Appendix 3: Good Homes Alliance early stage overheating risk tool

The Good Homes Alliance website*® provides guidance on use of the tool.

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

EARLY STAGE OVERHEATING RISK TOOL \ersion 10 uy 010

This tool pravides guidance on how to assess averheating risk in residertial schemes at the early stages of design. It is specifically
a pre-detail design assessment intended to help idertify factors that could contribute to or mitigate the likelihood of averheating.

The guestions can be answered for an overall scheme or for individual units. Score zero wherever the question does not apply.
Additionalinformationis pravided in the accompanying guidance, with examples of scoring and advice on next steps.

Find out mare infarmation and download accompanying guidance at goodhomes.org uk/overheating-in-new-homes.

KEY FACTORS INCREASING THE LIKELIHOOD OF OVERHEATING | KEY FACTORS REDUCING THE LIKELIHOOD OF OVERHEATING

Geographical and local context
#1 Whereis the South esst 4 #8 Do the site surroundings feature significant
schemein the UK? Northem Englend, Scotiand & NI | 0 blueigreen infrastructure?
See guidance for map Proximity to green spaces and |large water bodies has
Rest of Englend and Wales 2 beneficia effects on local tem peratures; as guidance, this 1
T , would require at least 50% of surroundings within @ 100m
#2 Is the site likelyto | Cental London (see guidance) | 3 radlius to ke Huedreen, or arurd context
Isge a: el:;:ar",Hem Grtr London, Menchester, Bham | 2
an C1? —
; ’ Cther cities, towns & dense sub-
See guidance for details e e 1
Site characteristics
#3 Does the site have Day - rezsons tokeep dl #9 Are imm ediate surrounding surfaces in majority
bartiers to windows windows closed pale in colour, or blueigreen?
opening? Day - batiers some of the Lighter surfaces reflect more heat end absorbless so their 1
- Noise/Acousticrisks time, or for some windows 4 temperatures reman lower ; consider harizontd and verical
- Poor air quditysmells e, |8.9. on quiet side surfeces within 10m of the scheme
nea factory or car park or N
very busy rozd ight - rezsons tokeep al A = =
et er ke windows closed #10 Does the site have existing tall trees or buildings
- Adjacent to heat re potion Night - bedroom windows OK that will shade solar-exposed glazed areas? 1
plant toopen, but other windows | 4 Shading onto east, south end west facing areas can reduce
are likely to stay dosed l solar gains, but may aso reduce daight levels
Scheme characteristics and dwelling design
#4 Are the dwellings flats? #11 Do dwellings have high exposed thermal mass
Flats often comkine anumkber of factors AND a means for secure and quiet night ventilation?
contributing to overheating risk e.g. dwelling size, heat 3 Therma mass can help slow down temperaturerises, butit 1
gans from surrounding arezs; other dense end endosed can aso cause properties to be slower to cool, soneeds to be
dwellings may be similzrly affected - see guidance for used with care - see guidance
exanples
#12 Do floor-to-ceiling heights allow
#5 Does the scheme have community heating? ceiling fans, now or in the future?
i.e. with hot pipework operating during summer, espedialy in 3 Higher ceilings increzse st aification and ar
intemd arees, leading to heat gans and higher tem peratures movement, end offer the potentid for ceiling fans | »>2.8m 1
Solar heat gains and ventilation
#6 Whatis the estimated average glazing #13 Is there usetul external shading?
ratio for the dwellings? Shading should apply to solar exposed (E/SAW)
(28 aproporton of the facede on sola-exposed e glazing. It may indude shzcling devices, baconies
aress i.e. orientations fzcing east, south, west, and | 0% | 7 "am"ue fa;:ajelancul_aitlon etc. See guidance on
anyting in between). Higher proportions of glazing Tl a:.d frant Sc;‘rimg CEEERENE R
allow higher heat gains into the space =35% | 4 Fapenions asiper
#7 Are the dwellings single aspect? #14 Do windows & openings Openings cormpared to
Single sspect dwellings hawe dl openings [ support effective ventilation? Part F purge rates
on the same facade. This reduces the 8; -asm: o Larger, effective and =PatF
potentia for ventilation secure openings will :
Budleepec NG help dissipate heat Single-aspect |y inimum
- see guidance Dual aspect required
Sum of contributing : Sum of mitigating
TOTAL SCORE |:I = minus
factors: factors:
score >12: score between 8and 12: score <8:
Incorporate design changes to reduce risk Seek design changes to reducerisk factors Ensure the mitigating measures are retained,
factors end increase mitigation factors and/or increase mitigation factors and that risk factors do not increase (e.g. in
AND Carry out adetaled assessment (e.g. AND Cary cut adetaled assessment (e.9. planning conditions)
dynamic modelling against CIBSE TM59) dynamic modelling aganst CIBSE TM59)

30 hitps://goodhomes.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/GHA-Overheating-in-New-Homes-Tool-and-Guidance.pdf
50



https://goodhomes.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/GHA-Overheating-in-New-Homes-Tool-and-Guidance.pdf

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

Appendix 4 Case studies for new build
Ultra-low energy design is fast becoming the new normal

128.The energy efficiency of new homes is increasing year on year. Many self-builders and
developers go beyond building regulations for energy efficiency because it makes sense.
Not only can low energy building be cheaper to run, they can also be easier and cheaper to
maintain and crucially, will not need further expensive retrofit in the future.

Beautiful and efficient homes

129.Lark Rise in the Chiltern Hills is certified to Passivhaus Plus standards. It is entirely electric
and generates 2.5 times as much energy as it consumes in a year. Carefully optimised
design has meant that it has a mostly glazed facade, minimal heat demand and stable
temperatures over summer months.

Passivhaus/Ultra-low energy can be delivered at scale

130.Developers are building Passivhaus at scale. At the lower end Hastoe’s development at
Wimbish, Essex is a mixture of 14 houses and flats. certified to Passivhaus standards. The
average heating costs for the houses are £130/year (2020). The development is operating
as designed and has effectively eliminated the 'performance gap’.

131.0ther examples include Springfield Meadows in Oxfordshire and Agar Grove in Camden At
nearly 500 homes Agar Grove estate regeneration in Camden, London, will be the largest
Passivhaus development in the UK once completed. Phase 1A is occupied.

Wimbish, Passivhaus certified. (Source: Hastoe Housing Association)



https://www.passivhaustrust.org.uk/UserFiles/File/UK%20PH%20Awards/2021/Finalists/Phase%201/PHTawards2021_Large_Agar_Grove_1a.pdf

S22 New Forest

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

Appendix 5: What to do when? Checklist for design and
construction

RIBA Stage 2 & 3

RIBA Stage 2 - Concept Design . RIBA Stage 3 - Spatial Coordination

Optimise building orientation to balance solar gain and increase
south facing roof area. Design roof to maximise density of
renewables.

Review mark-up of insulation line on all plans and sections and carry out
initial U-value calculations.

Carry out heating options appraisal including a low carbon option

Calculate and report the building form factor for design options.

Hold a thermal bridge workshop. Include the structural engineer for
Arrange embodied carbon workshops with design team to target lean review of columns, masonry support etc.

design principles and reduce big tickets items e.g. structure.

Provide MVHR layout including duct distribution and measurement of
Identify design team members to carry out embodied carbon intake and exhaust duct lengths to external walls for sample dwellings.
assessment. Carry out multiple embodied carbon calculations of key

elements to demonstrate low carbon design choices.

Carry out full embodied carbon assessment of whole building and
compare against embodied carbon target. Implement reductions where
necessary.

Mark-up insulation line on all plans and sections. Mark unheated
external areas on plans.

MEP consultant to review embodied carbon impact of services and reduce
the amount of kit where possible. Use CIBSE TM65 embodied carbon in
building services to assess impact.

Allow sufficient wall construction thickness for all insulated walls, roofs
and floors.

Mark window openings for providing natural ventilation for summer
comfort.

Carry out PHPP modelling alongside SAP calculations. List all
model assumptions including U-values, thermal bridges and system
specifications etc.

Identify a location for the MVHR next to an external wall.

Carry out overheating assessment and eliminate overheating through
passive strategies where possible (TM59). Ensure all element assumptions
match PHPP and SAP models.

Carry out preliminary overheating risk assessment using the Good
Homes Alliance overheating checklist.

Calculate electricity generation intensity of PV arrays and review against

Carry out initial PHPP model.
KPI.

For projects using Passivhaus certification this is a good time to

consider an appoiAtment. Define airtightness strategy and identify airtightness line on plans and

sections.

Measure heating and hot water pipe lengths for sample dwellings.
Minimise distribution or standing losses.

Demonstrate distribution losses have been calculated and reduced.

Prepare RIBA Stage 3 report and include predicted operational cost to
tenant.

MVHR: Mechanical Ventilation with Heat Recovery

PHPP: Passivhaus Planning Package

This design checklist provides a list of key actions that should be carried out at each
work stage to meet the KPI targets for new homes.

This should be shared with the project’s design team to check off after each stage is
complete.




Planning for Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

ae) New Forest

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Checklist for design and construction: RIBA Stage 3+, 4,5 & 6

RIBA Stage 3+ - Early Technical Design (and tender) .

Detail build-ups of all external elements including thickness and
conductivity of all materials.

Detailed U-value calculations (including masonry support system,
etc.).

Identification of all thermal bridge junction types (e.g. parapet A,
parapet B).

Thermal bridge calculations for a selection of the most important
junctions.

Definition of airtightness testing requirements for contractor.

Include requirements for Environmental Product Declarations (EPD)
in the tender. Make EPDs obligatory for structural materials, primary
fagade and any other major materials.

Include KPI requirements in the tender.

Agree scope of Post-Occupancy Evaluation in tender. Identify level of
participation from contractor and design team.

RIBA Stage 4 - Technical Design (in addition to Stage 3+)

Develop junction details for window and doors.

Review airtightness line on each drawing and identification of
airtightness requirements for service penetrations.

Carry out a thermal bridge workshop to review thermal bridge
lengths and calculate Psi-values for all junctions.

Review MVHR layout including duct distribution and measurement of
length of intake and exhaust ducts for all homes.

Measure heating and hot water pipe lengths for all communal areas
and homes.

Carry out embodied carbon assessment of whole building using
accurate Bills of Quantities.

Specify high performing PV panels.

RIBA Stage 5 - Manufacturing and Construction

Run an introduction to ultra-low energy construction workshop on-
site.

Encourage site manager and team training on construction quality
requirements covering insulation and airtightness.

Prepare toolbox talk information for site team inductions on low
energy construction quality.

Review alternative materials or products proposed by the contractor.
Ensure substitutions do not compromise the thermal performance or
embodied carbon target.

Carry out regular construction quality assurance site visits and reports
(depending on the size of the scheme — at least six) in tandem with
regular visits.

Develop site quality tracker, assess against KPIs and update regularly.

Require leak finding airtightness tests at first fix and second
airtightness test pre-completion.

Witness commissioning of MVHR systems and heating system.

Carry out predicted in-use energy model of each building leading to
the final ‘as built’ PHPP model.

Consider recalculating embodied carbon using ‘as built’ information.

RIBA Stage Handover

Provide building and operational information to residents in the form
of site inductions and simple building user guides and instructions
(e.g. sticker on MVHR for filter replacement).

Consider embodied carbon as part of the replacement and
maintenance strategy and include in the O&M manual.

Carry out post-occupancy evaluation during first 5 years of use and
verify KPIs have been met.

Lessons learnt project review with design team.

Publicly report KPls.




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 7

CABINET -3 APRIL 2024 PORTFOLIO - ALL

SOLENT FREEPORT: SECURING A LEGACY FOR THE NEW
FOREST

1. RECOMMENDATIONS
1.1 That the Cabinet:

e Agrees that the following represent the priorities for the New Forest in respect of
the economic growth which would be achieved through a successfully delivered
Solent Freeport:

Transport/wider infrastructure
Employment and Skills

Prosperous Communities

Environmental Sustainability

The Development of a Local Delivery Plan

YVVVY

¢ Instructs officers to develop a New Forest Freeport Delivery Plan and bring it back
to Cabinet for consideration.

2. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

2.1 To provide an update to Cabinet on delivery of the Solent Freeport and to seek support
for a series of New Forest Freeport priorities and the principle of developing a New
Forest Freeport Delivery Plan.

3 BACKGROUND

3.1 Cabinet, at its meeting of 3 February 2021, agreed to support the bid to Government
for the creation of the Solent Freeport. Subsequently, Council, at its meeting of 19 July
2021, approved the submission of an Outline Business Case to Government further
supporting the establishment of the Freeport. This included a tax site within the
Council’'s Waterside area covering four landholdings — the former Fawley Power
Station, Exxon Mobil, ABP’s Strategic Land Reserve and Marchwood Port (Solent
Gateway).

3.2 At its meeting of 21 March 2022, Cabinet agreed to delegate endorsement of the
Freeport Full Business Case and Memorandum of Understanding to the Chief
Executive and agreed the Freeport Business Rate Relief policy.

3.3 The Solent Freeport Full Business Case was submitted to government in April 2022
and was subsequently approved. The Freeport was officially designated and moved
into delivery phase in December 2022.

3.4 The Solent Freeport Full Business Case set out that the initiative will unlock significant
investment, create thousands of new jobs and enhance the region’s credentials as a
global gateway into the UK. The incentives to support investment on tax sites are now
in place, including business rates relief and other incentives to support capital
investment. At the same time, business rates growth which results from that
investment will be pooled and reinvested in the area.

3.5 Decisions in relation to the Freeport are made by the Solent Freeport Board. The
Leader of New Forest District Council is a Board Member of the Freeport. A sub
committee of the Freeport Board, the Finance, Resources and Audit Committee,
considers issues around finance and governance. The Leader is also a Member of
that Committee. Finally, the Retained Rates Investment Committee considers

181



4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

recommendations on the use of retained business rates. The S151 Officer of New
Forest District Council sits on the sub committee.

NEW FOREST TAX SITES UPDATE

Tax sites give businesses operating within them access to certain tax benefits ie
Enhanced Capital Allowances, Enhanced Structures and Buildings Allowance, Stamp
Duty Land Tax reliefs, Employers National Insurance Contribution relief, and
Business rate relief. On designation of the Freeport, these benefits were due to end
in 2026 but the Chancellor’s latest autumn statement extended that deadline, in
principle, to 2032.

Tax sites within the New Forest will play a vital role in the delivery of the Freeport —
with land at the former Fawley Power Station, Exxon Mobil, ABP’s Strategic Land
Reserve and Marchwood Port (Solent Gateway) making up the Southampton
Waterside tax site, along with one additional site outside of the District boundary in
Redbridge. In the Freeport Business Cases, these sites are forecast to contribute:

o 7,000 of 16,000 new jobs (44%)
o £290m of £511m retained business rates (57%)
o 303 ha of 430ha of developable land (70%)

With the Freeport now live, it is important that investment comes forward which will
realise these benefits — the clock is ticking both in respect of the benefits for investors
but also the period over which retained business rates will be realised.

The current position on each is as follows:

o Former Fawley Power Station. One of the biggest brownfield redevelopment
schemes in the south of England which has a resolution to grant outline planning
permission for a residential led mixed use scheme including approximately 10
hectares of land in the northern part of the site for business and industrial uses.
The S106 which would finalise the planning consent has not been signed by the
landowner/developer which makes the timing of development uncertain. A new
management team has been put in place to progress the scheme. Initial
discussions with that team have taken place and updated proposals are awaited.

e Exxon Mobil announced in November a major investment in a low sulphur diesel
facility. The addition of a new hydrogen plant is seen as the foundation for
developing a sustainable aviation fuel facility and, combined with their new
Southampton to London pipeline, represents a near £1billion investment in the
plant. The proposals will see development on one of the Freeport tax sites.

e The Solent Gateway initiative now comes under the ownership of the
Association of British Ports (ABP) with development planned via the long lease
which they have at Marchwood Port. The site has indicative planning permission
for the construction of hard standing for storage areas for the movement of
materials, vehicles and containers as well as covered storage, warehousing,
industrial space and offices. Subject to signing off on the planning conditions,
Solent Gateway have indicated that they expect building to begin imminently,
which will represent further investment on the tax site.

e The ABP land reserve site represents a later phase of development. ABP have
indicated that its development is reliant on improvements to the A326. A planning
application for the A326 upgrade is expected later in the year, the project being
led by Hampshire County Council as the Highways authority. Details of what is
proposed at the land reserve is still awaited — however, the Freeport Business
Case identifies the use of land as being key to unlocking an overall 40% increase

182



5

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

55

6.1

in capacity at the Port of Southampton, retaining the Solent as a globally
important trading gateway.

RETAINED BUSINESS RATES

One key benefit of the Freeport is the retention of business rates above a fixed base
level on tax sites for a period of 25 years from Freeport designation.

The local retention of incremental business rates generated on tax sites is
considered by government to be one of the most valuable elements of the Freeports
package. Retained business rates over that period will provide a major resource for
initiatives across the Solent.

Portsmouth City Council, as the Accountable Body for the Freeport, has signed a
Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with the Department of Levelling Up, Housing
and Communities (DLUHC) in relation to the use of retained business rates. The
MoU required the establishment of a Solent Freeport Company Limited (SFCL)
Investment Committee to make decisions on the use of retained business rates. The
Investment Committee is to make decisions based on deliverability, value for money,
strategic fit, additionality, private sector leverage, public sector contributions,
affordability and contribution to delivering strategic outcomes across the whole
geography of the Freeport.

The Solent Freeport has approved a Retained Rates Investment Plan which
establishes that, once pooled, retained business rates will be re-invested on the
following basis.

Skills — 15% of available funding

Net Zero — 7.5%

Hotbeds of innovation — 7.5%

Regeneration and enabling infrastructure — 60%
Local investment priorities — 10%

At this stage, this breakdown must be considered as indicative. Further information is
awaited on whether some areas of focus will take priority as business rates are
accumulated. The timing of when funds will be available is also not yet clear. If funds
are only approved once they are received, then it may be some time in the future
before they are available for projects. However, if there is a desire for the Freeport (or
its accountable body or other body) to borrow based on future business rate income,
then projects may proceed much more quickly. However, the above breakdown gives
an indication of the priorities of the Freeport — this will be important when considering
the New Forest’s priorities as greater alignment between the two will improve the
prospect of future funding.

NEW FOREST FREEPORT PRIORITIES

The Solent Freeport offers a once in a generation opportunity to realise inclusive
growth across the region including the New Forest. To date, the New Forest has not
progressed proposals for how it would like to see retained business rates re-invested
in the region. Whilst retained rates will be pooled and used collectively across the
area, tax sites within the New Forest will be contributing a significant proportion of
these funds — it is therefore appropriate that we look to influence how they are utilised
and ensure that New Forest residents see significant benefit from the Freeport over
the years ahead. A Delivery Plan is required which establishes the outcomes that a
successful Freeport would deliver in the New Forest. This Delivery Plan can then form
the basis for discussions with Freeport on use of business rates and other funding
opportunities as they come forward.

183



6.2

6.3

Both the Future New Forest Partnership Board and the Waterside Steering Group has
considered what they believe the most appropriate Freeport priorities would be. Each
of those groups agreed that the priorities to be developed into a New Forest Freeport
Delivery Plan should be as follows:

e Transport/wider infrastructure

o Employment and Skills

e Prosperous Communities

¢ Environmental Sustainability

¢ The Development of a Local Delivery Plan

It is now appropriate for Cabinet to consider whether it agrees that these are the key
priorities for the District. Further information is provided on each below.

Transport/wider infrastructure

6.4

6.5

6.6

6.7

6.8

The transport asks of the Freeport will need to be considered through a combination of
the adopted Waterside Transport Strategy, enabling infrastructure required for New
Forest Freeport tax sites (most notably the A326 upgrade) and the need to realise an
enhancement of our environment and the National Park. The Waterside Transport
Strategy identifies the following vision.

The Waterside will have a low carbon, resilient and fully integrated transport network
designed around people and communities, enabling economic growth in an innovative
way whilst protecting and enhancing health, quality of life and the surrounding
internationally important environment.

It will provide for a prosperous community within which people can live, work and have
easy access to local facilities, whilst enjoying easy, direct and affordable access to:

» The New Forest’s unique environment;

» Southampton Water’s unique deep-water harbour, leisure activities and habitats;
and

* The city of Southampton’s wide-ranging employment, leisure, health and education
facilities.

Implementation of the Waterside Transport Strategy should be a key Freeport priority
for the New Forest. The Strategy sets the wider framework for investing in transport to
support delivery of the Freeport and wider growth.

In relation to unlocking Freeport tax sites, the key single piece of infrastructure which
has been identified as a fundamental pre-requisite to investment is the upgrade of the
A326.

Hampshire County Council (HCC), as the highways authority, has identified that the
scheme will deliver increased capacity and a redistribution of traffic back on to the
A326 and away from other less suitable routes, such as through the National Park and
Waterside communities. In addition, it will realise improvements for people walking and
cycling in the Waterside communities and deliver a minimum 10% improvement in
biodiversity, through both mitigating the impacts of the scheme and providing a further
10% uplift.

HCC has indicated that, as part of the Large Local Majors (LLM) programme, the DfT
could be expected to provide up to 85% of the costs of constructing the scheme and
are providing up to two thirds of the cost of developing the scheme up to the
submission of the Planning Application. The remaining 15% of construction costs are
still to be confirmed. The cost of the preferred option at Strategic Business Case stage
was £85m, but with recent inflationary price increases, the construction cost is now

184



6.9

6.10

expected to be above £100m. In January 2024, the Leader of Hampshire County
Council approved a decision to progress the continued development of the A326
scheme up to planning application and outline business case submission planned for
autumn this year.

A number of tax site landowners have indicated that congestion on the existing A326 is
a barrier to operation and an upgrade is crucial to delivering the growth envisaged by
the Solent Freeport.

Implementation of the Waterside Transport Strategy should therefore be a core priority
— including not just road infrastructure but also our ambition to realise a renewed
Waterside rail link as well as wide ranging cycling and walking improvements.
However, a focus on infrastructure will need to go beyond transport. In particular, the
New Forest is challenged by threats to the necessary energy supply. Any New Forest
Freeport Delivery Plan should consider the wider infrastructure requirements which will
be key to the Freeport’s success.

Employment and Skills

6.11

6.12

6.13

6.14

6.15

The Solent Freeport Full Business case references the Skills Action Plan and the Local
Skills report developed by the Solent Skills Advisory Panel (SAP). The SAP plans
show skills gaps at higher technical levels and across specific sectors, the need for
more digital skills, a focus on STEM and creating additional opportunities for
apprenticeships.

In terms of delivery on tax sites, the Freeport FBC suggests that skills needed are
likely to be STEM higher technical skills, complex engineering, digital and data
analytics.

In relation to skills, Freeport priorities as set out in the Full Business Case included:

e Creating pathways to jobs for local people.

e Targeted skills initiatives to expand the existing offer and address specific skills
requirements.

e A Freeport Skills Charter to lever private sector contributions.

e A Solent Freeport Green Growth institute.

e A Skills Academy at Fawley Waterside — focusing on apprenticeships, upskilling
and skills transfer across generations.

e Schemes at Southampton airport (aeronautical), Arlington (rail engineering),
Dunsbury Park (advanced manufacturing).

e Utilising existing national government training offers.

e Reaching those in the most deprived communities.

Across the Solent region, there is a range of provision which New Forest residents
potentially have access to in relation to skills — including boot camps, apprenticeships,
NEET engagement, a skills hub and a construction skills programme. The County has
a network of post 16 education and skills providers. Programmes include Hampshire
Careers Partnership, Hampshire Careers and Employability Service, Careers and
Enterprise Company, Employment and Skills Hub, Apprenticeships (Solent
Apprenticeship Hub), Construction Skills Fund, Outdoor Education and Duke of
Edinburgh Award.

However, the New Forest Economic Profile (2022) highlights some key characteristics

in the district and, in particular, some areas where our employment and skills profile
departs significantly from the regional average. This includes:

185



6.16

6.17

e An increasingly aging population (30% over 65 compared to 19% nationally).

e Knowledge intensive employment and skills (where knowledge and technologies
are used extensively to add value to production or services) are
underrepresented in the New Forest -11.4% compared to 20.6% in Hampshire.

¢ A higher economic inactivity rate (20.6%) than across the County as a whole
(17.6%).

e Overall affluence (and perception of affluence) hiding pockets of deprivation — for
example Totton and New Forest Waterside fall within 10% and 20% most
deprived on the criteria of education, skills and training.

e Twice the proportion of people in the New Forest work in low skilled occupations
compared to the Hampshire average.

¢ Inrelation to advanced skills (above A level), 37% of working age population of
the New Forest have advanced skills compared to 43.5% nationally. There are
parts of the district where the figure is much lower.

e Interms of those with low or no skills (ie either no formal qualification or level 1,
GCSE 1-3 or NVQ1), the figure for the New Forest is 19.7% compared to 17.1%
in Hampshire.

¢ New Forest has 21,600 residents employed in high skilled occupations, 28.2% of
the working age population. The figure for Hampshire is 34.9%.

e The New Forest outperforms Hampshire and the UK for on-the-job training.

Discussions with providers and businesses suggest that there are a number of areas
which are unigue to the New Forest and, as such, they are not addressed by the Local
Skills Infrastructure Plan and the Skills Action Plan which are documents reflecting the
regional need. This includes:

¢ We have isolated communities where those most excluded have additional
challenges because of that isolation.

e A very high proportion of our businesses are small and medium enterprises
(SMEs). This has an impact on apprenticeship and T Level take up as well as
training for new careers through Bootcamps, as SMEs are less likely to employ
staff through these routes.

e Additionally, SMEs tend to be less nimble in terms of recruitment, so we lose
skilled New Forest residents to employers elsewhere.

e We have a need for high numbers of short-term contractors — and we are not
attractive to that market because of the cost of staying and living in the New
Forest.

It is therefore essential that a New Forest Freeport Delivery Plan makes the case for
bespoke employment and skills approaches which address our unique challenges.

Prosperous Communities

6.18

6.19

The Solent Freeport Full Business case puts Southampton Water tax sites at the heart
of the region’s economic growth. The business case predominantly focuses on key
deliverables around jobs, skills, innovation, and net zero. However, there is perhaps a
lack of focus on supporting local communities within and adjacent to where growth is
expected to take place.

One test of a successful Freeport should arguably be — ‘has it made your community a
better place to live’? We have many communities who are likely to assess the success
of the Freeport on the physical and social benefits which will be achieved where they
live — in Totton, Marchwood, Hythe, Fawley and Calshot for example. More widely, in
supporting the Freeport proposal, the Council made strong representation that there

186



6.20

6.21

should be an element of the retained business rates, the use of which would be
determined by local need. This was done to ensure that communities across our whole
district see benefits from the initiative and it is important that we follow through on that
principle.

Totton is an important example of this and an area where we have been able to make
quick strides in terms of considering how the Freeport could benefit the town centre
through engagement work previously undertaken. Totton town centre needs
investment through a long-term plan. The Council spoke to residents last year about
how the town centre could be improved both in relation to physical interventions to
enhance the town centre, but more widely to consider strategic land uses and
connectivity. Cabinet subsequently agreed design principles for the town. Work is
needed to bring partners together to consider a vision for Totton and an approach to
realising that vision, potentially through a Framework Masterplan and Investment Plan.
The Totton Regeneration Partnership is now in place to progress this work. An
element of our Shared Prosperity Fund has also been earmarked, allowing some
‘quick wins’ to realise momentum in transforming the town centre.

The Council has additionally invested additional small sums in other town centres
across the district to begin the process of engagement with local people about what
would improve the places they live. Supporting local communities and town centres is
also a key theme in our emerging Corporate Plan. However, where town centres
across the country have benefited from investment through the Levelling Up agenda
our town centres have no current route to major investment. Our Communities team
will work with the Freeport going forward to look at the options open to us to address
that and to bring further investment into the district. In delivering the Freeport, it is
important that the aspirations of the Freeport Full Business Case are broadened to
realise inclusive growth for communities across the whole district.

Environmental Sustainability and Working Towards a Net Zero Economy

6.22

6.23

6.24

6.25

6.26

6.27

The Solent Freeport is unique in being the only Freeport with tax sites lying adjacent to
a designated National Park and which includes land within the National Park. This
creates an immediate challenge in balancing the benefits of inclusive economic growth
with the need to enhance the Park as an inclusive landscape for all to enjoy.

The speed at which Freeport proposals across the country were developed, including
outline and full business cases, meant that this issue of balancing growth and
environment could not be fully assessed, albeit progress towards net zero in general
was at the heart of the Freeport guidance and bidding process.

Any delivery plan for the New Forest in relation to the Freeport will need to consider
both the role of the Freeport in progressing the region’s move towards net zero
alongside a focus on wider environmental enhancement and sustainability, reflecting
the area’s very significant natural assets.

Work in relation to net zero in the New Forest includes activity being undertaken by the
Freeport itself, the Solent Cluster on Decarbonisation, individual major businesses and
NFDC’s own action plan both for the Council and the wider District.

In addition to ensuring progression towards net zero, a successful Freeport should see
a significant enhancement of our National Park offer but also connectivity between our
Waterside communities and the Park itself.

Specifically in terms of Freeport outcomes, the Park Authority has established the
following as priorities:

187



¢ New extensive country park and greenspace provision that is accessible to local
communities and enhances natural capital;

e Reconnecting the Forest to the sea through ecological corridors, and reducing
severance between Waterside communities and the New Forest;

e Connected active travel / sustainable transport network that provide safe and
green alternatives to the congested road network.

Local Delivery Plan Projects

6.28

7.1

7.2

8.1

9.1

10

10.1

In the development of the Freeport proposals, New Forest District made representation
that an element of re-use of retained business rates should support local projects in
those areas where rates will be collected. This was done to ensure that all parts of the
New Forest realise benefits from the Freeport. An early priority for a New Forest
Delivery Plan will be to develop an approach to identifying a wide range of such
projects. This could be done through a bidding process or a strategic commissioning
approach or both but should allow all our communities to propose projects which would
support their areas.

COMMUNICATIONS AND ENGAGEMENT

The process for bidding for Freeport status across the country and subsequently
developing and signing off business cases took place over a very short period and did
not include provision for major engagement and consultation. One consequence of
this, is a potential lack of understanding locally of the Freeport initiative or the
opportunities it could bring to communities across the district. It is also important that
we hear and seek to address concerns that local people may have about its
implementation.

In developing the priorities for the New Forest, it will be important to engage with local
communities to address that shortfall in communication. The Council will work with the
wider Freeport stakeholders to ensure that such discussions, for example with parish
councils, take place alongside the development of a local Freeport Delivery Plan.

CONCLUSIONS

Given the role of New Forest tax sites to a successful Freeport, it is vital that the
benefits of the Freeport are felt by our residents. Cabinet is therefore asked to endorse
the priorities set out in this report and additionally asked to instruct to develop a New
Forest Freeport Delivery Plan.

CONSULTATIONS

The New Forest Freeport priorities set out above have been considered and endorsed
by both the Future New Forest Partnership and the Waterside Steering Group. The
Place and Sustainability Overview and Scrutiny Panel considered the proposals set
out in this report at its meeting of 7 March 2024 and unanimously agreed to support
the recommendations to Cabinet in paragraph 1.1. Members noted that the Freeport
will be delivered over a 25 year period and that benefits need to be secured over the
long term. The panel particularly supported a focus on local skills initiatives given
areas of high unemployment across the Waterside. There was additionally interest in
specific proposals for individual Freeport tax sites and an appetite from the panel to
receive further information from landowners in due course.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

This report recommends that officers are instructed to prepare a delivery plan setting
out our approach to realising benefit within the New Forest from the Freeport initiative.
This delivery plan can be progressed through the existing staff structure and we have

188



11

12

12.1

13

received some additional resources through the government’s Planning Skills Fund.
We are also in discussion with the Freeport around releasing funding to work up a
programme of local delivery projects and to develop business cases to support our
proposals which will be needed to meet government requirements in relation to
Freeport expenditure. Activities proposed within the delivery plan will need to
demonstrate how they can be funded either through current funding commitments or
through attracting additional external funding.

CRIME & DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

None

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

Ensuring that we realise environmental sustainability and an enhanced National Park
through Freeport activity is one of the core priorities of the proposed New Forest
Freeport Delivery Plan. As such, the work proposed should contribute positively to our

environment.

EQUALITY & DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

13.1 The New Forest Freeport Delivery Plan looks to extend the proposals within the Solent

14

14.1

15

15.1

15.2

15.3

Full Business case to realise specific interventions around employment, skills and
communities, focusing on those most in need and communities in need of investment.
As such, the Plan will champion equality and diversity across its core themes.

DATA PROTECTION IMPLICATIONS

None

PORTFOLIO HOLDER COMMENTS

The Solent Freeport is a huge opportunity for our region and here in the New Forest
we have a vital role to play given that sites within our district make up such a
significant part of the Freeport offer to inward investors.

It is vital that we have a clear view on what a successful Freeport looks like for the
New Forest. In particular, we need to identify the benefits it can bring to local people

and all our communities and ensure they are delivered over the lifetime of the project.

I endorse the priorities which are set out in this report and the recommendation to
instruct officers to progress a Freeport Delivery Plan for the District.

For further information contact: Background Papers:

Clive Tritton Cabinet 3 March 2021: Freeports Bid
Strategic Regeneration Advisor Council 19 July 2021: Solent Freeport Consortium
clive.tritton@nfdc.gov.uk Ltd

Cabinet 21 March 2022: Solent Freeport

189


mailto:clive.tritton@nfdc.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 8

CABINET - 3 APRIL 2024 PORTFOLIO: LEADER / ALL

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER

1. RECOMMENDATIONS

11 That Cabinet are asked to review feedback from Audit Committee and note the contents
of the Strategic Risk Register as part of the 6 monthly review process.

2. INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE

2.1 The Strategic Risk Register (Appendix 1), now included within this report contains the
significant cross cutting risks, as identified by senior and executive council officers in
consultation with the Portfolio Holders, in the Council achieving the priorities set out in the
‘Community Matters Corporate Plan 2020-24".

3. BACKGROUND

3.1 The objective of risk management is to recognise potential risks that could hinder the
Council in reaching its objectives. It is intended to assess, devise, and put into action
reliable strategies to diminish the probability and potential consequences of these risks
materialising.

3.2 The council is legally obligated to establish protocols for handling risks according to the
Accounts and Audit Regulations. This entails implementing effective internal controls that
support the efficient functioning of the council and includes procedures for risk
management. Accordingly, this holds great importance in the council's Local Code of
Practice for Corporate Governance and is a key aspect of assurance highlighted in the
Annual Governance Statement, relying heavily on a strong risk management framework.

4. STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER

4.1 The Strategic Risk Register (Appendix 1) captures the most significant cross cutting risks
to the delivery of the current Corporate Plan and the proposed actions to mitigate these
risks.

4.2 The attached Appendix 1 presents the progress report for the actions required, with the
blue narrative providing an overview of the current status for each item. It is important to
note that the strategic risk register operates on a 6-month cycle. In June, the entire register
is reviewed to assess the relevance of each cross-cutting risk and identifying any new
cross-cutting risks that need to added, ensuring that risk scores accurately reflect the
current situation, and review the status of risk control and any required actions. Then, in
January, an update is provided on the progress of the required actions.

4.3 These risks have been identified with senior and executive council officers working
alongside the Portfolio Holders to ensure a joined-up approach in capturing and
documenting these risks.

4.4 The register includes the same 8 Strategic Risks as included on the previously reviewed
version of the register. The updated register at appendix 1 provides progress update
narrative on the actions required to further manage residual risk, noting that some of the
actions are continual, whereas others are finite.

191



5.1

5.2

5.3

6.1

7.1

8.1

AUDIT COMMITTEE COMMENTS

During its meeting on 26 January 2024, the Audit Committee reviewed and
acknowledged the Strategic Risk Register as part of its biannual review process.
Members of the Committee made specific comments on the Strategic Risks related to
the recent waterside water supply issue and the transition from analogue to digital
telecom services.

In terms of the recent waterside water supply issue, it was noted that Strategic Risk 7
dealt with the council’s response to activities aligned to adverse conditions, but that
overall, there was insufficient reference to the need to support communities during those
events. An update has been made to Strategic Risk 1 to reference this, and cross
references to the risk controls and mitigations as covered by Strategic Risk 7.

Furthermore, the Committee inquired about the digital switchover from analogue to
digital telecom services due to concerns raised about its potential effects on residents,
including those who use Appletree Careline services. It was suggested that this
consideration be noted as a current circumstance under Strategic Risk 1, with further
details to follow in future revisions to the Strategic Risk Register.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

There are none arising directly from this report, although strong risk management and a
solid understanding of risk helps to support robust financial management.

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS AND EQUALITY & DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

There are no direct environmental or equality and diversity implications arising from this
report.

PORTFOLIO HOLDER COMMENTS

As Leader, | value the work undertaken by Portfolio-holders and EMT to revise the
strategic risk register and understand more fully how these significant risks may impact
the Council and our communities going forward, and what risk management work is
underway. Also the input of Audit Committee to this important governance process. Due
to the nature of these risks they cannot often be reduced through addressing likelihood
or impact to ‘green’, but | am reassured that the right actions are underway and look
forward to the next iteration in line with the Council’s Risk Management Policy.

For further information
James Clarke
Insurance and Risk Officer

Tel:

023 8028 5002

Email: James.Clarke@nfdc.gov.uk

192


mailto:James.Clarke@nfdc.gov.uk

DELIVERING FOROURCOMMUNITIES

APPENDIX 1
Strategic Risk Register 2020 - 2024 ¢ 3anuary 2024

DISTRICT COUNCIL

New Forest

1. Supporting Communities

Inherent Risk Current circumstance Risk Control RESGUETRNT Action Required

Score

Score

Likelihood 3 Communities are likely to be negatively impacted| A. Targeted funding streams and support for voluntary Likelihood 2 | A. Allocate resource to support
x Impact 4 = due to the current rate of inflation driven (in and community sectors. x Impact 3 = Corporate Plan priorities.
High 12 part) by a high utility price, and the knock-on . Engagement in discussions of fundamental activities Medium 6 Progress update: Alignment of

€61

implication this is having to the cost of food,
whilst in the context of a sustained inflated fuel
price. This will create additional pressures on
local businesses and job security.

Communities are impacted through a shortage of
housing including affordable housing Supply
being delivered within the District.

Communities can also require support during
significant adverse environmental events.

The Council needs to do more to support
communities with enhanced digital channels for
transacting and communicating with the Council.

There will also be some challenges around the
delivery of the and Freeport and in the Analogue
to digital switchover by 2025.

such as Solent Freeport and County Deals.

. Close working partnerships with key stakeholders

such as the Community Safety Partnership and the
Skills Advisory Group.

. Effectively review and apply the Council's Local

Plan, including active monitoring of the
implementation, while proactively working with
developers to provide enabling infrastructure and
continuously reviewing the Local Plan.

. Roll-out Digital Strategy prioritising customer needs.
. Corporate Plan 2020-2024 and the development of

the next Corporate Plan in 2023.

. Collaborative working with key partners through the

Cost of Living Steering Group to implement a
Poverty Action Plan.

. Establishment of a referral system to aid vulnerable

residents.

Regular engagement with the voluntary sector
Participation on the board and its sub-committees of
Solent Freeport Consortium Limited, ensuring
collaborative working and shared goal achievement
to advance the economic, social and environmental
well-being of the District.

. The Council’'s Housing Revenue Account is actively

seeking opportunities to bring forward additional
affordable homes within the District, under Council
ownership.

. The ability for the Council to operate in adverse

environmental conditions is set out in its own right
under Strategic Risk no.7. This includes the
requirement for the Council to step up processes to
support impacted communities in emergency
situations.

B. Continue to work in partnership for

. Understanding the results from the

. Continued support to the Cost of

resource to priorities to take effect after|
finalisation of 24-28 corporate plan.

example with the Solent Freeport and
with other public sector partners to
explore new and existing
opportunities to deliver to residents
and businesses.

Progress update: Having agreed New
Forest priorities for delivery through
the Solent Freeport with the Future
New Forest Growth Board and
Waterside Steering group build into a
delivery plan for Cabinet approval.

resident survey and taking stock of
these learning points to ensure they
feed into the Corporate Plan 2025-
2028.

Progress update: Subject to
consultation and final approval in April
2024, deliver actions arising from new
Corporate Plan objectives, under the
People priority of Helping those in our
community with the greatest need.

Living Steering Group is provided,
bringing a multi-agency approach to
tackling issues affecting the most
vulnerable in the community, working
alongside the Local Partnership
Campaign Manager to explore and
promote further support to household.
Progress update: Council Wide Cost
of Living group who have an Action
Plan which is reviewed and updated.




DELIVERING FOROURCOMMUNITIES

Strategic Risk Register 2020 - 2024 ¢ 3anuary 2024

New Forest

DISTRICT COUNCIL

V61

E.

Continuing to explore all housing
enabling avenues across planning
and housing.

Progress update: The push to
increase affordable housing
availability spearheaded by the
Council and Housing Associations is
making progress, despite facing a
challenging environment. The pipeline
for new homes is expanding, yet the
pace is tempered by the shortage of
available, appropriate sites, the
financial pressures from rising
construction costs, planning
expenses, and interest rates, as well
as the sluggish progression of key
Local Plan Strategic Sites. As we neari
the end of the fiscal year, it is
anticipated that the Council's eight-
year Housing Strategy will have
successfully overseen the completion
of 340 new Council homes and is on
track to add 115 more due to solid
planning and commitment.

Concurrently, the Council is persisting
in its diligent execution of existing
Local Plan strategies and policies,
engaging actively with developers to
promote and accelerate the
materialisation of development sites
and necessary infrastructure as
stipulated by the plan. Looking to the
future, with Cabinet assent anticipated
in February 2024, efforts will be
directed towards initiating a review of
the Local Plan to update development
criteria for areas outside the National
Park and to earmark new sites
fulfilling those revised requirements.
This includes a continued
collaboration with the New Forest
National Park Authority to ensure
appropriate development within the
National Park that aligns with its own
Local Plan directives.




DELIVERING FOROURCOMMUNITIES

Strategic Risk Register 2020 - 2024 ¢ 3anuary 2024

2. Achieving future financial resilience

Inherent Risk
Score

Likelihood 3
x Impact 3 =
High 9

GG

Current circumstance

The Council's Medium Term Financial Plan is
affected by numerous external economic
factors, such as the high bank base rate and
the current rate of inflation (cost of living).
These factors place significant pressure on
expenditure and impact the ability to generate
income, noting the longer-term implications of
recovering from economic challenges.

Other factors, more specific to the Council
include pay award, levelling up, the fair funding
review, the impact of a business rate reset and
increased salary costs resulting from a need to
align pay with the wider market.

The Council may also need to do more to
support communities due to the potential for
closure of local businesses and job losses as a
result of the cost of living crisis.

Given financial constrains affecting the Local
Government sector as a whole, Local Authority
Partners, may look to the District Council to
support their own respective financial
sustainability over the Medium term.

Risk Control

. Regular review of the Council’s MTFP including

reserve levels and future changes to funding.

. Annual budget setting for revenue and capital

including funding.

. Utilisation of external financial support that provides

support for funding modelling.

. Regular budget monitoring reports and updates to

senior officers and Members.

. Currently in the process of creating a Transformation

Strategy that contains ample measures to support the
successful implementation of the plan. This strategy
encompasses numerous actions that will aid effective
delivery of the transformation plan.

. Development of savings plans and invest to save

initiatives.

. Treasury Management Strategy to ensure the Council

is acting within the prudential indicators.

. Maintain appropriate level of financial reserves as

contingency arrangements to provide resilience over
the medium term.

Development of capital plans in accordance with
Capital Strategy with full financial appraisal and
revenue implications.

Working with County Council, Towns and Parishes to
maximise opportunities for joint working.

Residual Risk

Score

Likelihood 2
x Impact 3 =
Medium 6

A. Continue to keep abreast of

. Maintain momentum and presence

. Development of the Transformation

D. Keep up discussions with upper and

New Forest

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Action Required

developments in:

- pay award

- Fair Funding

- National Business Rate Policy

- Levelling Up

- County Deals
Progress update: MTFP updated
accordingly.

within the delivery of the Solent
Freeport.

Progress update: NFDC presence
maintained on board and committees.

Programme to deliver enhanced
services and financial efficiencies to
support the delivery of the Medium
Term Financial Plan.

Progress update: Implementation of
the transformation strategy to deliver
enhanced services and financial
efficiencies to support the delivery of
the Medium Term Financial Plan.

lower tier authority partners to ensure
effective and efficient service delivery
to residents.

Progress update: Respond as
appropriate to HCC budget
consultations and service reviews,
representing the needs of New Forest
residents, and continue the work to
ensure efficiency re delivery and
consistency with third party charging.




DELIVERING FOROURCOMMUNITIES

Strategic Risk Register 2020 - 2024 ¢ 3anuary 2024

3. Ensuring efficient and effective internal control, governance and

compliance

Inherent Risk

Score
Likelihood 3

x Impact 4 =
High 12

Current circumstance

As a local authority we need to show
appropriate compliance and controls:
- Financial Regulations
- Financial Management Code
- Payment Card Industry Data Security
Standard Accreditation
- Production and publication of various
statutory documents
- Effectiveness of the Capital Change and
Delivery Board
- Effectiveness of the new Project
Management Framework
- Timeliness of External Audit completion

We continue to follow best practise in terms of
documenting our Annual Code of Corporate
Governance review, and preparation of an
Annual Governance Statement, both with
actions plans.

Q)

Risk Control

Annual internal audit plan developed by senior
officers and members is targeted at key risks areas
and responsive to new areas of risk.
External/internal audit regime.

Annual Assurance Statements compiled testing
compliance with key business activities, supporting
Annual Governance Statement compilation.

Range of performance indicators that monitor
internal controls.

Maintenance of a range of policies that underpin the
control framework — Financial Regulations, Counter
Fraud Strategy, Risk Management Framework,

Contract Procedure Rules coupled with staff training.

Regular reporting at Audit Committee.
Compliance with Transparency Code.

. Compliance with Local Code of Corporate.

Governance.

Key compliance roles identified and assigned i.e.,
Section 151 Officer, Monitoring Officer, Data
Protection Officer, H&S, Facilities Lead etc.
Compliance with information governance including
the UK General Data Protection Regulation and Data
Protection Act 2018.

Review and update of Business Continuity Plans.
Housing and Facilities Compliance reported regularly
through EMT.

. Information Governance Team in place with regular

reporting through EMT.

. Financial Regulations and workflows built into core

financial system.

RESGLETENE 4
Score
Likelihood 2
x Impact 4 =
Medium 8

O

New Forest

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Action Required

A. Continue through information
governance work programme,
including updated document retention
and destruction schedules for all
services.

Progress update: The corporate
retention and destruction schedule has
now been completed and was approved
by EMT on 11 July 2023. Work
continues to review and improve all
areas of information governance
compliance.

B. Management to undertake actions
from the internal audit reports.

Progress update: Regular updates with
Chief Internal Auditor and outstanding
actions followed up on.

C. Ongoing engagement with external
audit.

Progress update: Ongoing through
regular meetings and liaison in-
between.

D. Continue to assess the effectiveness
of the new Project Management
framework for projects to ensure
appropriate Governance
arrangements are in place for all
projects.

Progress update: No further update
provided by risk owner.




DELIVERING FOROURCOMMUNITIES New ForeSt

Strategic Risk Register 2020 - 2024 ¢ January 2024 BISTRICT COUNCIL

E. Financial Management Code —
complete outstanding actions
identified through the initial
assessment.

Progress update: Mandatory financial
training was provided to all members
as part of the induction programme.
New performance framework will be
developed after finalisation of the new
corporate plan, this will take effect
during 2024.

F. Enhance member and officer
development by offering continuous
training, development and
engagement opportunities.

Progress update: Comprehensive
Member Induction and Training
Programme is nearing its initial
conclusion with resources retained on
the new Clirs area on Sharepoint for
refresher purposes. Equality, Diversity
and Inclusion training to be delivered
in early 2024 by the LGA. The LGA
Leadership and Councillor Hub
Resources continue to be regularly
promoted to Members and included in
Clir update emails, with the LGA
theming months for hot topics (such
as Personal Safety, Cyber Security).
A feedback and review process is
now underway to gather lessons
learned from the initial Member
Induction Programme to inform the
rolling programme and future
arrangements. All Member Briefings
continue to be utilised to engage
Members in corporate and cross-
cutting priorities ahead of decision
making meetings.




DELIVERINGFO-ROURC-OMMUNITIES. @
Strategic Risk Register 2020 - 2024 ¢ January 2024 N?Wﬁ%?ﬂ

G. Continue to ensure high levels of
statutory compliance standards across
services.

Progress update: Half-yearly update
on information governance and
Housing and Facilities compliance
reports presented to EMT during
October and November 2023
respectively.




DELIVERING FOROURCOMMUNITIES

Strategic Risk Register 2020 - 2024 ¢ 3anuary 2024
4. Creating the right culture, capacity and capability

New Forest

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Inherent Risk Current circumstance Risk Control RESGUETRNT Action Required
Score Score
[N'GEll{glefelsBeM The Council needs to attract, recruit and retain A. Employee Forum to encourage collaboration and Likelihood 2 . Embedding of new Council
x Impact 3 = the high calibre of employee that it requires to engender a culture that enables change and x Impact 3 = Leadership structure (including
High 9 fulfil its expectations in Service delivery. innovation. Medium 6 necessary backfill).
B. Learning and development programme to be Progress update: Focus on securing
The Leadership review has concluded and the developed and rolled out to provide training, tools the capacity within the wider
-- Council now has a settled top tier leadership and techniques to develop the necessary skills. leadership team in light of staff
- () structure. There is however a risk around the time| C. Regular 1-1's and annual PDI process _chalnges, arLd thefsﬁccleszf‘” .
|| | required to achieve organisationalcultural D. Investigation and identification of further - ;?pem”fn;";rggrtag I .
- change. collaborations that will support building capacity 360 degree appraisal and coaching.
and capability (and resilience) including both public Proaress learninas from emplovee
The pandemic demonstrated the Council's ability and corporate business. ' sur\g/’ey 9 Py
to adapt to changing circumstances swiftly and E. Staff Suggestion scheme. Progre-ss update: Working group
ensure prioritised operations continued. F. Transformation framework in progress. was set up and fi.ndings have been
Accordingly, it is crucial that we continue this G. Communications plan (internal) allowing for regular shared with all staff and posted on
momentur_n and uphold the positive experiences staff engagement/progress updates. Forestnet.
arr]\dnbenefl:/tls rtha\f r:av? ememrgefbf rotmkre;]c?nt H. Staff/union engagement. . HR developing plans to work with
g d?jr(g:ss;':m;i;oplg\;esues);n al:lil neeg:ti\?e 0 I. Project management/capability. third parties to deliver a consisfce_nt
experiences and challenges encountered in J. _Per_forman;e management and key performance and structured approach to training
service delivery, thereby ensuring a more efficient indicators in place. and development,
and satisfactory experience for all involved. K. Staff/officer wellbeing and support. '\P/lrogress update: NeVY] Leirmng
L. Development of Workforce Strategy and enabling pf)gi?: dmaer:g isgiherrrgnﬁj b;i;
There are still some actions to complete as a an agile workforce. implemented.
result of the staff survey completed during 2022. | M. Corporate plan 2020-2024. . Keep abreast of developments in
N. Hybrid working increasing potential pool of staff. pay award negotiations and be
O. More support and training on virtual ready to respond accordingly.
working/managing staff. Progress update: Pay awards for
P. Further ICT training to ensure maximum return on 2023 have now been agreed and
investment. have been implemented (including
back pay) in November.




DELIVERING FOROURCOMMUNITIES New ForeSt

Strategic Risk Register 2020 - 2024 ¢ January 2024 BISTRICT COUNCIL

E. Transformation plan being
formulated to include design
principles for a new operating
model, approach, implementation,
and necessary resources. A key
aspect of the design principles will
be our people strategy and
organisational development
opportunities. A Transformation
Strategy will be presented to the
new administration in 2023.

Progress update: A key theme of the
transformation strategy is how we
organise and develop our people and
culture, making sure roles, structures,
behaviours and skills evolve to meet
new service designs and needs. A
priority action will be the delivery of a
People Strategy during 2024.

F. Continue to identify further
opportunities that should be
progressed in connection with
improving service delivery.

Progress update: Implement
transformation strategy to identify
further opportunities that should be
progressed in connection with
improving service delivery.

G. Allocate resource to support
Corporate Plan ambitions.

Progress update: The update for this
is aligned with 1A.

H EE.“E"'HE te E.'IE Hhr-ParAeFShip
with-other publie SE.EEE.' PAFACrso
explore REW-aRe Ie;;_lsEmg .
Progress update: Risk owner has
requested for this to be deleted as
not specific.




DELIVERING FOROURCOMMUNITIES New ForeSt

Strategic Risk Register 2020 - 2024 ¢ January 2024 BISTRICT COUNCIL

5. Ensuring robust security measures to protect the Council’s digital data and

ICT assets from external threats

Inherent Risk Current circumstance Risk Control REGUETR N Action Required
Score Score
Likelihood 4 This risk relates to the Council’s ability to defend . Up to date Disaster Recovery plan is in place. Likelihood 3 A. Continued development of 0365

Y@l aC =l  itself against the constantly evolving threat from B. Awareness training of officers and staff on the x Impact 4 = services to improve email and anti-
High 16 cyber based attack. The Council, in common with threats of cyber attacks. High 12 virus protections.

other public bodies, should be regarded as a high-| ¢ continued reviewing and tightening of existing IT Progress update: Microsoft E5
profile target given the impact and publicity a Security Policy to ensure measures adapt to the licenses provide email protection
-. [ M} successful attack can have. changing threat, including awareness, using multiple threat protection .
- familiarisation and training. gO';CrfSAEtCi'_‘K/?;TV% :ljgt"SF;?:h'”g* Anti-
-- The current insurance market for public sector D. Acceptable use of IT policy to ensure staff are Atpta chments. Safe Links and a
cyber risks is volatile. using equipment safely and appropriately. global allow / block list. Data Loss
. E. Relationships with other agencies to ensure best

Prevention (DLP) policies are being
introduced in partnership between
ICT and Information Governance for
emails. Microsoft Defender
technology is in the process of being
tested for endpoint anti-virus
protection.

B. Carry out annual penetration test.
Progress update: ICT conducts an
annual IT health check, which
encompasses a complete
penetration test. Any vulnerabilities
discovered are ranked and
addressed according to a plan based
on their criticality. The most recent
assessment occurred from 29/08/23
to 08/09/23, during which all critical
and high vulnerabilities were either
remedied or mitigated to lower
associated risks.

practice is established.

newforest.gov.uk ) newforestdc @) newforestgov



DELIVERING FOROURCOMMUNITIES New ForeSt

Strategic Risk Register 2020 - 2024 ¢ January 2024 BISTRICT COUNCIL

C. Ongoing refresher training on cyber
risks for all staff.

Progress update: Our ICT security
elearning training platform, uSecure
periodically sends out security
training to all users. This content is
updated on a regular basis to ensure
its current and contains new and
existing threats/risks. A quarterly
phishing campaign is also run to
highlight the continued risk of these
types of attacks. The Security Team
monitors course participation
regularly.

D. To look at service provisions
externally that can assist with cyber
risks.

Progress update: A Cyber Incident
Response service has been put in
place support the organisation in the
event of any cyber breach. This
service also includes proactive
support where our partner conducts
weekly vulnerability scans on all our
internet exposed

services. Highlighted vulnerabilities
are resolved or mitigated. Other
services include joining groups such
as SEGWARP which is a forum that
includes local government security
teams where security intelligence is
shared.




DELIVERING FOROURCOMMUNITIES New ForeSt

Strategic Risk Register 2020 - 2024 ¢ January 2024 BISTRICT COUNCIL

6. Ability to be agile and shift focus in response to policy and national

political change

Inherent Risk Current circumstance Risk Control Residual Risk Action Required
Score Score

N'Gllglelols e The significance of the current cost of living crisis . Continuous monitoring of political landscape to Likelihood 2 . Making sure the workforce is
x Impact 4 = and inflation, coupled with the need to repay the allow for early indicators of policy change. x Impact 4 = aware that training is available.
High 12 COVID bill may impact on government priorities and|  B. Prudent financial and strategy assumptions to Medium 8 Progress update: The new LMS

planning. allow for agile responses. will make this easier for staff and
e C. Corporate Plan 2020-2023 reviewed and updated managers to track. N
Changes in national politics and the required general where appropriate as changes identified that B. Ensuring professional training
] [ Il election (by Jan 2025), as well as a new NFDC could impact on the Council and its plans i.e., availability as this impacts
|| ]| administration with an altered political balance all Covid-19. O departments e.g., Planning and
have the potential to have an impact. D. Section 151 Officer role providing advice to the Legal
Council on current/ future financial challenges. Progress update: Managers will
Other legislation that will affect the council include: | E. Reports to committee include explicit assessment be better equipped to track this
- Levelling up white paper of implications and therefore should with the n.ew LMS.
- The environment bill identify/reflect current and future challenges. C. Encouraging staff to undertake
- Future planning reform F. The Executive should conduct horizon scanning to ggf\f/?;‘:_'?;:!cg;\t’fal?nﬁ?;nt and

proactively anticipate and identify potential
challenges and opportunities in order to influence
outcomes through consultation. .
. - reset to allow consistency across

G. Membership of Local Government Association etc all departments across the
providing information/insights to the Council. Council to ensure equal

H. Members’ roles and responsibilities including opportunity to all staff.
involvement in local networks, County Council,
other agencies and national forums, enabling
insight to be gained and shared with the Council.

I. Staff membership of professional bodies enabling
own development and also providing for insights
through membership of challenges that may
present themselves to the Council.

J. Officer/member forums and networks.

K. Review of Coastal Strategy and Actions. Climate
Change Action Plan.

- Changes the regulatory landscape to
housing

Progress update: Training
budgets for 2024/25 have been

here is a possibility of experiencing a shift in the
political landscape leading up to the general election.




DELIVERING FOROURCOMMUNITIES

Strategic Risk Register 2020 - 2024 ¢ 3anuary 2024

New Forest

DISTRICT COUNCIL

D.

Prepare and implement the
national changes arising out of
the new Social Housing Charter,
which represents the biggest
change in social housing for 40
years. Work has been ongoing
for the last 2 years to prepare
and implement the necessary
changes including reporting to
EMT, Housing & Homelessness
Overview & Scrutiny Panel and
Cabinet.

Progress update: The Charter
has informed the new Social
Housing Regulation Act which
places new Legal responsibilities
on the Council. Significant work
has taken place to recruit staff to
key areas such as Tenant
Engagement and ASB
Management. A new Tenant
Engagement Strategy is due for
approval by Cabinet in April
2024, and work to engage with
tenants has already delivered a
new digital engagement platform.
Performance monitoring against
the new regulatory regime's 22
Tenant Satisfaction Measures is
well underway with a 6 month
progress report presented to
EMT in October 2023. Other
work is ongoing to prepare for
the forthcoming consumer
standards and positive
improvements to
neighbourhoods.




DELIVERING FOROURCOMMUNITIES

Strategic Risk Register 2020 - 2024 ¢ 3anuary 2024

7. Delivering Council Services through adverse environmental conditions

New Forest

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Inherent Risk Current circumstance Risk Control Residual Risk Score Action Required
Score
Likelihood 2 | The following may affect the delivery of Council . Business Continuity framework and individual Likelihood 2 Annual programme of
X Impact 4 = | Services from a national and local perspective: service continuity plans. x Impact 3 = Emergency Planning training to
Medium 8 - Natural disasters / local power outages . Threat response plans which will include ICT Medium 6 be established. Robust training

G0<Z

- Workforce Strike Action
- Global Pandemic

Infrastructure response, alternative
accommodation provisions and reallocation of
staff.

continues to be arranged and
carried out for officers involved
in emergency planning. Work

- Terrorism : : : ;
Riot/Rebellion . Emergency Planning Strategy and defined roles continues in ensuring business
- ot/rebellio assigned continuity plans are in place,
- Floodin : i i i i
Maio gO" tions of surface waters and . Communication with NFDC residents on all including for interruptions due
) jor pollut u water platforms e.g., social media. to energy outages. N
groundwaters Progress update: Training
- Adverse Weather matrix in place for officers with
- Fire emergency planning roles.

- Nuclear Powered Vessels related to pollution

- Coastal Erosion
- Industrial Strikes

The Council has appointed a dedicated resource to

lead on Emergency Planning and Business
Continuity.

Training courses and exercises
undertaken and further planned
for near future. Plans ae in
place with services for energy
outages.

Review and challenge of
functional Service Continuity
Plan and conclude Business
Continuity Planning.

Progress update: Action plan
highlighting requirements to
review these plans going to
EMT in December 2023
Regular reporting to EMT on
progress against Emergency
Planning and Business
Continuity action plan.
Progress update: EMT report in
June and Dec 2023 with
circulated email update on Oct
23




DELIVERING FOROURCOMMUNITIES
O : .New Forest

Strategic Risk Register 2020 - 2024 ¢ 3anuary 2024 5ISTRICT COUNCIL

Continuity to increase capacity
for service to manage this risk.
Progress update: To be
reviewed.

E. Set up links to Town and Parish
councils as they would be
involved in implementing
actions through adverse
conditions.

Progress update: Links set up
via a Community Forum.
Awaiting report findings and
LRF approach following
discussion with Verdatus in
August 2023

newforest.gov.uk () newforestdc ) newforestgov



DELIVERING FOROURCOMMUNITIES

New Forest

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Strategic Risk Register 2020 - 2024 ¢ 3anuary 2024

8. Responding to the Climate and Nature Emergency

Inherent Risk Current circumstance

Score

NFDC declared a Climate Change and Nature
Emergency in 2021 in response to global
temperature rise and the associated impacts on
natural and built environments. Declaring an
emergency demonstrates NFDC's commitment to the
legally binding target set by Central Government for
the UK to reach net zero carbon by 2050, however
progress in achieving the agreed targets is
significantly off track at national and global levels.

As a result of climate change, the New Forest area is
expected to experience:

e  Hot drier summers and warmer winters

e More frequent and extreme heatwaves,
droughts flooding and coastal erosion

Failing to reduce emissions, improve environmental
quality and adequately adapt to climate change will
have impacts for NFDC residents, tenants,
businesses, visitors, and the economy.

Responding at a pace and scale comparable to the
declared emergency will ensure that the
environmental, social, financial and reputational
risks to NFDC are minimised, and any opportunities
arising from the changing climate are maximised.

National and local actions are key to achieving
environmental goals, which include grid
decarbonisation, policy planning, and enabling a
green economy. However, funding these initiatives is
challenging and could affect residents' costs of
living.

Risk Control Residual Risk

Score

Deliver organisational and area-wide actions to
reduce emissions, adapt to climate change and
safeguard the natural environment, as outlined
in the Climate Change and Nature Emergency
Action Plan.

Deliver, monitor and report on four key
programmes of work: carbon reduction, climate
adaptation, nature recovery and programme
management.

Governance and oversight from Climate and
Nature Steering Group and Environment
Overview and Scrutiny Panel.

Climate Change and Nature Emergency Annual
Report to inspire behaviour change,
demonstrate corporate leadership and ensure
transparency, accountability, and governance -
detailing action to date, progress against
targets and future actions.

Service risk assessments and business
continuity plans to be developed.

Consideration of climate change and
sustainability issues in the early stages of all
activities, including projects, plans, strategies,
and procurements.

Prioritisation of climate change and
sustainability in the Corporate Plan, Local Plan
and other key strategies.

Ensuring adequate resources for climate and
sustainability efforts including third party
financial support.

Action Required

Successful delivery of projects
within the organisational and
area-wide Climate Change and
Nature Emergency Action Plan.
Progress update: Delivery of
projects is on track. Action Plan
will be reviewed for 2024/25.
Climate and Sustainability to be
identified as key priorities in
the new Corporate Plan, Local
Plan and other key strategies
e.g., Greener Housing Strategy
Progress update: New
Corporate plan is in process of
being drafted with climate and
sustainability embedded within
it.

Development of policy
framework to ensure business
as usual activities of NFDC
services contribute positively to
climate and sustainability
objectives.

Progress update: Policy
development is underway.
Creation of a 5-year strategy
and action plan with aligned
resources and targets.
Progress update: The Climate
Change and Nature
Emergency Strategy will cover
the period 2024-2028 to align
with the new Corporate Plan.
Resources requirements and
targets will be aligned to the
resulting action plans.




DELIVERING FOROURCOMMUNITIES
o : .New Forest

Strategic Risk Register 2020 - 2024 ¢ January 2024 5ISTRICT COUNCIL

Inclusion of climate change
risks in service level risk
assessments and business
continuity plans.

Progress update: Ongoing
process and review.

F. Training for officers and
members, particularly O&S
panel members, on climate
change, nature and
sustainability issues.

Progress update: Initial training
for officers and members took
place in 2023. Further training
is scheduled for early 2024.

G. Aligning level of resourcing to
meet emerging corporate
priorities.

Progress update: To be
determined alongside adoption
of new corporate plan.




	Agenda
	4 Updated Corporate Plan 2024-2028
	Appendix 1 - Corporate plan

	5 Allocation of Community Infrastructure Levy  (CIL) to local infrastructure projects
	6 Supplementary Planning Document: Planning for Climate Change
	Annex 1 - Consultation summary
	Annex 2 - Climate Change SPD

	7 Solent Freeport: Securing a legacy for the New Forest
	8 Strategic Risk Register
	Appendix 1 - Strategic Risk Register


